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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the
following meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“AGM”

“Articles of

Association”

“associate(s)”

“Audit Committee”
“Board”
113 BVI”

“Canggang BVI”

“Canggang
Company”

“Canggang HK”

“Canggang
Railway Line”

“Chengyu
Company”

“CG Code”

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 22 June 2022

the amended and restated articles of
association of the Company adopted on 16
June 2020 and as amended, supplemented
and otherwise modified from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

the audit committee of the Company
the board of directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

Canggang Railway International Company
Limited (REBEKEEKRERAT), a limited
liability company incorporated under the laws
of the BVI on 29 October 2018 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

Cangzhou Canggang Railway Co., Ltd.* (&
MEBEEAR D T) (previously known as
Huanghua Jinghai Logistics Co., Ltd. (EEx
BYIRAMRAT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 22
October 2009 and a wholly-owned subsidiary

of our Company

Canggang Railway (Hong Kong) Limited (878
IR (EB)ER D), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 5 December
2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

a local freight railway line in Cangzhou,
Hebei Province, which connects Cangzhou
and Bohai New Area which contains Port
Huanghua, from Cangzhou Station (&4Nik) to
Gangkou Station (7 O 3f)

Chengyu Railway Co., Ltd.* (AMHEEFH
BAERSELT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
22 November 2004 which is 97.5% indirectly
owned by Mr. Liu Yongliang and 2.5% owned
by Mr. Yi. Weiming

corporate governance code contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
BERLkAR

“China” or “PRC”

"Controlling

Shareholder(s)"

“Company”

“Deed of Non-
competition”

“Director(s)”

“Greenport BVI”

” o«

“Group”, “our

GI’OUp”, “We”

or “us”

“HK$” and “HK
cents”

“Hong Kong”

“Jinghai BVI”

06

Canggang Railway Limited e

the People’s Republic of China excluding
for the purposes of this annual report only,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China and
Taiwan

has the meaning ascribed to it under
the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the controlling
shareholders of the Company, namely Jinghai
BVI and Mr. Liu Yongliang

Canggang Railway Limited (CRB#HEERA
F]) (stock code: 2169), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 19 October 2018

a deed of non-competition dated 16 June,
2020 and entered into by the Controlling
Shareholders in favor of the Company
(for itself and as trustee for each of its
subsidiaries from time to time) regarding the
non-competition undertaking

the director(s) of the Company

Greenport Railway Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 2 October 2018 and wholly owned by
Mr. Yi Weiming

the Company and its subsidiaries from time
to time, or where the context so requires in
respect of the period before the Company
became the holding company of our present
subsidiaries, the entities which carried on the
business of the present Group at the relevant
time

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the
lawful currency of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC

Jinghai Group Investment Limited (RiE%&
EREBRDF), a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on
12 October 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Liu
Yongliang

Annual Report 2021
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“Jinghai
International”

“Listing”

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”

"Nomination
Committee"

“Prospectus”

“Puji Global”

“Puji HK”

“Reporting Period”

"Remuneration
Committee"

“RMB”

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

Hebei Jinghai International Logistics
Development Co., Ltd.* (At ZBEMRYIR
BRAEMRAT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
20 July 2017 which is owned as to 51% by
our Company and 49% by Tianjin Xinlian
International Shipping Agency Co., Ltd.* (kK
REBHEREENREBMRATE), an Independent
Third Party

the Shares were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange

23 October 2020, since which the Shares of
the Company have been listed on the Stock
Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

the stock exchange (excluding the option
market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in
parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

the model code for securities transactions
by directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

the nomination committee of the Company

the prospectus of the Company dated 12
October 2020

Puji Global Limited (BBARERBRAT), a
limited liability company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI on 18 October 2018 which
is wholly-owned by the Company

sz

Puji Railway Global Holdings Limited (&
EEEIRKIZERERAE), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on 28
December 2018 which is wholly-owned by Puiji
Global

the year ended 31 December 2021

the remuneration committee of the Company

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
BERAR

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

“subsidiary(ies)”

“TCFD”

“WFOE”

u%u

08 Canggang Railway Limited ¢

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company

the shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed to it in sections 15
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures

A guidance for companies to disclose the
information on the financial implications of
climate-related risks and opportunities so that
these issues could be integrated into business
and investment decisions

Cangzhou Railway Logistics Services
Company Limited* (MEEMNRERAT), a
limited liability company established under he
laws of the PRC on 14 February 2019 which is
wholly owned by Canggang HK

per cent

Annual Report 2021
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Liu Yongliang
Blk =
Chairman

*E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

2021 is the first year in which the Group embarked on a new
journey after its successful listing on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange in 2020. Throughout the year, the management team
of the Company strived to uphold the guidance of Xi Jinping
Thought on Socialism with Chinese Characteristics for a New Era
(“BEIHFERDEZEHEEETEEM”). The Company adheres to
the market-oriented and innovation-driven concepts in its active
market development, and ensures stringent safety management
and taps the potential synergies in-depth. In addition to expediting
development, the Company has also fulfilled social responsibility
and promoted its corporate culture. This year, the Company’s cargo
volume once again set a historical high and achieved satisfactory
operating results.

In 2021, consumption in the PRC market continued to be affected
by the COVID-19 outbreak and the government’s environmental
protection policy, with enterprises under-operated and the
Company’s iron ore fines transportation volumes declining.
Our management team has been actively adjusting its business
approach, working closely with upstream and downstream
enterprises and developing new business segments to ensure stable
growth in transportation volume.

In addition to maintaining the stability of the Company’s coal rail
freight transportation volume, we actively explored the railway
transportation business for non-coal cargoes, among which the rail
freight transportation volume of semi-coke has grown significantly,
with rail freight transportation of 1.72 million tonnes of semi-coke
completed during the year ended 31 December 2021, representing
a year-on-year increase of 1.1 million tonnes or 162%. Quality
services are provided to our customers in order to capture and
further increase our market share.
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We continue to execute our strategic plan and working closely
with our stakeholders to enhance our transportation services
in Cangzhou. We stick to the Announcement on Adjusting
Transportation Structure in Three Years (BI#%Bzift 2ABERIRENZEH
EERAEAR=F{TETE/2018-2020/9B ) issued by the State
Council, for the purpose of protecting the environment, to increase
the volume of bulk cargo transported by rail freight and by sea. Our
unique position in rail transportation is more important under such

policy.

We continue to capitalize on different opportunities in the market
and managed to achieve admirable result. Our management team'’s
extensive experience and deep knowledge in the transportation
and logistics industry has helped us identify and secure business
opportunities in the rail freight transportation market and is essential
to the sustainable development of our business.

Please refer to the “Business Review” section of this annual report
for the details of the Group’s performance and market initiatives in
2021.

Rail freight transportation as our core business has recorded
a decent performance during the Reporting Period. We have
completed transportation of 17.7 million tonnes of cargo for the year
ended 31 December 2021 comparing to 16.9 million tonnes of cargo
for the year ended 31 December 2020 with an increase of 4.4% or
0.7 million tonnes.

During the course of 2021, all employees of the Company worked
together to achieve the Company’s business objectives and
responded effectively to various risk and challenges. In September
and October 2021, the tight coal supply in China led to electricity
rationing in southern regions. In view of this, the Company stepped
up efforts to maintain its customer relationships by helping clients
to coordinate coal suppliers and opening green railway channels,
which successfully satisfied customers’ demand of coal in
November and December 2021 and secured the coal transportation
needs of power plants and other customers throughout the year, as
well as maintained the stability of the Company’s coal rail freight
transportation volume. For the year ended 31 December 2021, we
completed rail freight transportation of 8.7 million tonnes of coal,
representing a year-on-year increase of 6% or 0.5 million tonnes.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, we completed rail freight
transportation of 1.7 million tonnes of ore fines, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 38.9% or 1.1 million tonnes, primarily
due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in Shijiazhuang under which one
of our customers suspended its operation during the year. The
Company continued to expand its eastbound non-coal rail freight
transportation market to increase rail freight transportation volume
of oil products, semi-coke, coke, building materials and chemical
materials. For the year ended 31 December 2021, we completed
rail freight transportation of 7.3 million tonnes of oil products, semi-
coke, coke, building materials and chemical materials, representing
a year-on-year increase of 22% or 1.3 million tonnes, offsetting the
year-on-year decrease of rail freight transportation volume of ore
fines.

10 Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total revenue of the
Company decreased by 1.5% from RMB361.5 million for 2020
to RMB356.0 million. Our revenue from rail freight transportation
service remained relatively stable at RMB260.3 million as compared
to RMB260.6 million for 2020; and revenue from ancillary services
decreased by 5.1%, which was primarily due to the outbreak
of COVID-19 in Shijiazhuang under which one of our customers
suspended its operation during the year. The Group’s net profit
amounted to RMB77.8 million, representing an increase of 20.5% as
compared to the year ended 31 December 2020. Such increase was
mainly due to the management policy which effectively streamlined
our operating expenses as well as the decrease in listing expenses.

As a token of the Group’s gratitude for the support of our
Shareholders, the Board recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK3.8 cents (equivalent to approximately RMB3.0
cents) per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
Subject to the approval of the Shareholders in the AGM, the final
dividend will be payable on or around Thursday, 18 August 2022 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Monday, 27 June 2022.

We will keep our promise during the global offering of the Shares
to strengthen our market position by construction of additional
branch lines and new Special Service Lines connecting directly
to the factories and premises; and improving our technology for
more efficiency and safety transportation. | believe our business
strategies will unswervingly lead the Company to ride out the haze
of the outbreak. At the same time, | have great confidence that our
people will maintain their professionalism to perform our services to
keep our Company moving forward.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincerest appreciation
to the management team and all fellow colleagues for their
extraordinary commitment and cohesive teamwork. They are one of
our most valuable assets contributing to our success.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my deepest gratitude to all of our Shareholders, customers
and other valued stakeholders for their unwavering support. We are
fully committed to upholding our position in Cangzhou as one of the
top enterprise and striving for excellence and creating value for our
stakeholders.

Liu Yongliang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

The Group is an established and expanding local railway operator
based in Hebei Province. With our Canggang Railway Line, we
continue to provide our customers with comprehensive services
and one-stop solutions of our freight transportation, extended our
leading position in rail freight transportation business and continued
to maintain our leading market position in Hebei Province. We are
preparing to further expand our railway to enhance our services to
our existing customers and to seek potential customers.

2021 was a challenging year for our Group. Following the outbreak
of COVID-19 in 2020, the pandemic remained to exert material
impacts on China’s economy throughout 2021, under which
consumption and operation continued to be adversely affected.

The year of 2021 marked the beginning of a new journey of building
a modernized socialist China and the launch of the 14th Five-
Year Plan. It was also a crucial year for the Group to start a new
journey after its Listing and stride forward towards its objectives.
Throughout the year, the Company scientifically coordinated the
prevention and control of the pandemic as well as transportation
and production safety. Guided by the market and propelled by
innovation, the Company strictly aligned itself with its missions and
objectives set at the beginning of the year, by which it overcame
various unfavorable factors, such as the COVID-19 outbreak and the
tight market supply of coal, actively expanded its market, strictly
monitored production safety, optimized its management system,
tapped into potential and raised efficiency, scientifically deployed
its development, as well as cultivated and promoted its corporate
culture. The amount of freight transportation handled reached a new
height and the economic efficiency and management standard of
the Company has achieved a new leap.

During the course of 2021, all employees of the Company worked
together to achieve the Company’s business objectives and
responded effectively to various risk and challenges. In September
and October 2021, the tight coal supply in China led to electricity
rationing in southern regions. In view of this, the Company stepped
up efforts to maintain its customer relationships by helping clients
to coordinate coal suppliers and opening green railway channels,
which successfully satisfied customers’ demand of coal in
November and December 2021 and secured the coal transportation
needs of power plants and other customers throughout the year, as
well as maintained the stability of the Company’s coal rail freight
transportation volume. For the year ended 31 December 2021, we
completed rail freight transportation of 8.7 million tonnes of coal,
representing a year-on-year increase of 6% or 0.5 million tonnes.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, we completed rail freight
transportation of 1.7 million tonnes of ore fines, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 38.9% or 1.1 million tonnes, primarily
due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in Shijiazhuang under which one
of our customers suspended its operation during the year. The
Company continued to expand its eastbound non-coal rail freight
transportation market to increase rail freight transportation volume
of oil products, semi-coke, coke, building materials and chemical
materials. For the year ended 31 December 2021, we completed
rail freight transportation of 7.3 million tonnes of oil products, semi-
coke, coke, building materials and chemical materials, representing
a year-on-year increase of 22% or 1.3 million tonnes, offsetting the
year-on-year decrease of rail freight transportation volume of ore
fines. Rail freight transportation as our core business has recorded
a decent performance during the Reporting Period. We have
completed transportation of 17.7 million tonnes of cargo for the year
ended 31 December 2021 comparing to 16.9 million tonnes of cargo
for the year ended 31 December 2020 with an increase of 4.4% or
0.7 million tonnes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors are of the view that the hygiene measures adopted
by our Group can effectively prevent and control the COVID-19
infections, and safeguard the occupational health and safety of
our employees. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, during
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, none of our
employees had been infected with COVID-19.

The Directors considered that, like any other disaster, the outbreak
is likely to be temporary and when it is over, the economy in China
will return to normal as the general course. The Directors will
continue to closely monitor the effect of the outbreak and evaluate
the impact to our business.

As at 31 December 2021, we operated one local railway, the
Canggang Railway Line. One of our business strategies is to
construct additional branch lines to expand our business scale,
including expanding our geographic presence and business to the
Northern Shandong Industrial Park and Comprehensive Industrial
Park in Bohai New Area. However in the midst of the continuous
impacts caused by COVID-19, the Directors expected to begin the
construction of the new branch line connecting the Comprehensive
Industrial Park in Bohai New Area in the second half of 2022. We
expect to finance our capital expenditure through the proceeds from
the global offering of the Company, cash generated from operations
and banking facilities.

We are also in the process of upgrading and renovating the relevant

infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line to enhance the safety
and increase the overall capacity of our railway operation.

Revenue
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Year ended 31 December
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2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB in thousands, other than percentages
ARBFIT » BSHBEI
Rail freight transportation HEEE 260,250 73.1% 260,585 72.1%
Ancillary services B Bh AR 7%
Loading and unloading S 58,512 16.4% 59,814 16.5%
Road freight transportation BEREE 15,833 4.5% 30,305 8.4%
Construction, maintenance and
repair FRERES 14,207 4.0% 5,358 1.5%
Others Hit 7,188 2.0% 5,412 1.5%
Subtotal INEF 95,740 26.9% 100,889 27.9%
Total Bt 355,990 100.0% 361,474 100.0%

Our revenue decreased by 1.5% or RMB5.5 million from RMB361.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB356.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to the decrease
in revenue from ancillary businesses of RMB5.1 million.

EANKZEBEERZ2020F12831BLEEEMA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

Our revenue from rail freight transportation remained relatively
stable at RMB260.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 and RMB260.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. Among which, revenue from rail freight transportation of
ore fines decreased by 40.5% or RMB9.7 million, such decrease
was offset by an increase of RMB10.2 million in revenue from our
transportation of other products such as semi-coke.

Our revenue from ancillary businesses decreased from RMB100.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB95.7 million
for the Reporting Period. Such decrease was mainly related to the
decrease in revenue from road freight transportation of RMB14.5
million primarily due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in Shijiazhuang
under which one of our customers suspended its operation
during the year, and was offset by the increase in revenue from
construction, maintenance and repair of RMB8.8 million primarily
due to the construction of roadbed of a special railway line which
was completed for a customer during the Reporting Period.
Revenue from other ancillary services increased by 32.8% or
RMB1.8 million. The increase was primarily due to an increase in the
provision of warehousing services.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses include staff costs, outsourcing service
charges and other labor costs, cargo logistics, depreciation,
fuel used, repair and maintenance, general and administration
expenses, impairment loss on trade receivables and other expenses.
The operating expenses decreased by 3.4% or RMB8.5 million
from RMB247.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
to RMB239.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
decrease was primarily due to a decrease in listing expenses
of RMB14.0 million and a reversal of impairment loss on trade
receivables of RMB1.5 million during the Reporting Period,
compared to the impairment loss on trade receivables of RMB3.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (as stated in the
following paragraph), and offset by an increase in staff costs
of RMB8.1 million as a result of the withdrawal of favourable
government policy during the COVID-19 outbreak and an increase in
fuel costs of RMB1.2 million which was mainly due to the increase in
fuel prices and rail freight transportation volume.

Due to the disruption to the PRC economy caused by the COVID-19
outbreak, as to improve our liquidity, we seek to maintain strict
control over outstanding receivables and our senior management
regularly reviews overdue balance to reduce our credit risk. As
a result of our efforts, the recovery of our trade receivables was
improved as compared to the previous year and hence we have
reversed the impairment loss on trade receivables of RMB1.5 million
during the Reporting Period, compared to the impairment loss on
trade receivables of RMB3.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other income

Our other income increased by 257.9%, or RMB8.2 million from
RMB3.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB11.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to the
government grants received in relation to the global offering of the
Company.

Segment result and segment margin

For our rail freight transportation, the segment result was RMB132.4
million and RMB122.2 million and the segment margin was 50.8%
and 46.9%, for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,
respectively. The decrease in segment margin was primarily due to
the increase in staff costs as the government withdrew the special
supportive policies in relation to the COVID-19 outbreak and also
the increase in fuel costs which was mainly due to the increase in
fuel prices and rail freight transportation volume.

For our ancillary businesses, the segment result was RMB10.5
million and RMB6.0 million and the segment margin was 10.4%
and 6.3%, for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,
respectively. The decrease in segment margin was primarily due to
the sharp decline in road freight transportation business during the
year.

Finance costs

Our finance costs decreased by 10.7%, or RMB2.7 million from
RMB26.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB23.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to an
decrease in our average monthly loan balance and the lowered
interest rates on our bank loans.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense remained relatively stable at RMB25.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 and RMB27.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021. Our effective tax rate
decreased from 28.1% for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
25.8% for the year ended 31 December 2021 primarily because
more non-deductible listing expenses were incurred during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Profit for the year and net profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year increased by
20.5% or RMB13.2 million from RMB64.6 million for year ended
31 December 2020 to RMB77.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. Our net profit margin increased from 17.9% for
the year ended 31 December 2020 to 21.8% for the year ended 31
December 2021. The increase in our profit for the year and net profit
margin for 2021 as compared to 2020 was mainly due to the listing
expenses incurred in 2020, which were no longer recorded in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB26.5 million (2020: net current assets of
approximately RMB130.0 million). The Group continued to maintain
a strong financial position. During the Reporting Period, our cash
and cash equivalent dropped by RMB66.3 million to RMB160.8
million as at 31 December 2021 from RMB227.1 million as at
31 December 2020, which was mainly due to 1) our investment
in upgrading and renovating the relevant infrastructure of our
Canggang Railway Line in accordance with our expansion plan
as stated in the Prospectus to enhance the safety and increase
the overall capacity of railway operation; and 2) loan repayment.
With our steady cash generated from operations and the banking
facilities available to the Group, we have adequate financial
resources to meet our working capital needs as well as to fund our
budgeted construction and upgrade plans in 2022 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2021, our interest-bearing borrowings amounted
to RMB373.6 million, of which RMB213.1 million was long-term
borrowing. We had unutilized and unrestricted banking facilities of
RMB62.5 million, none of which were guaranteed or secured by our
related parties.

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total debt
(being bank and other loans) by total equity as at the end date
of the respective year and multiplying the result by 100%, was
approximately 46.4% as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 59.2%).
The decrease was mainly attributed to the decrease in the closing
balance of bank and other loans as well as the increase in the total
equity.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2021, certain of our property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of approximately RMB7.9
million (2020: RMB8.3 million), were pledged for our bank loans.
Also, our property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
approximately RMB109.0 million (2020: RMB138.3 million) were
pledged for our other loans.

As at 31 December 2021, a certain portion of our right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of approximately RMB117.5 million (2020:
RMB119.3 million) were pledged for our bank loans, and our right-
of-use assets with carrying amount of approximately RMB7.0 million
(2020: RMB7.1 million) were pledged for our other loans.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

Funding and Treasury Policy

The Group maintains an optimal financial position and minimises
its financial risks in all the business decisions. The Group regularly
reviews the cash position to ensure there are sufficient funds to
support its business operations and future investments as and when
needed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in RMB. It is expected that the Group
will not be subjected to any material adverse effects arising
from exchange rate fluctuation except a few listing compliance
transactions as well as the settlement of dividend and demand
deposits in Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have
any foreign currency hedging policies. Nevertheless, the Group will
continue to monitor foreign exchange risk exposure and will take
appropriate action when needed.

Capital Expenditure

During the Reporting Period, we have invested RMB42.0 million for
our capital expenditure which were mainly related to upgrading and
renovating the relevant infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line.
We financed our capital expenditure through the proceed from the
global offering of the Company, cash generated from operations and
banking facilities.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, our outstanding capital commitments
in respect of property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB7.2 million (2020: RMB7.7 million). Save as
disclosed in this report, we did not have any other material capital
commitment.

Save as disclosed in this report and the Prospectus, there were
no significant investments held by the Group during the Reporting
Period, nor was there any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture during the Reporting
Period. Save as disclosed in this report and the Prospectus, there
was no other plan for significant investments or additions of capital
assets as at 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 778 employees (2020: 787
employees) (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors).

The Group offers attractive remuneration package to the employees
as the Directors believe the consistency and quality of our staffs
is the key to success. In order to retain our staffs and motivate
them for better performance, the remuneration package, including
basic salary and other employee benefits such as bonus, are
reviewed annually according to their individual performance. We
are also committed to provide a caring environment to retain our
staffs and for better performance. We provided sufficient trainings
and persuaded our staffs to attend other courses to maintain their
professionalism and qualifications.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yongliang (217k %), aged 55

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Liu, the founder of our Group, was appointed as a Director
on 19 October 2018 and designated as an executive Director on
20 September 2019. He was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board on 25 September 2019 and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 23 October 2020. Mr. Liu is currently
the director of each of our Company’s subsidiaries (except Jinghai
International), namely, Canggang BVI, Puji Global, Canggang
HK, Puji HK, Canggang Company and WFOE. He has been the
chairman of the board of directors of Canggang Company since
October 2009 and he is responsible for overall management and
strategic development of our Group. Mr. Liu has more than 13
years of experience in transportation services. Prior to founding our
Group in 2009, Mr. Liu also invested in various industries including
coal trading, industrial property investment and storage and
transportation.

Mr. Liu graduated from Naval Engineering University, Tianjin
Campus* (BEIRKEBRERE) (formerly known as People’s
Liberation Army Navy, Logistics College* (TEIARBHESRE
#%EEPR)) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1991 where he completed
his tertiary education in financial management. He obtained his
bachelor’s degree in economic management from the Open College
of Central Communist Party School* (FHAREREZZER) in
Beijing, the PRC in December 1995. He graduated from Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences* (FEI*t&HRIZ%) in Beijing, the PRC
in October 1999 where he completed his postgraduate education
in finance. Mr. Liu attended the Post Executive Master of Business
Administration courses at Peking University in Beijing, the PRC from
April 2012 to January 2014.

Mr. Yi Weiming (X # 8), aged 57

Executive Director and chief executive officer

Mr. Yi was appointed as an executive Director, chief executive
officer and chief financial officer of our Company on 20 September
2019, 25 September 2019 and 18 October 2021, respectively. Mr. Yi
has more than 11 years of experience in transportation services
and 9 years of experience in investment management. He has been
a director and a general manager of Canggang Company since
October 2009 and he is responsible for the overall operation and
management of our Group.

Mr. Yi obtained his bachelor degree in science and economics from
Nankai University (@B KE8) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1987. Mr. Yi
also obtained his master’s degree and doctoral degree in economics
from Nankai University (B3 AKE) in Tianjin, the PRC in June 1990
and June 1995, respectively.

Mr. Yi served at Department of International Economics at Nankai
University (R8BI KZ) from September 1990 to June 1998 and was
appointed as the deputy professor in 1996, primarily teaching
courses such as international economics and responsible for
relevant academic research. He was then engaged in the financial
industry between June 1998 and November 2007 where he was
primarily engaged in business of investment management in the
PRC.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhihua (&% %) (with former name as Xu Zhihua (& & %)),
aged 70

Mr. Xu was appointed as a non-executive Director of our Company
on 20 September 2019 and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 23 October 2020. Mr. Xu has more
than 12 years of experience in railway transportation and logistics
services. Mr. Xu has been an executive director of Chengyu
Company since November 2007. He is responsible for providing
opinion and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Xu graduated from Jilin University (ZF#MX£8) in Jilin Province,
the PRC with a junior college degree in political science in October
1988. Mr. Xu was awarded as the ‘“‘Labor Model of the Logistics
Industry in China (ZEI¥)RITH% ENEE)” by Human Resources
and Social Security Department (A NERMEERESEL) and China
Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (FEIYIRERBHESE) in
December 2011.

Mr. Qin Shaobo (=4 14), aged 39

Mr. Qin was appointed as a non-executive Director of our
Company on 20 September 2019. Mr. Qin has more than 7 years of
experience in investment management. Mr. Qin has been a director
of Canggang Company since May 2016. He is responsible for
providing opinion and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Qin graduated from China University of Political Science and
Law* (FEIBUEKRE) in Beijing, the PRC with a master’s degree
in law in June 2007. Mr. Qin obtained his legal professional
qualification certificate* (EEHZEE K FEFE) issued by China Ministry
of Justice of the PRC in February 2009.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Changchun (2R %) (“Mr. CC Liu”), aged 63

Mr. CC Liu was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company on 20 September 2019 and the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from
23 October 2020. Mr. CC Liu has more than 21 years experiences
in energy industry. He is responsible for overseeing management
independently and providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. CC Liu graduated from the Harbin Normal University* (%45
SEEMSIRE) in Heilongjiang Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s
degree in Chinese language and literature education in December
1999 (through long distance learning). Mr. CC Liu completed
a postgraduate course in corporate management from Capital
University of Economics and Business (B ##& % & 5 K£) in Beijing,
the PRC in November 2002. Mr. CC Liu received the certificate of
senior economist in February 2004 from the General Equipment
Department of the People’s Liberation Army (FEIARBHEARE
KHEED).
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Mr. Zhao Changsong (i K #2), aged 56

Mr. Zhao was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 20 September 2019. Mr. Zhao has more than
29 years experiences in legal services and he is responsible for
overseeing management independently and providing independent
advice to our Board.

Mr. Zhao graduated from Hebei University* (At KE) in Hebei
Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in July 1986.
Mr. Zhao completed his master’s course in economic management
from Hebei Party School of China Communist Party* (FR&SAdt&
ZER) in Hebei Province, the PRC in December 2001. Mr. Zhao
obtained his lawyer qualification certificate (ZETEHKEZE) from
Hebei Provincial Department of Justice ((AIdt & T];%E8) in April 19809.

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (2 5%), aged 47

Ms. Lyu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 20 September 2019 and the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 23 October 2020. Ms. Lyu has more than 25 years
experiences in accounting and auditing. She is responsible for
overseeing management independently and providing independent
advice to our Board.

Ms. Lyu graduated from the Hebei Economic and Trade College*
(At &ZE Zz) in Hebei Province, the PRC where she completed
a tertiary course in finance and accounting in July 1994. Ms. Lyu
obtained the accounting qualification (intermediate level) (FHRE
51) from the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 2002 and the
certificate of Certified Public Accountant from Hebei Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 2009.
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Mr. Li Juncheng (£ 2£) (with former name as Li Shuhai (Z1
F)), aged 40

Mr. Li was appointed as our joint company secretary on 25
September 2019.

Mr. Li joined the Group in December 2014 as the deputy director
of the finance department of Canggang Company. He was then
promoted as the director of equity investment department in July
2019. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li was employed by Chengyu
Company from February 2008 to December 2014, and last occupied
the position of deputy head of the finance department. Mr. Li
graduated from Hebei University (it X&) in Hebei Province, the
PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in June 2007.

Mr. Li Juncheng (Z£ £) (with former name as Li Shuhai (Z%1/5))
Mr. Li is joint company secretary. Please refer to “Board of Directors
and Senior Management — Senior Management” for his biographical
details.

Ms. Lam Wing Chi (#fZ2)
Ms. Lam was appointed as our joint company secretary on 18
October 2021.

Ms. Lam is currently a senior manager of Corporate Services
Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services
provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor
services. Ms. Lam has over 8 years of experience in the corporate
secretarial field and has been providing professional corporate
services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational,
private and offshore companies. Ms. Lam is a Chartered Secretary,
a Chartered Governance Professional and an associate of both The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
Governance Institute.
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Since the Listing of our Shares on the Stock Exchange on 23
October 2020, the Company has been committed to maintaining
high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that
good corporate governance is the basis in ensuring the proper
management in the interest of all our stakeholders. Improvement
of the corporate governance is a long and systematic project,
which requires strong commitment and perseverance. As it always
has, the Company will continuously improve the risk assessment
and monitoring procedures, internal control policy, enhancing our
transparency and disclosures quality to our shareholders to promote
the sustainable and robust development of the Company in light
of evolving business and regulatory environment and to meet the
expectations of stakeholders.

This report possess the corporate governance best practices that
the Company has adopted and highlights how the Company has
applied the principles of the code provisions set out in the CG Code
to the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions under the CG Code (version up to 31
December 2021) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made to all the
Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in Model Code during the
Reporting Period.
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Overall Management

Our Board is responsible for and has general power over the
management and conduct of our business. The powers and duties
of our Board are conferred by our Articles of Association. The Board
has delegated the day-to-day management and operations of the
Company’s business to the management, and focuses its attention
on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic policies,
corporate governance, finances and shareholders. These include
review of the annual financial budgets, financial statements and
the significant changes in accounting policy, corporate governance
functions, dividend policy, risk management and internal control
systems and draw up strategies for future growth and major
investments.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities as set out in the
respective terms of reference to the three Board committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Composition of the Board

A list of directors and their roles and functions is available on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Board currently consists of seven Directors with the following
composition:

INEDs, 3
BT
Ex 3%

Executive Directors (“ED”)
Mr. Liu Yongliang

(Chairmen of the Board and Nomination Committee)
Mr. Yi Weiming (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors (“NED”)
Mr. Xu Zhihua
Mr. Qin Shaobo

Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)

Mr. Liu Changchun (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhao Changsong

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (Chairwoman of Audit Committee)
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The Board currently has seven members, made up of three INEDs,
two NEDs and two EDs. As shown in the above chart, the number of
INEDs currently comprises more than one-third of the Board, which
is above the Listing Rules 3.10A requirement. During the Reporting
Period, the Board has met at all times the requirements under rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the chapter headed “Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report. None of the Board members have financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other Board members. In addition, none of the Board member holds
seven (or more) directorships in listed companies (including the
Company) or holds any cross directorships during the Reporting
Period.

There is a diverse business and professional backgrounds for the
Board, whose members actively bring their experience for promoting
the best interest of the Company and its Shareholders. The INEDs
also ensure the Board considered the interest of the Shareholder
in considering the business objective of the Company and a high
standard of regulatory reporting. During the Reporting Period, the
Board at all time has met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs and one of whom
possess of appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The composition
of the Board emphasis the decisions reached are balance and
independent.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has received
a written confirmation from each of the INEDs to confirm his/
her independence in light of the requirements under the Listing
Rule. The Nomination Committee reviewed the confirmations and
assessed the independence of the INEDs and considered each of
them to be independent.

Board meetings

The Company plans four Board meetings at approximately quarterly
intervals to discuss the Company’s operations. Additional meetings
will be arranged if and when required. Each Board member ensures
that he/she can give sufficient time and attention to the Company’s
development and contribute to the Company’s strategies and
financial performance through constructive comments.

The Joint Company Secretaries (as defined below) ensure the
procedures for holding the Board meetings are complied with all
applicable rules and regulations and they keep the Board minutes
for Directors’ inspection with unrestricted access rights, and have
the liberty to seek external professional advice upon reasonable
request.
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The attendance record of the Members of the Board at meetings
The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings,
Board committee meetings and general meetings held during the
Reporting Period are set out below:

ESERENTHRLF TR
ESRBEHAMBTESSER  ESEZX
EEEERBRRASNHETHAINNT ¢

Attendance/Number of meetings

e/ eERH
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee meeting
Ezgss ENZES yMzEe REZEE L
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Liu Yongliang YxREE 4/4 - - 11 2/2
Mr. Yi Weiming RAEREE 4/4 - - - 22
Non-executive Directors FUTEE
Mr. Xu Zhihua BEERE 4/4 212 11 1/ 2/2
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBEE 4/4 - - - 22
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTEES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARERE 4/4 2/2 11 11 2/2
Mr. Zhao Changsong BROLEE 4/4 - - - 2/2
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERL 4/4 2/2 11 - 2/2
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FEHETHRAR

The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer are distinct and separate.

Mr. Liu Yongliang is the Chairman of the Board who is responsible
for chairing and managing the operations of the Board, ensuring
adequate information is provided to the Board on a timely basis,
encouraging members of the Board to make effective contribution
in the Board meetings, monitoring the performance of the chief
executive officer and establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures.

Mr. Yi Weiming is the chief executive officer of our Company
who is responsible for the overall administrative and operational
management of the Company, implementation of annual business
plans, investment proposal of the Company and responsible for
performing a bridging function between the Board and the senior
management.
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The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy provides that
the Company should endeavor to ensure that the Board members
have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that are required to support the execution of the
Company’s business strategy. Pursuant to the Board Diversity
Policy, selection of candidates for Directors will be based in a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to professional
experience, gender, age, culture, independence, educational
background, knowledge, expertise and length of service. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and
the contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board believes that such merit-based appointments
will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.

The Board will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity
at all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and the senior management levels. While the gender diversity
at the Board level can be improved given the majority of the
Directors are male, the Board will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole. The Board would also ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to investors’
expectation, and international and local recommended best
practices.

GENDER
ezl

DESIGNATION

H Male W Female W INED W NED
Fit i BUIERITES FEHITES
m ED
HTES

TERERME

ARSESENERME  FLACKRAESES
ZREBRR(ESESTEEK])  EFH
JIBRREFESSSTILNBERR AL - &
EESZRNLHEREA DAL ARNERES
EREMBEB LT IFAIT AL B EB R T
ENRERE  ERES T CBREREEEY
H-RBESSZNHER ARARTWEE
ERBEANSZEZHEZTLERZ  BEEF
PRNFRER 15 - Fie ~ b~ B
BEES HAE RERREFE ZENK
RREBBREBFFIZEREANBHERERES
SEHNEMMEL - ESERE - UHAK
THEAZFESEREBFNRACREES
BR K H A5 4D & IR -

EFEREERDERUEERARRAERER
(BEETRIRESERSRERRE) EHM
AZai BEARASHESHRBUEMS
ExeaMBZAt I EARRE  BEEM
TOESENAEERIAAEINEZEER
B ARNSZEBEZTLBE -EFTSTH
BRBEBREENHEUARBEBR RS ERR
TERBRMNZ TN EEFHE -

AGE GROUP
FieAa R

B Below 50 W 50-54
50BRA T 50-545%
B 55-59 W 60-64
55-595% 60-647%
65 or above
655 IA L

REBHBERAT o 2021FEFEH 27



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRE

The Board reviews the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis
to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Board believes that the
current composition of the Board is in line with the Board Diversity
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy is appropriate.

Our Nomination Committee will: (1) report annually, in the corporate
governance report contained in our annual report, on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy; and (2) review our
Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure effectiveness of
the policy and discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing
and supervising our financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group, overseeing the audit process, risk
management process and external audit functions. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely, Ms. Lyu Qinghua,
Mr. Xu Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu. The chairwoman of the Audit
Committee is Ms. Lyu Qinghua. None of the Audit Committee
members are employed by or otherwise affiliated with the auditor of
the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee completed the following:

Internal Audit and Governance
—  Approved revisions to the Group Internal Audit Charter

—  Approved the internal audit plan for 2020 to 2022

— Reviewed the efficient and effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and its internal audit
functions

External Auditor and Financial Reporting
— Reviewed and approved KPMG's fee proposal for the annual
audit

- Reviewed the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31
December 2020 and interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2021.

- Reviewed changes in accounting principles and practices
proposed by management

- Reviewed, with both the external auditor and management, the
audit approach and methodology applied, in particular to the
Key Audit Matters, for 2021 annual audit

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the annual results of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Audit
Committee was satisfied with KPMG’s work, its independence, and
its objectivity, and therefore recommended the re-appointment of
KPMG (which has indicated its willingness to continue in office) as
the Company’s external auditor for 2022 for Shareholders’ approval
at the AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things,
making recommendations to the Board on our Company’s policy
and structure concerning the remuneration of our Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy, reviewing
and approving performance based remuneration by reference to
their duties and responsibilities, performance, corporate goals and
objectives, to determine the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each executive Director and senior management and
to ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely
Ms. Lyu Qinghua, Mr. CC Liu and Mr. Xu Zhihua. The chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Mr. CC Liu.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 1
meeting. During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the remuneration packages of the EDs, NEDs and INEDs with
reference to their responsibilities, workload and performance of the
Company.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Company (other
than Directors) during the Reporting Period, by band is set out
below:

FNEE

Remuneration Band
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FMEES
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AR BEBELL BIRBEAERKEERL
2 -FHEEETFRIARELRE

REEHR FHESSBETIRERZ R
SRHE FMEESC2ZTHTES  FH
TESRBIFATEBADE LHRAE
B IHFERKE BHRSNFHEGSE -

BEMARRASREEEREE B2 89BN
}HWT -

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to RMB1,000,000 ZFz AE#1,000,0007T

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee include, among other things, reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and our Board
Diversity Policy and making recommendations to our Board on the
appointment of members of the Board. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely, Mr. Liu Yongliang, Mr. Xu
Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu. The chairman of the Nomination Committee
is Mr. Liu Yongliang.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1
meeting. During the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of the INEDs and has also conducted an annual
review of the current structure, size, skillset and composition of
the Board and considered remaining the same composition is
appropriate in light of the Company’s strategy.
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The Nomination Committee concluded the Board currently
possesses of a balanced skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives and is appropriate for continuing to support the
execution of the Company’s business strategies in an efficient and
effective manner.

The Nomination Policy document the procedures and practices
approved by the Board applicable to both new appointments and
re-appointment in accordance with the Articles of Association. The
Board has delegated the authority to the Nomination Committee to
identify and assess potential candidates who are eligible to become
a member of the Board. To identify the suitable candidates, the
Nomination Committee will consider the Company’s strategy; the
structure, size, composition and needs of the Board; the required
skills, qualification and experience of the candidates; and the
independence of the candidate who is proposed to be the INED
of the Board. The Nomination Committee is vested with discretion
to take into account such other factors that it may consider
appropriate.

In relation to the appointments of the Directors, the Nomination
Committee will first identify the biographical information and other
information of the candidate. The Nomination Committee will review
the information obtained from the candidate and seek clarification.
Then, the Nomination Committee, at its discretion, invite the
candidate to meet with the Nomination Committee members for the
proposed nomination. The Nomination Committee will submit the
nomination proposal to the Board for consideration and further to
the shareholders for approval.

For the re-appointment of the members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will review the profile of the members
who have offered themselves for re-election to ensure their
suitability every year. Then, the Nomination Committee will make
recommendation to the Board for consideration and the Board will,
at its discretion, make recommendations to the Shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will conduct the review on the member
of the Board on a regular basis, at least annually, to ensure the
Board possess a combination of expertise and diversity for the
business of the Company.

Mr. Li Juncheng, a full-time employee of the Company, and Ms. Lam
Wing Chi, a senior manager of Tricor Services Limited, an external
service provider, have been appointed as the joint company
secretaries of the Company (“Joint Company Secretaries”) to handle
compliance and company secretarial works of the Company. The
role of Joint Company Secretaries includes:

- providing advice to the Board members;
- ensuring the Board procedures are followed;
— advising the Board on all corporate governance matters; and

- recommending and arranging the Board members to attend
relevant seminars and courses.
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The Joint Company Secretaries assisted the Company to cope
with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different
commercial needs. All Directors have access to the advice from the
Joint Company Secretaries on corporate governance and Board
practices and matters.

Mr. Li has been designated as the primary contact person at the
Company which would work and communicate with Ms. Lam on the
Company’s corporate governance and secretarial matters.

During the Reporting Period, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Lam had
undertaken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company engages KPMG as its external auditor. There’s
no non-audit services engaged with KPMG. In order to maintain
KPMG's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the Audit
Committee, reviewed and discussed with KPMG on their scope and
nature of the audit and reporting.

For maintaining integrity and objectivity as the external auditor
of the Company, KPMG implements policies and procedures
that are consistent with the requirements of the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants and other applicable rules. These
requirements place limits on the number of years that partners in
certain roles may provide audit services to the Group, followed by
a “time-out” period during which these partners may not participate
in that audit or in any way influence the outcome of the audit, lead
or coordinate other professional services delivered to the client,
oversee the relationship of the firm with the client, or have other
significant or frequent interaction with senior management of those
charge with governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration paid
or payable to KPMG in respect of audit services amounted to
approximately RMBO0.86 million or RMB1.36 million. There was no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the
selection and appointment of the external auditor during the year
under review.
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The rail freight and road freight transportation businesses are
inherently dangerous and there are accidents which may result
in fatalities and other serious bodily harm to our employees and
others. To uphold our reputation of being one of the best company
locally and in order to help ensure that the Company is responsible
to the crises in an organised and effective manner, the Company
has established the security department to manage the crisis. The
security department comprises of the senior management and
is closely monitored by the CEO. The operation of the security
department is also aided by the Company’s information system to
keep track of the latest crisis situation, issues and strategic actions.
The duties of the security department include the followings:

(i) organize various safety activities and regular training sessions
to enhance safety awareness and relevant work skills of our
staff;

(i) strictly forbid staff who have not passed safety training and
assessment to work on our freight transportation;

(iiiy arrange inspection of our freight transportation monthly to allow
each department to report any potential/existing deficiencies
during the operation of our business;

(iv) perform inspection of freight vehicles and facilities monthly to
identify and eliminate any defects which may result in safety
issues;

(v) arrange the freight transportation of flammable, explosive or
otherwise hazardous materials according to specified policies;

(vi) perform key inspection of dangerous goods and properly
document all such inspections; and

(vii) closely monitor flammable goods.

In order to manage the impacts on our businesses arising from the
crisis, the Company will set up a safety production committee to
take overall responsibility for safety production management, with
placing the safety of our staff and the public as the top priority. In
response to the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19)
in January 2020, the security department was activated to manage
its potential impacts on the Company’s operations.

According to the CG Code, all the Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development to update and refresh their
knowledge and skill to ensure their contribution to the Board
keep abreast of current trends and issues facing the Company.
Upon appointment to the Board, every Directors has received
a comprehensive induction training to ensure appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and operations as well as
their role and responsibilities.
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To assist the Board members in continuing their professional
development, the Joint Company Secretaries recommend them to
attend relevant seminars and courses at the cost of the Company.
The Joint Company Secretaries also developed a comprehensive
and tailored training programme for the senior executive. The
programme consists of a series of seminars which are organised on
an on-going basis.

Each of the Directors has provided to the Company a record of
the training he/she has received during the Reporting Period. The
records are maintained by the Joint Company Secretaries for
annual review by the Nomination Committee and the Board. The
table below summarises the participation of each of the Directors in
continuous professional development during the Reporting Period:

TRERRE
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ERBHARREE BEAAMETIERAEHR
TBRAEHEZERSHEMKROEIEE
BRETAEE -RIFEERNTNE -
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Reading Legal
and Regulatory
Updates and
Other Reference

Materials

Attending BIESRHFZEER

training session ERUREA

Name of Directors EE=E HEZIRE 2E&EH
Mr. Liu Yongliang B k= EE v 4
Mr. Yi Weiming AR EE v "4
Mr. Xu Zhihua HMEERE v v
Mr. Qin Shaobo EOEEE v v
Mr. Liu Changchun AREFRE v v/
Mr. Zhao Changsong HERMAEE v v
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERZL v v

The Company adopts a dividend policy to reward the Shareholders.
In determining the dividend, the Company reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a strong capital environment for
business operation at the same time considering the returns of
Shareholder. The Board shall take into account the followings in
considering the dividend amount:

expected capital requirements;

—  expected profit level;

—  projected operating cash flows;

—  projected capital expenditures and investment projects; and

—  future business prospect and other financial conditions.

AR CEHRMBREBRUCERR - REER
B ARRERNREBEEEREBUER
ZTEEAREREECH RIEEZEEERR
R-BEEENZERESHESTRUTE
=

- FEHEAEXR;

- FEHEBRKE;

- FEAKERERE

BHEAHXRIRERE R

- AREBISREMP BRI

RBEEERAT e 2021FFH 33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRE

The Directors recognize the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. The Company will comply with CG
Code and the associated Listing Rules.

The Board conducts the corporate governance function annually.
Below is a summary of works during the Reporting Period:

e developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Company;

e reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code from
time to time adopted by the Company and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report to be contained in the Company’s
annual report.

The Board considers the Company’s corporate governance
functions are adequate and appropriate for the Company’s current
business strategy. The Board will continue to review the changes of
legal and regulatory environment and the business environment.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and
made reasonable judgements, estimates and assumptions based
on historical experiences and various other factors, consistently
with previous financial periods, as disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true
and fair view. The responsibilities of the independent auditor of the
Company are set out on pages 99 to 104 of this annual report.

In supporting above, the finance division prepared the consolidated
financial statements for clearing with the external auditor and then
the Audit Committee. Before adoption of any new accounting
policy and accounting standards by the Board, the possible impact
of amendments will be discussed and approved at the Audit
Committee.
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The Company has developed a policy to handle and dissemination
of inside information, which includes:

(i) the internal process for identifying and assessing inside
information to the Board;

(i) the senior management has to preserve the confidentiality
of inside information. They need to report to the Board
for any potential threat and bring down the message and
responsibilities to all employees; and

(iii) the process for disclosure of inside information.

The Company will publish any inside information as soon as
practicable. If the Board believes that the Company cannot
maintain the confidentiality, the Board would immediately
disclose the information. The Board is committed to ensure all the
announcements are not false nor misleading. The Board considers
the Company’s policy and measures are effective and appropriate to
provide assurance on the obligations over the inside information.

The Board believe that by communicating the Company’s business
strategies and future outlook to investors in a clear and transparent
manner proactively could help to enhances the Shareholders’
value. As such, the Company promotes a business culture that
respect the Shareholders and accountable to them. The Board
focuses to maintain a smooth and transparent communication
with shareholders to facilitate their understanding of the Group’s
performance and strategies.

The Company uses the annual general meeting as the principal
channels of communication with its Shareholders. It provides an
opportunity for Shareholders to listen to the Directors about the
Company’s performance and operations directly. It has been the
practice for the chief executive officer, the Chairman of the Board
and the external auditor of the Company to attend annual general
meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The AGM has been
scheduled on 22 June 2022 and the Company is committed to
make notice and available meeting facilities, not less than 21 days
before the date of AGM, to enable all eligible attendees to be able to
participate in the AGM.

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. During the Reporting Period, the policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

Our Company website (http://www.czcgtl.com) provide investors
up-to-date and details information about the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information for the public access.
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Shareholders to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holdings not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting in the general
meetings, at the date of deposit of the requisition, shall have the
right to convene an extraordinary general meeting by sending a
written requisition to the Board or the Joint Company Secretaries
to the principal place of business in Hong Kong. The request must
state the reason and the details of the business to be transacted in
the meeting. When the requisition is found to be proper, the Joint
Company Secretaries or the Board will call the meeting within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders shall mail a written inquiry to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (Address: Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong) stating that the
recipient to the Joint Company Secretaries.

Procedures for shareholders putting forward proposals
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meetings may achieve so by means of convening an extraordinary
general meeting following the procedures as set out in the
paragraph above.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

Pursuant to the Article of Association, if a Shareholder wishes to
propose a person for election as a Director at an annual general
meeting, he/she should pass a written notice of the nomination to
the Joint Company Secretaries at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong within seven days period commencing the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting. The Shareholder must
pass a written notice of his/her nomination and a notice signed by
the nominated candidate with his/her willingness to be appointed
as a Director to the Joint Company Secretaries. The notice should
include the candidate’s information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a letter of consent to
public his/her personal’s information.

Upon the Joint Company Secretaries received a valid nomination,
they will prepare a supplemental circular with the information
about the nominated candidate to the Shareholders as soon as
practicable. The Nomination Committee will assess whether the
nominated candidate is competence and consider the composition
and needs of the Board, please refer to section headed “Nomination
Policy” in this Corporate Governance Report.

Voting by poll

The Company proposed separate resolutions for each substantially
separate issue in the general meeting. All the separate resolutions
will be voted by poll except the Chairman, in good faith, decides
to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The
Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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The Board is responsible to maintain an effective and efficient
internal control system and risk management system and setting
appropriate policies in order to safeguard the Company’s assets
and the Shareholders’ interest. The internal control system and risk
management system are designed to manage (rather than eliminate)
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide
reasonable assurance, but not absolute assurance, against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company has established an Internal Audit Department (“IAD”)
which provides independent, objective assurance and consulting
services designed to add value and improve the Company’s
operations. The IAD establish a risk-based audit plan to priorities
the internal audit activity to ensure the high risks business activities
are reviewed. The Company also engaged an independent internal
control adviser (the “Internal Control Consultant”) to perform the
review of the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems. The Internal Control Consultant worked closely with the
IAD to perform independent and objective assessments to provide
assurance that governance, risk management and internal control
(“GRC”) structure and key control procedures are designed properly
and are operating effectively. The Internal Control Consultant
also identify and offer recommendations for GRC structures and
processes; and the IAD is responsible to establish procedures that
ensure the management response to the recommendations.
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The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:

In compliance with the requirement of CG Code, the Company has
established relevant risk management and internal control systems,
covering corporate governance and system, business and financial
processes. The systems served as a reasonable guarantee of the
legal compliance of the operation and management of the Company,
its asset security and truthfulness and completeness of its financial
reports and relevant information and increased the operational
efficiency and performance of the Company, which provided strong
guarantee for the implementation of the Company’s development
strategies.

In order to further regulate the internal control management of
the Company and effectively prevent internal risks, an internal
management and control system was established according to
the relevant regulatory requirements of the Stock Exchange and
the actual management situation of the Company. The internal
control system of the Company regulates the internal management
procedure of the Company by controlling aspects, namely
organisational structure, fund management, financial reporting,
procuring business, outsourcing business, sales business,
research and development management, project management,
contract management, information system, human resources,
budget management, financing management, equity investment
management and fixed assets management. It identifies the
risks in the internal management of the Company and provides
relevant control measures to prevent the risks. The Company
performs annual reviews on these systems in order to monitor its
operational situation in a timely manner, and revises or abolishes
some regulations in accordance with relevant national laws and
regulations and actual conditions of the Company.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security. Self-evaluation has
been conducted annually to ensure that control policies are properly
complied with by each department.
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The Company has set up departments dedicated to daily
examination and supervision of internal control, and designated
internal control examination and supervision personnel according
to the relevant requirements and conditions of the Company to
inspect and monitor the regular test on internal control procedures
of all functional departments of the Company and all subsidiaries.
The Company mainly reviews the compliance of internal control
procedures that have higher risk, such as setting up of project,
tendering, project budget review and procurement to ensure
the compliance of business activities. The Company makes
improvement recommendations in respect of audit’s findings and
requests the relevant management of the Company to confirm
the rectification plan, methods and the timing. The Company
regularly follows up the status of the implementation of the audit
recommendations to ensure the execution of such improvement
plans. At the same time, the Company reviews and assesses the
truthfulness, accuracy, compliance and effectiveness of the project
financial activities of the Company and information of financial
expenses as well as the Company’s funds, management and usage
of assets, and strictly monitors the annual budget and expenditure.

The management of the Company provides enough resources for
the accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions,
hires financial personnel with sufficient qualifications and provides
various financial control and project risk control training to the
staff. The management, in coordination with all department heads,
assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence and provides response
plans, and monitors the risk management procedures, and reports
to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the system. Internal legal and audit department
is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of
risk management and internal control system independently,
investigates key matters related to accounting practice and all
significant control issues, and reports its finding and suggestions for
improvement to the Audit Committee.

On the basis of its established internal control system, the Company
regularly reviewed and sorted out the overall operation of the
internal control system in accordance with the Basic Standard for
Enterprise Internal Control and supporting guidelines, its Internal
Control Management Handbook and relevant rules, and compiled
the Internal Control System Evaluation Report. The Company
identified and sorted out risks and deficiencies during the operation
of the internal control system in a timely manner through ways
such as individual interviews, system reviews, data inspections,
and walk-through tests and put forward corresponding rectification
suggestions. It formulated the Internal Control System Evaluation
Results and Rectification Plan, and followed up and supervised
related divisions’ rectifications.
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The Audit Committee bears the primary responsibility for
governance and serves as the focal point for all governance
activities. The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Company on an on-going
basis and considers the adequacy of resources, competence of
staff of the Company’s finance division, as well as their continuous
development. The Audit Committee approves the internal audit plan
and the internal audit charter to direct in setting strategic objectives,
establishing risk appetite and effective control systems. The Audit
Committee also reviews the works and the results prepared by the
IAD and the Internal Control Consultant.

According to the report from the Internal Control Consultant,
the Company’s key control procedures over GRC structure are
adequacy and effective. The Board is satisfied that the internal
control and risk management systems are in place and effective.

During the Reporting Period, there is no amendments to the
memorandum of association and the articles of association of the
Company. An up-to-date version of the memorandum of association
and articles of association of the Company are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Management Statement

The year 2021 marked the launch of the 14th Five-Year Plan and the
first year since the listing of the Company. This year, the Company
integrated the concept of social responsibility into its corporate
culture, strategic policy and daily operations. The Company
actively commits itself to the mission of creating a better life for its
employees, achieving both material and spiritual rewards for our
shareholders, employees and society, and creating sustainable and
integrated value for all stakeholders.

The Company strives to address environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) issues as we recognize that each of us and our
future generations may be exposed to the outcomes of these issues.
Therefore, as an influential listed company, it is the responsibility
of the Board to assess and identify the Group’s ESG-related risks
and to ensure the implementation of appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal control system. Sound ESG measures
do create value for the Group’s development. The Company places
the sustainability of its business at the forefront of its long-term
development objectives, incorporating climate-related issues and
ESG elements into the long-term planning of its business strategy.

With the general market trend, ESG matters are becoming more
relevant to corporate development and involve different emerging
issues. The Board of the Group recognizes the necessity for
thorough considerations in corporate development and for greater
regulatory responsibilities to be assumed by the Board regarding
ESG matters. The Group has now established an ESG Working
Group (“ESG Working Group”) to coordinate ESG governance
efforts.

In addition, members of our ESG Working Group communicate
closely with the Board and share with the Board from time to time
examples of ESG management from peers for reference, and keep
abreast of market trends on ESG matters to help enhance the
Board’s understanding and knowledge on the matters. Members of
the ESG Working Group will continue to participate in ESG training
seminars and professional development on sustainability to keep the
Group up to date on ESG matters.

The Board is now considering improvement measures to enhance
its existing ESG management structure so as to evaluate and
manage ESG matters in a more effective and specific manner. The
Board looks forward to leading our ESG Working Group to develop
internal ESG management guidelines, strategies and objectives
based on the working group’s analysis and recommendations, and
to further examine and enhance the reporting framework. Currently,
the Board maintains active discussion on how to further integrate
ESG and topical market trends, including climate-related risks
and opportunities, into our key governance processes in order to
enhance the Board’s effectiveness in overseeing ESG matters. The
Board of the Group is committed to more actively reviewing and
considering how to devote adequate resources to the Group’s ESG
development.
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As a responsible corporate, the Group endeavors to uphold ethical
standards and continues to introduce and implement sustainable
innovations in our operations. We maintain an integrated approach
to managing the environmental impacts of our construction activities
and have appropriate environmental policies in place to achieve
sustainable operations.

The Group values its workforce. As an employer, we are committed
to protecting the health and safety of all our employees. We
implemented comprehensive safety policies and measures to
safeguard their well-being. We strive to realize the full potential of
our employees with their development to support our growth and
lead the Group forward.

In 2022, the Company will further establish a sound sustainability
system, assess ESG-related risks and opportunities, and coordinate
the promotion of our sustainability management. At the same time,
the Company will continue to uphold the culture of “compliance,
integrity, professionalism and stability”, with its development driven
by capital, mechanism, manpower, risk control and technology. We
will also continue to expand our influence in the field of sustainable
development, actively respond to the goal of “achieving carbon
neutrality in China by 2060”, realize both material and spiritual
returns for our shareholders, employees and society, and contribute
to the development of a regulated, transparent, open, dynamic and
resilient capital market.
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This is the second ESG Report of Canggang Railway Limited (the
“Company”, “Canggang Company”, the “Group”, “our Group”, “we
or “us”). Based on the principles of openness and transparency,
Canggang Company reports to all stakeholders on the Group’s
ESG performance in 2021 (“Reporting Period”) in a comprehensive
and objective manner. For corporate governance, please refer to
the chapter headed “Corporate Governance Report” of the annual

report.

The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility to ensure
the integrity and truthfulness of the report and confirmed that
to the best of its knowledge, this report addresses all material
topics related to our Group and fairly presents the Group’s ESG
performance and environmental impacts. The Board has reviewed
and approved this report.

(1) Reporting Standard

This report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
the actual situation of Canggang Company. Data is analyzed
and presented such that a year-on-year comparison could
facilitate readers’ review. During the preparation for this ESG
Report, our Group applied the reporting principles as stipulated
in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

e  “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was conducted
to identify material issues, thereby adopting the confirmed
material issues as the focus for the preparation of the
ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board and various departments. Please
refer to the section headed “ldentification of Material
Topics” for further details.

e  “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
quantitative data disclosed in the ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and sources of conversion
factors used during the calculation of emissions and
energy consumption.

e “Consistency” — The preparation approach of this ESG
Report was substantially consistent with the previous
year, and explanations were provided regarding data
with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation
methodologies.

This report is available in both Chinese and English, and
has been published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website (www.czcgtl.com).
In case of any discrepancy between the two versions, the
English version shall prevail.
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Reporting Period and Boundary

The Reporting Period is the fiscal year from 1 January to
31 December 2021. Unless otherwise specified, this report
covers operations of the local railway operator based in Hebei
Province.

Sustainability Management

Sustainability is the goal of our Group. Combining the concept
of sustainability and the Group’s development strategy, we
manage and supervise sustainability-related matters through
multi-department collaboration.

Sustainability Management Structure

The Board has the ultimate responsibility of overseeing
and setting out ESG management approach and strategy
for our Group with the assistance of various departments.
The sustainability-related matters of Canggang Company
are handled by functional departments, including business
operations, logistics support, the office, the vehicle
management team, etc. The performance of each department
is reported to the Board on a regular basis, and the Board
continuously monitors sustainability-related information, such
as energy consumption. The functional departments also
review Canggang Company’s ESG performance through key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) from various ESG aspects to
review progress made against ESG-related goals and targets.
By conducting regular materiality assessments, they assist
the Board to evaluate, prioritize and manage material ESG-
related issues. In the future, we will continue to improve the
sustainability management structure of the Group.
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Identification of Material Topics

In order to understand the concerns of various stakeholders of
our Group and identify material topics that have a significant
impact on its operations, our Group has complied with the
“ESG Reporting Guide” of the Stock Exchange to conduct
an online survey to identify material topics through four
steps, namely “identification, prioritization, verification and
review”. The five material topics are “Environment Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction”, “Transportation
Safety”, “Human Capital”, “Supply Chain Management” and
“Community Investment”. During the Reporting Period, after
review, these five material topics were found closely linked with
the Group’s operations.
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¢ Review
Reviewed possible
improvements in the materiality
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The management of the Group
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the assessment results of material
topics, and they will be disclosed in
this report.
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We actively responded to the concerns of stakeholders,
disclosed the Group’s performance and impact on material
topics in detail, and took corresponding measures to further
improve the sustainability management during the Reporting
Period.

Contact information

Every opinion from our stakeholders matters to us and we
would like to hear from you if you have any enquiries about
this report. Please contact us via mail at our principal place
of business in Hong Kong: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Board oversight of ESG

In 2021, we have adhered to our long-term development mission
by establishing the ESG Working Group under the Board to fully
incorporate ESG factors into our governance structure and
investments.
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Under the authority of the Board, the ESG Working Group
is responsible for formulating the Company’s ESG, climate
change and responsible investment policies, strategies and
objectives; supervising the Company’s performance and
effectiveness in implementing measures regarding ESG, climate
change and responsible investment; identifying and evaluating
material topics of ESG and climate change and their priority
that are relevant to our operations and/or our stakeholders; and
reporting to the Board on relevant matters. The ESG Working
Group is also tasked with reviewing our ESG report and
providing suggestions to the Board. The Board is responsible
for overseeing the ESG Working Group’s tasks and reporting,
as well as reviewing and approving the ESG report.

Canggang Company aims to improve its effectiveness in
identifying and responding to ESG issues through the ESG
Working Group and would look forward to consolidating the
mechanism through more board engagement in the future. The
Board has reviewed significant ESG issues and will manage
and monitor these issues, taking them into account when
establishing the Company's business direction and strategy.
For the identified ESG risks, the ESG Working Group would
evaluate their importance to Canggang Company’s business
from the following perspectives:

—  Global financial risks

— Natural disasters that may lead to the interruption of
transportation

—  Loss of human capital
— Network and information security of clients
The ESG Working Group are responsible to:

— Develop annual targets based on the Company’s
sustainability vision

—  Supervise ESG performance of subordinate units
— Research, discuss and decide on specific ESG and
sustainability issues

—  Monitor the Company’s overall sustainability performance
and risks concerning different material issues

—  Formulate annual ESG work schedule and action plan

—  Organize the preparation of this ESG report

— Report to and advise the Board on the above matters

— Report to the Board on any major cases in which the

Company may potentially violate ESG-related laws and
regulations
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RE - #HBRERRE

Contributing to the development of a better society continues to EBEEBATEBEUIELHEMESLSRREAEB
be a goal for Canggang Company. We keep fulfilling our corporate 1& o W& iB FHIM L0 E — R B BT 8 LU BT
responsibilities by regularly engaging with our stakeholders, in order H¥EF THREENERRER BB LAT
to understand their needs and their opinions, which Canggang #MHENEEAREB/KIIPMEERE - TR TEM
Company believes are the keys to our success. The following table HAEEHENSTEURMBEBEEFR
demonstrates our responsibilities towards different stakeholders

and the ways we communicate with them:

Key stakeholders  Our mission Our action Communication channels
FEROGE BMm LS BAENTE BIBRE
Government Cooperate with Strictly abide by the Regular oral and written
B the government requirements under relevant communication regarding
and follow rules and regulations our long-term strategic
relevant rules and  Ex#&E <FAHRIAR BIFRBI B4R E development
regulations for EHMBE MO RAHKBRET
the good of ESG Continue to develop our RNEMEEXR
development business in line with President

BEHFEE BFH Xi Jinping Thought on Socialism  Provide swift response
B BRI M - LU with Chinese Characteristics for  to any enquiries from the

BIRE - L EREAR aNew Era Government upon request
R BEBREBLVYEENFERPES AREEBFRENEMES

EHETERERREETER
Regularly attend meetings
Actively participate in EHHESE
government-hosted forums and
seminars such as the Local
Railway Safety Supervision Work
Research Forum
BE2MBUNERGORENATS
mih G HEEL2EE TERRRE

Customers To provide Regularly maintain and update Regularly communicate with

BF them with solid, our system of Railway service customers to update them
sustainable and TEHA#EFE RN BB A ER PR IS R on the market conditions
high-quality and review our cooperative
services that Conduct seminars to seek relationship by contracts
meet the safety opinions that could improve our EHHEZEFER RNEFRMET
standards service MUBRHFEE IEBAEER

BEFREMFMEZE ZEPMHE  HEREETRBENE HUENESIERER
ZEBRE AEFE R
eEEH RS Email and customer service
Continue to develop our ancillary hotline
businesses that could bring our & & i £ 43
customers a more well-rounded

experience Business meetings
BERRETUURAEFTRELH BEEER
R BB TS

Company website
NN
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Key stakeholders  Our mission Our action Communication channels

FERFOGE B ED BMHNTE BERE

Community Implement our Volunteering services Regular visits, events,

) culture and spirit 75 58 AR 7% and activities to allow the
into the community community to have a better
with different Aiding events for helping to understanding of our services

collaboration and  prevent the COVID-19 pandemic EHEHMSEIEREE > &
promotion events B ILCOVID- 19BN X EEHE HEHRMUWBRBEEERAT#
BBRTRMNEGENE —2H
BEE - FERMI X Announcement for major
{LFfBEWEZEZHLE Published the annual report for  business updates

the year ended 31 December BMEBMRRNEREHFEQSE

2021
BMEE20215F12A31B L FEH Company’s website
F AN
Public services
NHRH
Employees Promote Provide a healthy and safe Monthly seminars and
EE diversity with our working environment with briefings are held
recruitment and sufficient support and facilities BARTHFIENERSE
promotion policies REHEBEMZEMNIERE H B2HE
BEEMUVBENE ANIHNRE Employees survey to
AEERREES T understand their needs
Fair promotion mechanism ETEERAELUTHESNME
Ensure that safety 2 & F #Hl
is the first priority Informal meetings if needed

BRZE2RE—ZEHK Caring and supporting events for SERETIFIEXSH
employees during the COVID-19

pandemic
FECOVID- 19 E B A E TR EE
EMZFED

Provide sufficient medicines and
food for our front-line employees
AASETIRERANERTR M

Regular training sessions,
workshops and seminars
EHRPEIRE - BEUNANE

Supplier/partners Ensure that our Fair tender invitation for needed Business meetings
s SEBH transactions and products’/services LAk
relationship with HEEERRISETDFIBE
our partners are Email and telephone
open and fair, Regular inspection and communication
and keep partners  supervision EHNEFTER
informed of our EHREMEE
policies and goals Company’s website
BEREMESHERME Hold briefing sessions and PN o

WXZHMERRBA  seminars for the quality of
B~ AF - BEHER services

HTREMOBEN ARBESLRERENASS
A=
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Our Group has carried out an investigation among stakeholders.
Our Group’s management selected highly affected and dependent
stakeholders to answer a questionnaire. They put forward views
and suggestions on environmental and social topics involved in the
operation of the Group. This Environmental, Social and Governance
Report covers various important topics and describes what our
Group has done in these respects. Our Group will pay heed to these
issues during its long-term operation by developing corresponding
strategic guidelines, improving policies, and setting long term goals.

A materiality assessment of different ESG issues has been
demonstrated through the materiality matrix below. We have
identified the key issues from different stakeholders and have
conducted an internal assessment to evaluate their importance
to our business. The X-Axis of the matrix represents our internal
evaluation, which we believe those on the right-hand side are more
important; the Y-Axis represents the external expectation of the
importance of the issues from high to low. In short, those issues at
the top right quadrant are considered to be more important, while
those at the bottom left quadrant are least important.

We believe that the issues of climate change, pollution control
and sustainable products and services are the most crucial to our
business after our internal assessment, which has been reflected
by the policies and works that we have done as mentioned in this
Report.

R - HERERRSE

AEECHBNERMAS - AREEEREK
ERIABALERMBEEERSHNFNESH

BEHE  HERAKEXRBLEERSRHOR
BERHERERHERARER - NRKR -1 E
REABRERERHEARE WHAAEH
EHEZERENTHE - REBEBHIRTHEE
KL XERERHEREER  EHER
HEERRPERZERME -

TERE #HEREAZENEZMTMECE
BUTHEERMEERT - RFSERTEN
O EWTRERE  WETHIITME - BT
HENXBNEEM - BEAXEMAREMD
WEBRE - AAFPIEERESE R  YER RS
RUNEFEEZMMNEAY  KS=2E/HH -
EmMEz WRELARRNEEBEEE
MUBETASKRNEEBERETER -

RIEAEIFAE - HFIERE - RIRE L - FRE
FURAFEEMNBRBEEEHXBERHE
2 E-HOCEBBARESPRERROBEMT
EEEIRER -

BEMFME i
- ame
Materiality Assessment Climate Change \
RERXAER
The Ei ment and Natural Re
R
Use of Resources
e /O
\\\\\\\\\
RERRE BERE
Health and Safety Development and Training
£T%8
Labour Standards
iR
Employment
HmER G\
Supply Chain Management \O EREE
o Product Responsibility
RES
Anti-Corruption /@
HERA
Community Investment
REB
Internal Assessment
AT
S a4 N F]
RBEBERAT o 202155% 49



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - dERERKRSE

Our Group recognizes environmental and climate issues as one of
the main considerations in our daily operations and services. Our
Group tries to incorporate the governance and strategy framework
introduced by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD) into the usage of resources, energy and other
materials.

PRC national and local laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection

We strictly follow all national and local laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on our operation as required by the PRC
government, including but not limited to the followings:

— The Opinions about Comprehensively Strengthening Ecological
Environmental Protection and Resolutely Fighting Against
Pollution ({H A L B 7 B BE 7A 2 T b0 38 4 REIR IR R & ~ BRORYT
HTRBAREBENER))

- Environmental Protection Law (IR ERE %))

— Administration Rules on Environmental Protection of
Construction Projects ({2 :% 18 B RIFERERH))

— The Three-Year Action Plan to Win the Battle for a Blue Sky
(I RERREH=FTHE))

As confirmed by the environmental protection authority, we have
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations and were not
subject to any punishments due to the violation of these regulations
during the Reporting Period.

Energy reduction and emission management

In general, most emissions and energy consumption are generated
from three sources:

1. Railway and truck transportation

2. Maintenance

3. Office Usage

We have improved our data collection mechanism by expanding the

scope of different data being collected in this Reporting Period with
the organization of the newly established ESG Working Group.
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Rail freight operations

:t--l.-n...,_. _.._‘_.

e

97 a4

Our Group has implemented comprehensive environmental
policies and plans to minimize the impact of our daily operation
on the environment and natural resources, and to encourage the
efficient use of energy, water and other resources. With the fact
that transportation services, which rely on energy and resource
consumption, are the core business of our Group, we conduct
regular checking for our equipment to make sure their emission
standard are up with the level as stated by the Government.

We also invested in facilities that could help reduce pollution and
the wasting of resources. Coal unloading from our trains would
only be done in the designated unloading area equipped with dust
removal facilities, making sure that dust pollution is always at the
least level. For wastewater, they would be treated with specific
wastewater treatment facilities to ensure there is no water pollution.
The Company has not encountered any issues in sourcing water
during the Reporting Period.

The total operating distance covered by all of our railway services
during this Reporting Period is 882,843 km. For each km that our
trains have run, 0.003 tonnes of petroleum will be used. During the
Reporting Period, 2,504 tonnes of petroleum have been used, which
is a slight increase of 3.51% when compared to the corresponding
period last year. The increase in petroleum usage is mainly due to
the increase of our total tonnes of cargo in freight transportation,
which in the Reporting Period the number is 740,000 tonnes,
representing an increase of 4.4% when compared to last year.

In terms of total electricity consumption, as a way to actively
respond to the latest environmental requirement by the government,
during the Reporting Period we changed the way of energy supply
to our heating facilities from coal to electricity, which is more
environmental-friendly. As a result, there is a 22.7% increase in
electricity consumption in the Reporting Period when compared to
the corresponding period last year.

R - HERERRSE
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Canggang Company also has a newly built office come into
operation which leads to an increase of 2,757 tonnes of water
consumption in the Reporting Period when compared to the
corresponding period last year.

While future resources consumption will rise along with the increase
of cargo volume, Our Group will design and adopt a series of
energy-saving measures that could control the increasing scale of
resources consumption and raise the efficiency of using different
energy.

BEABRTMA—EHERLE  BHREH
AR AKEEREFEHIE N2,7570 ©

AREFHEBSBESBEEREFMIEM - &

BB E LRI — RIIETREIE IE - URHIE

%ziﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂiﬂéﬁiﬁﬁ  ARESTRERIE
M o

Resources consumption EREZER 20215 20205
Grease (tonne) B (mE) 21 21
Petroleum (tonne) A m (WE) 2,504 2,419
Energy consumption index BERE RIS (M B YA {)

(tonne/total tonnes of cargo) 142 143
Electricity consumption (10,000 kWh)* HAZEZ (10,000F FLBF) * 292 238
Water consumption (tonne) Rk & (W) 4,849 2,092
Energy consumption index BERCHFEIEE (W, EE AE)

(tonne/number of employees) 6.51 2.66

*

Please note that there is a unit change in electricity consumption as the
unit in the 2020 ESG Report of the Company was indicated as kWh.

Ancillary business operations

’
| *
14
.
§

We have invested in new environmental-friendly trucks which
consume natural gas to gradually replace our old trucks that
consume diesel. Canggang Company’s target to use these new
environmental-friendly trucks to replace the old trucks in the future
once they are not suitable for operation.

In our offices, we continue to remind our staff to control electricity
consumption by taking different measures. We would request
them to turn off unnecessary lights, air-conditioners and other
electronic devices when not in use. We would also set the standard
temperature of the air-conditioners to 22 Degree Celsius. During
the winter season, we would follow instructions from the local
government in terms of the usage of heating equipment and would
only allow our employees to turn on heaters within a specific period.
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On the other hand, our Group also included the data for
maintenance and infrastructure for the first time, in which 31.6
tonnes of petroleum has been used for regular maintenance of
different equipment.

To make sure not all materials are treated as general refuse and are
disposed of without proper sorting, our Group urge our employees
to conduct recycling measures actively. Used grease and metal are
the main components of recycling, in which 4.65 tonnes of grease
have been recycled, while 101 tonnes of metal are recycled.

Climate Change

We understand that climate change is one of, if not the biggest
challenge for mankind in the 21st century, and low-carbon
production of transportation services is an indispensable solution
to climate risks. As a leading comprehensive transportation
service provider in China, we endeavour to improve governance
performance on climate-related issues and strive to make
substantiate contributions to China’s 14th Five-Year Plan and the
ultimate goal of “carbon neutrality”.

Reducing the air pollution and carbon emission from our railway
transportation is a goal that we keep pushing with our dedication
to reducing energy consumption and exploring the possibilities of
using more renewable energy sources. Generally, we continue to
strike a balance between more efficient energy consumption and
the increasing cargo in our freight transport business. During the
Reporting Period, our carbon emission was 7,801.6 tonnes, a slight
increase of 3.5% compared to the same period of the previous year.
The reason for such a slight increase is because the total tonnes
of cargo has risen and has led to the increased amount of usage in
terms of petroleum.

In the Reporting Period, we paid more attention to the strategic
planning in responding to the challenges raised by climate change
issues. We incorporated climate change as one of the crucial
fundamentals in our long-term development. Our Group will
continue to devote resources to employee training to improve their
awareness and knowledge of climate change and how they could
contribute to protecting the environment; we ensure that our goals
on climate change issues have been part of our company culture,
in which we urge different departments to set specific targets and
how they could work together in achieving them. Our selection of
suppliers and resource usage are also subject to regular review
to make sure they could comply with relevant environmental
standards.

Protective measures have been implemented as a way to reduce
the potential risk posed by climate change issues. From a board
perspective, we established a specific working group to respond to
climate change and environmental protection issues. The working
group is expected to evaluate different situations and coordinate
relevant environmental measures between different departments,
as well as to report regularly to the Board. Furthermore, apart from
regular training and education which are generally considered to
be “hard measures”, Canggang Company also tried to promote the
importance of environmental protection by using “softer” measures,
such as holding events and spreading information through company
newspapers and social media.

R - HERERRSE
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In terms of infrastructure, the continuous upgrade of our monitoring
system by adopting the train dispatch and command system
(“TDCS”) allows us to monitor the possible impact caused by
extreme weather events on our facilities and services, which means
Canggang Company would be able to act swiftly and solve different
incidents.

Canggang Company has designed precautionary measures to
handle any potential incidents and risks from climate change. If
an extremely high temperature circumstance occurs, we would
consider shortening the outdoor working hours for the safety of
our employees. Certain amendments in our budget will be made
to make sure items and equipment that are needed to prevent
heat stroke are available. Canggang Company would also conduct
simulation sessions in case of extreme weather every season to
ensure both the employees and the Board are well-prepared for
these potential emergency incidents.

Risks and challenges of the climate of Hebei

Climate change brings along the risks of extreme weather, the 2021
Henan floods were a stellar example of this statement. While Henan
is the most affected province by the floods, Hebei was still partially
affected. Fortunately, Canggang Company services still generally
ran in a good condition. There were no reported injuries or death
among our employees and front-line staff, our equipment and trucks
have also been maintained in good condition.

IMPacT OvERVIEW S/EEHLEE | | *inzhi
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However, it is undeniable that extreme weather incidents have been
occurring in a more frequent manner recently. In fact, a large-scale
flood also occurred directly in Hebei in 2016, which caused an
equally devasting impact on the province.

According to past records and statistics, heavy rainfall usually
happens in Hebei during the period from July to August. By
continuing to develop and enhance our contingency plan in
response to extreme weather, our Group strives to ensure the safety
of our employees and front-line staff and would avoid the possibility
of service interruption with the protection of our transportation
infrastructure and facility in mind.

Comparison of different types of transportation services
Railway transport has generally been regarded as the transportation
service that would generate the least carbon emission during
operational activities. Flight transport is considered to generate
the largest carbon emission and there is a huge difference in
carbon emissions per km and unit transported between it and
railway transport. There is also an 11% improvement in terms
of greenhouse gas efficiency over the period of 2014 to 2018,
according to research by the Climate Chance Observatory Team,
proving that railway transport not only already is one of the most
carbon-efficient ways of transportation, but also one that has the
potential to improve further.

CO, emissions passenger-km
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(Source: Climate Chance Observatory Team)

A similar study by the European Environment Agency also shows
railway transportation leads in both passenger per km and tonne
per km, once again proving the advantage of railway transportation
in terms of reducing carbon emission. Over the period from 2015
to 2017, China’s percentage of railway transportation in global
emissions has also decreased by 3%, which continued to show
that by increasing the market share of railway transportation in the
general transportation market, carbon emissions could be reduced
and the goal of carbon neutrality is possible.

(BRRE : RIERESEENE)
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To ensure that the emission level of equipment could meet the
target, our Group will continue to purchase clean fuel that complies
with the country’s emission standard, which would strengthen the
performance of power equipment, such as trucks, by using more
efficient ways to maintain them. We will also continue to bolster
staff training to raise the standards of operating different equipment
and meet the target of controlling the increasing scale of carbon
emission.

Transportation safety is an issue that our Group always value
as we understand our business of rail freight and road freight
transportation are fundamentally dangerous. During the Reporting
Period, there were no safety incidents that led to the damage of
property, and no truck incidents have occurred as well (2020: four
truck accidents; 2019: one train accident and five truck accidents;
and 2018: two train accidents and five truck accidents). Also, no
work-related fatalities or loss of working hours under work injury
have been reported during the Reporting Period.

Railway transportation safety policy

We have complied with relevant laws and regulations by setting up a
safety management organization and engaging safety management
personnel.

In accordance with the Regulations on Railway Safety Management
issued on 17 August 2013 and came into effect on 1 January
2014, the safety of passengers and freight should be protected by
maintaining a safety management system. Equipment and facilities
should meet national and industrials standards and relevant safety
requirements. Railway transportation enterprises should also
conduct regular safety checks on the freights being transported, in
which they are prohibited from (1) carrying out the transportation
procedures of dangerous freight that are not supposed to be
conducted according to the regulation, (2) transporting freights
that have not completed the safety checking process, and (3)
transporting freights that are identified as harmful and dangerous
to transportation safety. If we receive any complaints regarding our
service, we will address them as soon as possible and review our
procedures to make sure our customers are satisfied and that their
safety is ensured. During the Reporting Period, the Company had
not received any complaints relating to our services.

Meanwhile, according to the Implementation Measures of
Administrative Punishment of Violation on the Regulations on
Railway Safety Management, enterprises are required to use
specific facilities, those who fail to do so could be asked to make
corrections and are subject to fine that ranges from RMB20,000 to
RMB100,000. Enterprises could also potentially face a fine ranging
from RMB20,000 to RMB100,000 if they fail to comply with relevant
requirements of the Implementation Measures on Administrative
Punishment for Violation of the Regulation on Railway Safety
Management. We have not violated any of the above-mentioned
regulations in the Reporting Period.
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We will provide an annual transportation report that documents
our transportation business, voluntary transportation services,
transportation safety conditions and status of other relevant
conditions for the license to the National Railway Administration
before the 31st of March each year.

Safety infrastructure

In light of the truck accidents that had led to property damage in
2018 and 2019, we have decided to insert more effort and have
invested more than RMB3,000,000 in the Reporting Period. We
continue to upgrade our TDCS with optical communication cables
that directly link with our internal monitoring system, monitoring
systems at different stations, and our servers for dispatch and
command purposes. Through the combination of using TDCS,
GPS, security cameras and radios, we could monitor the real-time
location of trains and centralize the process of dispatch, loading,
and unloading of trains. The system improves the accuracy of our
service and allows Canggang Company to take immediate action if
unfortunate accidents happen.

We have also conducted some upgrade to the fundamentals of
our railway, including our railway track, nearby facilities and the
construction of the culvert, the details of such upgrade are as
follow:

1. Adopt the usage of materials of higher quality in upgrading the
railway track and roadbed, in order to improve the reliability of
the track and stability of transportation.

2. Automatize our blocking system which is previously controlled
by telephones. Such a change could raise the effectiveness of
our operation by shortening the cycle time of operation.

3. Automatize the monitoring system of railway crossings to
ensure the safety of these crossings and to allow our trains to
operate at their highest speed.
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R - dERERKRSE

Human capital

Employees are the fundamentals of the Group and the management
of human capital is a crucial part of Canggang Company, too. We
implement clear and concise policies on employment, recruitment,
dismissal, remuneration, benefits and development.

Canggang Company’s employees comply with national policies,
laws, and regulations for our human resources management and
anti-corruption arrangement, strictly implement the Company’s
safety production management on “Driving Management Rules”,
“Production Section Management Rules” and other related
regulations. We expect a high level of labour discipline from them
and would like them to take care of public properties, including the
eagerness to learn and master the required business knowledge
and skills for their jobs, and the sense of unity and cooperation to
complete different tasks.

Employees by gender
RUERESHIEE DM

7%

BRERERNES DM

1%

93%

W Part Time

B Full Time
3

W Female
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B Male
Eelid

Employees by location
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W Others
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B Cangzhou
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B Postgraduate or
Doctoral Degree
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Employees by employment type
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Employee’s remuneration and benefits

We continue to offer competitive salary package to our employees
based on an open, fair and just salary distribution policy that closely
monitors economic and individual performance. The salary package
is closely linked to the employee’s duties, responsibilities and
performances. We adopt an appraisal system to assess employees’
performances which are seen as the basis of our decisions in
relation to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.

We strive to create a warm and caring working environment for
our employees, in which we provide different facilities to help
maintain such an environment. We provide shuttle bus service for
our employees to commute between their homes and the office.
Our Group would also regularly check and replace air-conditioners
and heaters to ensure they are in a suitable condition. Meanwhile,
we make sure that our employees would not be working under
any threats, violence or illegal restrictions on personal freedom.
Our employees could also refuse working engagements if they are
required to work under dangerous operations which could threaten
their lives.

Recruitment process

Our recruitment process follows a standard protocol to make sure
that we provide a fair and equal opportunity for every candidate.
Every department has to submit a recruitment plan for the Board to
review and approve. The Human Resource Department should be
the only department to manage recruitment-related issues, other
departments are only allowed to recommend candidates but are
prohibited to conduct the recruitment process by themselves.

Recruiting through campus, the internet and the open market are
the three predominant ways of our recruitment strategy. Potential
candidates would first have to pass a first-round interview and
would need to provide information such as identification to prove
no criminal conviction, health condition report, and certificates
to demonstrate they are able to fulfill the requirement for certain
technical positions. A background check would be done to ensure
there is no fraudulent information.

All new employees would be provided with sufficient training
sessions to allow them to understand and embrace our standards,
goals and company culture. During their probation period, despite
certain discounted performance bonus, all other treatments are the
same as regular employees.

Dismissal process

Employees that going to leave their posts include: (1) those who
reach the national legal retirement age; (2) those who retire due to
sickness; (3) those who proposed to resign; and (4) those who are
dismissed by our Group. Those who violate any law or regulations
and cause any losses to our Group would have to compensate our
group for the loss. While other employees are going to resign and
retire, a Resignation Notice will be issued and all the procedures
would follow the guideline sets in the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China.
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BRI - HBRERKE

Staff training and development

We focus on employees’ growth and development as we believe
they are the cornerstone of our daily operation and the key to our
future. We provide different resources with systematic on-the-job
training to support the development of their skills. We hope these
resources would be beneficial for our employees to have sustainable
career development and could improve their work quality, and
hence achieve the developmental goals between Canggang
Company and the employees.

Safety and the improvement of job skills are the main themes of our
training, we would like our employees to understand the guiding
principle of “safe production” as well as the safety production
guidelines, policies and regulations of different departments. We
also incorporate our analysis of previous and typical accidents or
emergency rescue cases in our training program to prevent these
incidents to happen again. The training program is led by the safety
supervision office with the assistance of the human resources
department.

Furthermore, we provide job skills training to our employees at
different stages to match their work content, which enables them to
understand the culture, history and structure of the Company.
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Administrative management system, business work system and
ethical code of conduct are the predominant topics that we would
like our employees to learn. A wide range of programs has been
offered for these topics, including “Business Ethics Training”,
“Compliance Training” and “International Reporting Financial
Standards Training”.
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During the Reporting Period, we have expanded the scale of
training and aimed to provide training for all of our production
staff, which effectively raises the percentage of trained employees.
During the Reporting Period, 563 employees have received training
which accounts for 75.6% of our total employees, which is an
increase of 12.6% when compared to the corresponding period last
year. Each of them has an average training time of more than 12
hours. We would continue to support our employees’ professional
development by continuously providing these sorts of opportunities.

Employees trained by employment level

RERBRERBINEXIESR

Senior management 100.0%
BREERE
Other employees 75.6%
Hitfg &

Average training time by employment level
per employee
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Employees trained by gender

EMBEsNEZIES

Male 75.6%
B4

Female 74.3%
pegi

Average training time by gender per employee

RERERBINSRESFIIZIEH

Senior management 16.3 hours
BREEE 16.3/) B

Other employees 12.7 hours
HigS 12.7/ N

Health and workplace safety compliance

On top of a comfortable working environment which we are keen
to establish, a safe working environment is also key for us as we
commit to protecting the safety and occupational health of our
employees.

As mentioned, safety training which includes our safety
management policy, on-site safety measures and emergency
arrangements would be regularly conducted for our employees. We
also adopt several measures to ensure the safety of our working
environment is up to the standard, these include:

The monitoring of flammable goods

—  The establishment of a safety production committee to oversee
the safety production management

—  Organize regular safety activities and training

- Ensure staffs have passed safety training and assessment
before they are involved in our freight transportation business

—  Monthly inspection of our freight transportation
— Monthly inspection of freight vehicles and facilities

- Arrange freight transportation of dangerous materials in
accordance to specified policies

—  Documents and perform key inspection of dangerous goods

BERE NS R RERE THRIER

Male 13.2 hours
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Female 12.2 hours
peg s 12.2/NB¥
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RE HERERBRE

Child and forced labour

We strongly resist the use of any child and forced labour and
would ensure our employment system has no loopholes on this
issue. We strictly comply with the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Protection of Minors”, the “Labour Dispute Mediation and
Arbitration Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Women’s Rights
and Interests”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Disabled Persons”, and other relevant rules and
regulations with reference to employment.

An “Entry Registration Form” would be required for all our newly-
employed staff and the personnel department would review their
identity cards and health certificates.

The department would then check whether the content filled is
consistent with the submitted certificates. If any discrepancies are
found, they would be rectified accordingly. In the event that child
labour is found to have been negligently employed, the child worker
would first be suspended immediately. Health checks would then
be arranged as soon as possible when he/she is returned to his/her
parents or guardian.

In compliance with the above laws and regulations, we make sure
our Group have established a strict and sound employment system
that would not tolerate any forms of illegal employment, child labour
and forced labour. Thus, during the Reporting Period, and in the
future, we would not use any child labour or forced labour.

Our workforce

We have been chosen in 2021 as one of Top 100 Private Enterprises
of Hebei (ATt ERE®%10058), and are awarded Taxpayer Award
of Huanghua City (BREM#MHBIINE) as well as Mayor Special Prize
of Huanghua City (BB E455I4%). These compliments not only
demonstrate the recognition by different sectors of the society of
the ability of our Company, but also consolidate the cohesiveness
between our employees and allow Canggang Company to retain
talented staff. Being hailed as one of the most popular employers,
we recognize our employees as important assets and are thrilled to
have talented and skilled individuals that help Canggang Company
to become a leading company in the railway transportation industry
in Hebei.
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Our low turnover rate to a large extent proves our employees’
satisfaction with our company culture and working environment.
Among the 49 employees who have left their posts during the
Reporting Period, 37 of them left as they have reached the national
legal retirement age. Only 12 of them left due to other reasons,
which demonstrates that we have the ability to retain skilled and
experienced employees that could continue to contribute.

Voluntary turnover rate by age group

EERARE DK B FEskR R
Age group %
F 48 Al
30 or below 3.77%
30mBUT
31-40 1.33%
315% £2405%
41-50 0.48%
417% 2505%
Above 50 0
508% A £

During the pandemic, we actively adopted measures of stabilizing
employment and have raised the positiveness among our
employees, which enable us to effectively control the turnover rate
of our staff. As the tables show, our staff turnover rate calculated
from different perspectives all have a low level with less than 10%.
In comparison with 2020’s voluntary turnover rate, all of them have
decreased. In the future, we would continue our work in providing a
satisfactory working environment for our employees.

Anti-corruption

We would not tolerate any form of conviction or illegal activities
from all our staff that will affect our business ethics. We uphold a
high degree of honesty and integrity by educating our employees
through material such as our Employee Handbook and Code of
Conduct. Our whistle-blowing policy allows all parties to raise their
concerns regarding any suspect on conflict of interest, misconduct
and corrupt practice through our confidential channels.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors and our senior
management staff have received training of business ethics training
in relation to the conflict of interest, common misconduct and
corrupt practices to promote sound corporate governance of the
companies and ensure effective internal controls as well as the
guardian role of company secretaries and related professionals in
safeguarding the interests of different stakeholders.
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Voluntary turnover rate by gender
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Gender %
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Male 1.15%
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Female 3.85%

Voluntary turnover rate by location
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RE HERERBRE

Whistle-blowing policy

Our group set up confidential channels to encourage employees to
raise their concerns regarding any suspected conflict of interest,
misconduct and corrupt practice. All reported cases would be
promptly and thoroughly investigated by our independent internal
audit department. They would then be reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee if there is sufficient evidence. Canggang
Company’s confidential channels will keep the reporter anonymous.

If such report represents any criminal offences, Canggang Company
will consult with our legal advisor and report to relevant authorities if
needed.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Canggang Company did
not receive any notices regarding non-compliance about corruption,
bribery, fraud and money laundering of our group with relevant laws
and regulations, which means there were no legal cases brought
against the Group in the Reporting Period.

We have maintained a cooperative relationship with a total of 31
suppliers and subcontractors in the Reporting Period. The scope
of their services includes but is not limited to the supply of fuel,
raw materials for infrastructure, telecommunications equipment,
and personal protective gear. 16 of them are from the Cangzhou
region, while the others are from other parts of China. Canggang
Company would prioritize suppliers that provide materials that
are manufactured within the Cangzhou region to minimize the
environmental impact and carbon emission due to transportation.

We share our ESG goals and targets with our suppliers and expect
them to have a high standard for environmental protection as
well. We would ask our suppliers to have environmental protection
measures in their production process, which is one of the indicators
for Canggang Company’s committee to evaluate and choose the
appropriate supplier. Below are several indicators that we have
added in the Reporting Period to follow:

—  The supplier or subcontractor should be the leading enterprise
in their respective industries, and do not have a conviction
record in terms of violating any environmental requirement as
requested by the authority.

— The products or services that the supplier or subcontractor
provides should be energy-efficient and environmentally
friendly.

— Suppliers that directly offers product or service would be
preferable to retailer to improve efficiency.

- National enterprises would be more preferred than private
enterprises.

—  Local enterprises from the Cangzhou region would be preferred
given the circumstance that their efficiency and expected profit
are the same as other enterprises.
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In 2021, our group has been awarded several prizes to praise our
effort in continuous community investment, including the likes of
Taxpayer Award of Huanghua City (EEm#FIHE), Mayor Special
Prize of Huanghua City (EEEMmR4#AIZE) and Top 100 Private
Enterprises of Hebei (i1t & R & ©31003%).

Internally, we have hold events to build our company culture with
the involvement of our employees, increasing their coherence and
sense of belonging. Canggang Company actively engages in skills
research and development and recorded encouraging results in
return, which allowed us to upgrade our railway service and the
automatization of road safety monitoring. RMB170,000 have been
invested to escalate the construction of corporate culture and the
effort in corporate branding. Regular advertorial about our group
has been issued in different newspapers and magazines, as a way
to boost corporate influence and to contribute to the building of
community culture.

We are also going to start construction projects to build additional
branch lines that extend to Port Huanghua and the northern
Shandong area, as well as new Special Service Lines that allow
Canggang Company to connect extensively with factories, our
existing customers, and any future customers. The construction of
these additional railway lines would intensify our connection with
the community as they would raise more exchange opportunities
within these geographic areas. The advantage of rail freight
transportation in terms of its cost-efficiency, particularly compared
to road transportation, would also drive the development of
these areas. Meanwhile, we would gradually increase the range
of our services as we plan to include more types of cargo in our
transportation service. By transporting cargoes such as coal, ore,
bauxite and chemicals, we could bring positive impacts on the
community’s local development, the building of infrastructure, and
the manufacturing industries.

We will continue to invest in our community and strengthen
our position as a leading and mature enterprise in the railway
transportation market in the Hebei Province.

COVID-19 pandemic

We understand that the COVID-19 pandemic is a serious public
health issue for our community, therefore we continue to help our
community by allocating different resources, such as encouraging
our employees to participate in charity events and join prevention
works in fighting the pandemic. These events not only bring us a
favorable image but also reflect that we have taken the community’s
interests into our consideration. During the Reporting Period, our
Group invested around RMB150,000 to combat the COVID-19
pandemic, making sure that there was no infection within our Group
and that prevention and control measures could be run smoothly in
the community.

R - HERERRSE

MR2021E  REBEBZERE UXRBERK
PEHEBERENTES D BEZETHTI
B E2ETREJETLEERENE1003 -

REBRD  RMALEWIH BFEEISEHH
BOEVL EEETNRBHINRER B
BLAABBREREMENFER > TWES
HENKR  EROEAARERBRENER
ERZZEINBEHL - NEBERAARYE
170,0007C » MMAEELERRCEREE
BHWAIE TEHEFEBBRIREZ LLTEHERHE
AEBHES  URESHGESEL T AK
EBX{tERH—2H -

BRTHRARRBEUERES A KH#
BRIEMEEEB R IR BE - MHFTEAR
TEBRBARERE RAETF REMEE
BEERAEY o BEINEEKGIE MK MAEEE
WENRXAKE  EMMNAELENKE - &
HEREBETRANmFHNEZ (LERHE
EREGAR  THEDZISHENRE -
IS RAKZESRERFEE  LIHARRK
MBI R RERREUREESEYER - 3
BEXRRER WA RLIBRECEREEY
EMEAHENBTRE  ERREERIR
EETREMEE -

HMSEERENAELE - MBEMERR
tEEHBERTHSNALMEAEEN M -

COVID-19% 15

K PIRBEACOVID-19R B EFWN —HE K
AHEEZRE BURMEEZBIGTRE
BUXTELE  fINEBETSEHESTEHK
AR BEBENERIE - WEFBH T ELAR
MRIRFFESR  FTRMEMAELER KR
moEHA  REBKR ALY ARYE150,000
T EBCOVID-19&E  BRAEB AR
SREUREHEIBEFRESHIEEE -
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Furthermore, Canggang Company has arranged for all our k% AEBAFCKTHLEETIEERS -
employees to receive vaccination and there was no infection within  $REHIRA D TR EPIERBL =M - RFIESE
the Company during the Reporting Period. We strictly comply with B BFEMNEEEERES » BRAEB QT
the vaccination guideline issued by the Government to make sure FE&AZEQXLFEBENTE o #HAKM
Canggang Company would not become a loophole within the overall HHEE/EKSEZL, BXEEATISEREE
public health policy. While our daily operation has slightly been &g %k -

affected, there is no direct economic loss caused by the pandemic.

In a relatively uncertain societal outlook as the pandemic threat still HRAZEBENRBNET  BERTEEHNTEA
persists, Canggang Company will continue to spread our influence =T @ EBBATSEBRESEH  AHEE
and make a positive contribution to the community. HERE R -

Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide Content Index

RE #HERERBHESIRRT RS

Corresponding

Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section
BEEH BREENRBHL HEREEM
Governance A statement from the Board containing the following Board Statement
structure elements: EEgEH
BB

(i) a disclosure of the Board’s oversight of ESG issues;

(i) the Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritize and manage material ESG-related issues
(including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(iii) how the Board reviews progress made against
ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation
of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

HESSRENER  EFHETIAET

() REESSYRE HERELRSENEE

(i) EBENRE -HERELAEEFHRRE - SFF
i BRBFIREBEEENRE HERELEES
H(BRERTAZERNER) NBRE R

(i) ESSNARFNRE  HEREL[EBE RNEE
WiFEZE B RERITAXRKAER -
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BEEFR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - #HBRERRE

Corresponding

Description of the disclosure report section

BEERARHEML RS R

Reporting
Principles

W|ERA

Reporting
Boundary

& E

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of About this report
the following Reporting Principles in the preparation of ~ BERAIRE
the ESG report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose:

(i) the process to identify and the criteria for the
selection of material ESG factors;

(i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a
description of significant stakeholders identified,
and the process and results of the issuer’s
stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools
used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where
applicable) should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG
report any changes to the methods or KPIs used,

or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

B RREERRR HERELBRERUNMEATIRE
JRA :

EEN RS HAREAHEERE

iy BIEERE HEREARNENAREREEZESR
=ZMWER

(i) WBETACDETENESH BREAINEZEHEN
HARBEITABNESHNBARRER -

Bt FHEBSHNRE BRER (MBER) FANEE 7
E o BERR/RFAETANER - URAEANERERERIR
FRIET LA E -

— M BTARERE HEREARSTREST HER
HRENERNEMNSESEMEMLERESRLRNEER
ESE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the About this report
ESG report and describing the process used to identify BN AR
which entities or operations are included in the ESG

report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer

should explain the difference and reason for the change.

REBRE HEREARENREHE  RHEMLERIER

ARE HEREARENERIEBNBRE - HREEH

BEEMEE BOARBEBEIRIZEREHRA -
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Disclosure
BHEER

A. Environmental
A. RIE

Description of the disclosure

Aspect A1: Emissions

BHEA1 : BE

General
Disclosure

— R E

KPI A1.1
8 6 45 IR 1A A

KPI A1.2
BRAMIERAL2

KPI A1.3
B SEAR B 1RA1.3

KPI A1.4
B AR IERAL4

KPI A1.5
BRAMERALS

KPI A1.6
BRAMIERALE
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Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
FEBERNREREHR RARLIHHNEES BERE
EEREYNELD

(@) X &
(b) BTHBTABEAFENHEBEIERANNESR -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B mER R EEEREIE -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (SE1) RegREE (BE2) RERBHM (LN E)
REEHER) (WUSEEE N SERETH) °

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FFEEREEEYAE (UM1E) REE (MEA) (205
BEEEN BEREAE) °

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FFEEEEEEYLAS (UMEt8E) REE (HEA) (205
BESEN BERETE) °

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

B FrE] LR BB R R T RBUEHE BB RMNTE -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HAEEEERBERZEYMN G AR PTET AR EER
BURFERNESEBEENTE -

e Annual Report 2021

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

RR - B REELRBE

Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

Bk - BRREELR B

Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction; Climate Change
RR - BeeBEEE ) RIREL

Explanation: No hazardous
waste produced.

mEEl TEELEEE
E=3 7/

Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

IROR ~ B A2 BB BE

Emission Target

B B R

Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

RAR - B B8 B Rl BE
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEL HERE R

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : EREH

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including Environmental Protection,
Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. Energy Saving and Emission
—RIKE BRERER (BFEER  KEREMESE) OBEE - Reduction
BRAR - BRREEL R BE
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  Environmental Protection,
FASEEMIEIZA2.1  electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity Energy Saving and Emission
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Reduction

REHMEASWEER SRBEER(NE - [UR) BFEE RIR - BREEREH
(UTFETEREHE) RBE (NMUESESEN - BERER

")
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Environmental Protection,
AR EMIEZEA2.2  production volume, per facility). Energy Saving and Emission
BEKEREE(NMUEBESEN BERETE) ° Reduction ‘
RR - EFREED R BE
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and Environmental Protection,
AR E M IEZA2.3 steps taken to achieve them. B Energy Saving and Emission
WM L MRERER M B R RFARBUEBEBEE RN Reduction ‘
T8 - BRR - BRREEL R B
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Environmental Protection,
FASEE IS IZA2.4  water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s). Energy Saving and Emission

BAMESEAKR LI BEMEE LR AKKFEER > Reduction
BRR - B RE BRI BE

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Explanation: no packaging
B S WIS IEA2.5 tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit material needed in terms of
produced. the freight transportation
SR mTAEEM RS (UMETE) REEEENEE (fd service the Company
EHA) ° provides.

BEEN  BALARMNE
MEBRREMNS  BAERE
KHH e
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEML HEHREEEH

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EBHA3: RERRXARER

General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts Environmental Protection,
Disclosure on the environment and natural resources. Energy Saving and Emission
—RIKE WEBTABRERARERERERLENICR - Reduction
BRAR - BRREEL R BE
KPI AS3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on Environmental Protection,
B EMIEZEA3.1  the environment and natural resources and the actions  Energy Saving and Emission
taken to manage them. Reduction

HAEBEHHRERRREFNEAFERAENEE RFE - SR
BB ENTE -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EBEA4 : RIZZ 1L

General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant Environmental Protection,

Disclosure climate-related issues which have impacted, and those Energy Saving and Emission

—RIEE which may impact, the issuer. Reduction
BRAIREHERKRITESHBITAEELENEAREGEME RIR - HEEERBE
BEEMNEER -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues Climate change, Risks and

B E MIEZA4.1  which have impacted, and those which may impact, the challenges of the climate
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. of Hebei, and Comparison
HMCERTRESHBTAEESENEARIZMERBEER ©  of different types of
REETE transportation services

RAREE T RIRHE R
MBE R T EEEERRE
B EL B
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEL HEHREEEH

B. Social Employment and Labour Practices
B. ##ERERETIER
Aspect B1: Employment

EBEB1: & &
General Information on: Employee’s remuneration
Disclosure and benefits
—RIEE (a) the policies; and == E T S E R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Recruitment Process
have a significant impact on the issuer RERRF
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment Dismissal Process
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal RRREF

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

ERFMREE BEREA  THEEH R FEH
g Zult  REBURAEMBFBREFND

(@) X K&
(b) BFHBTATEAZENHBEEZRAGINES -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for Human Capital
B EMIEEB1.1  example, full or part-time), age group and geographical A H&EZXR
region.
mMuR > ERER (WE2RHERE) FRENREEE S
MESBAH -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Our Workforce
BB EWISEB1.2 geographical region. BMHET

B FRANREEE SWESRKAE -

ABEERARQIT o 2021FFH 71



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - dERERKRSE

Disclosure

Description of the disclosure

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2: RERZ2

General Information on:

Disclosure

—RIBE (a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FERAZEZIHRERAEEEHABEMEEN !
(@) X &

(b) BFHBTABEARZENHBEEERRACANESR -
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the Reporting

Period.
BE=ZF (BRBSH)EFEITHNAERLE-

KPI B2.1
B A MIEEB2.1

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
BRENESEB22 AIGEAI(FAH-
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

BAIE & MI51EB2.3 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁm MBERERZ 2R UREABEHTRES

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FEEB3 : &R REI

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

Transportation safety
BERZe

Health and workplace safety
compliance

REMIESHZEZER

Transportation safety
BERZ®

Transportation safety

Bamzs

Health and workplace safety
compliance

REMTIESHZEER

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills

Disclosure for discharging duties at work. Description of training

—RIEE activities.
FHRRAREEITIFEREN B R RENBUER - #ilE
FES o

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and

AR EMIEZEB3.1  employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).
REREEERN (WEREEE PREEE)SINZ

JEEBEDL -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

BURREESEEMNE D  BREETHZINFIIEH -

KPI B3.2
B AAMIEEB3.2
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Staff training and
development
ETHEINIRER

Staff training and
development
ETHIIRERE

Staff training and
development
ETRIIRER
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B EE .

Description of the disclosure

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T2A|

General
Disclosure

—REE

KPI B4.1
78 2 48 IS 1EB4.A

KPI B4.2
BRAMIEEB4.2

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BEBLEIREHE M :

(@) BE R
(b) BFHBRTABEASENHBELERBRINESR -

Description of measures to review employment practices

to avoid child and forced labour.

HimAEREINNERUBRETIRRIELH -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

B ERRERBREEREFEBRAARRTER -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEBS5 : ftlEREERE

HERER®RE

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

Child and Forced Labour
ETINEHELE

Child and Forced Labour
ETIREBELH

Child and Forced Labour
EIREBELH

General
Disclosure

— R =

KPI B5.1
B S AE I EB5.1

KPI B5.2
B A MIEEB5.2

KPI B5.3
B S 45 M 15 15B5.3

KPI B5.4
B AR M 515 B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of
the supply chain.
FHREEHBRENREREESRMMOBER -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

ZimEE s WEEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Ml EREREERENES  BTEMNNMERHE - XU
KRBT RERFE °

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

LA BB EE N R E RS RAMNES - LURIEE
HITRERLGE -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

HAEREHERREES ARRERRRBENES
LURAEERTRERGE -

REBEBRARAR o

Supply Chain Management
g EE

upply Chain Management
HrEgEE R
H

S
1/\]%
Supply Chain Management
HEEgEER

Supply Chain Management
HEgEEE

Supply Chain Management
HEEEE
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Disclosure

Description of the disclosure

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6: EmE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B6.1
A & 45 W 15 15B6. 1

KPI B6.2

8 8 45 W15 1ZB6.2

KPI B6.3

8 82 45 W15 12B6.3

KPI B6.4

B AA NS 15B6.4

KPI B6.5
B AAMIE1EB6.5
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Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
FRFREERIRBNREREZE2 - BE  BEBEALE
BEEUREHFED

(@ BE: &
(b) BIFYUBITABERFENEEEERBFHNER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
CESEEXERBERPEZ2EHEREHMAERNKRMNE
gl A

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EEBERERRBRENIRFEHE UKREBHITE -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual rights.

WEERRRENHEREBBNED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
HiEERTBERERBKER

Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

ﬁﬁiﬁ%%ﬁ*ﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂ\l&%ﬁ% IR BT R B
x e

e Annual Report 2021

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

Transportation Safety
ERZ®

Safety Infrastructure

zZEER

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEEs ENAEEREEN
RN TER -

Transportation Safety

Bwmz®

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEER  ERAEERHEN
BRI TEH -

Transportation Safety
BERZe

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEER  ERNAKERMEN
R4 MT - RERA -
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEL HERE R

Aspect B7: Anticorruption
EBEB7: RES

General Information on: Anti-corruption
Disclosure RES
—RIEE (a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BERABTIEEREE - R  MFER A REMN
(@) BE &
(b) BFEBTABEAZEWHEBEEZERBAHNNESR -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Whistle-blowing policy
AR EMIEZEB7.1  practices brought against the issuer or its employees B BUR

during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the

cases.

RESHAUBRTARHEEERHYCEENE THRAR

BB RFARER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Whistle-blowing policy
BB & MIEEB7.2 blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and 2B X
monitored.
M SRR EBRERF  URABRITRERGE -
KPI B7.3 Description of anti- corruption training provided to Anti-corruption
B EMIEEB7.3  directors and staff. R&ES

WHEAESRETRHANRESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EHEBS : #E&RA

General Policies on community engagement to understand the Community investment
Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates HERA
—RIEE and to ensure its activities take into consideration the

communities’ interests.
BRUHBESHERTHRBETAEEMEHENETEZNRR
HERIHERLEERZMWBUR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community investment
BAiE & MIS1EB8.1  environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, HEEA
sport).

EIEMERE (WHE RERE HIFR #E X
ft-8A8) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus Community investment
BB ENISEBS.2  area. HERA

EEIHEMBAER (WEENKE) -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHE

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of rail freight
transportation and related ancillary services by operating freight
railway and railway yards.

The Group’s revenue is substantially generated from provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services in the PRC. The
principal assets of the Group are also located in PRC. Accordingly,
no geographical segment information is presented.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found
in the chapters headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, respectively. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Major customers and suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

EEGHRE

TEEFRHES
FEMBFENAEETERFREHEEK
HEFRGRBENENNT :

Percentage of
the Group’s total

EAREEAEEI L
Sales Purchases
HERH 2 £
The largest customer BAEF 13.3%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEGT 54.3%
The largest supplier BRAMER 21.5%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate T REEELES 58.8%

At no time during the Reporting Period have the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of
issued shares of the Company) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

Key Risks and Uncertainties
The following highlights some of the key risks that affect our
business:

Type of risk Description of risk
-8 il B B 4

REBESHAEAFEREES - WENBEA
FARXAEMRR (BESHAREFEL LA
BRTROBESNULE) RZETERFR
HEBTEEEMES -

FERRETRERR
UTREEARAEBNETIERARBE

Internal control measures

A BB 1 e

Competition risk Our Canggang Railway Line is directly
extended from the Cangzhou Station
to the Port Huanghua. During the
Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report, there are no
alternative routes for air and sea
transportation. Furthermore, due to
pre-existing differentiation by the
function of each railway, there’s no
direct competition from Shuo-Huang
Railway Line and the Han-Huang
Railway Line within the Cangzhou-
Port Huanghua area. Our Canggang
Railway Line is a local railway operator
with a high degree of exclusivity and
insulation from competition.

FRF A RARMABRIDEZERRMNELEHRESR
BB - RBREHARBEAFHRBE > I
EUENRNNMERBERLR - It AR
FHRERLGFEEZE  WERMNEER
BBBERNTFERBPESRBESRN
HEHBRT  RABRABEASEHMMEAT
THEFZENLHEREER o

The Company is operating under the theme
of “Changing ideas, improving services
and opening up markets” since 2020, and
established 18 improvement measures,
such as actively coordinate with local party
committees, governments, the NRA, and
the Shuohuang Railway; actively strive
for policy and business cooperation and
support; and further expand our ancillary
services including road transportation,
freight agency, filtering, and other new
service businesses in the logistics chain.

H2020F#8 - AQRMEL [RBES - BRAR
% FAmS] WESKEXR  AHE181H
BOEREE - BB FRE - B - BIXER
B R MRS AR BT BRI ER
BERXE  WE-SHEQANHYRE -
BEERERH  EERE - BERYREFH
fib ¥ BLAR TS 375 o
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EEGHRE

Type of risk
[ B R A

Description of risk
L B 4 ot

Internal control measures

A B2l 4 B

Investment risk

RERR
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However, in the future development,
such pre-existing differentiation by
function is not legally binding and
there exists certain competition risks
on the Company's business. Since we
relies heavily on the coal transportation
business which accounts for over
60% of our revenue from rail freight
transportation. Therefore, the potential
competitors may harm the Company’s
competitive advantage.

A FEARREBRT - WWHEBIBAINEE
EMWEERORD  BAQAHER])
FE—ENHFERE o ARALD BB K
REAXSR (AEASESREEREE

B60%) - ALEERFHFRIHFEA
DNEWHFED -

In the absence of reliable and relevant
information and feasibility analysis, any
decrease of value or underperformance
of these financial assets may adversely
affect our financial condition or
business prospects.

R A ERABENERM AT TH
BRT  ZEERMEENEETH®RNRE
TMES AT REH RPN I AR R N EH AT R
EETHEE -

In the past few years, we invested
in short-term wealth management
products issued by licensed
commercial banks in China, which
mainly included investment portfolios
covering debentures, asset backed
securities, interbank loans, reverse
purchases and bank deposits.

RBEHF  RMPEREAPEGEEHRE
IRITHITHNENENER  TEBR/RE
BER  EERFES RITEER R
MBERRITERNIREES -
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The Company adopted and implemented an
enhanced internal policy since August 2019
which provides guidelines, requirements
and an approval process with respect to our
treasury investment activities.

RAT H20195F8 B BER 4 K B & R K A
BER  ZBRRHFH A QA ERRETHRM
T3l » REMAERE -

We are only allowed to invest in wealth
management products with low risk as
ranked by the issuing institutions. No
investments can be made on unsecured
debentures, non-principal protected
products based on derivative assets and
products issued by institutions without valid
operating licenses.
RABEAFREBTHREIDABBENE
BEmM  FARENERFGEESR - FRADT
LEEEMURHERNEXH ROBBERT
MEm °
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EEGHRE

Internal control measures

A BB 4 B

Business
development risk

EBBREAR

When developing a new business/
route, if the Company fails to
conduct research and analysis on
the service content, site selection or
land acquisition of the new business/
route, the Company may fail to meet
expectations due to insufficient
preliminary planning.
RERITER BEE > MAQXRREYH
HERBENBRBAR - BuSRBihE
ITHER DM AAT A REE E AT HRE
TRMEEEZNFRREE -

Prior to our purchase of any wealth
management products, our securities
investment department is required to
compile a due diligence report providing
the information such as the feasibility of the
investment and an economic analysis of the
investment.

RARBBEEMEMERZAH  ARFHE
ZREVBUARE—DERFAERS » UREH
MRETATHEMNBRELEINEER -

Any investment exceeds RMB20.0 million,
such investment must also be reviewed and
approved by our Board.
SHEHEBARB200EBEINRETBLBEE
EGERRAE -

Our securities investment department is
responsible for monitoring the performance
of the invested wealth management
products and ensuring the relevant
contracts are not breached. Any significant
or adverse fluctuation in the invested wealth
management products shall be reported to
our management and appropriate mitigation
actions shall be taken immediately.
BHERENEEEEMREEMNEMNRE
WHEREESOAURERER - REBUER
WHBEFNERRAFKE - BEQAQTE
BRERE - YV RAREUEE WA ERERE o

The Company has continuous communication
with the government and the project leader
to follow up and monitor the progress of the
project.
AABEHBEEABTMEEEEABE - UR
ENEEEANER -

The Company will continue to monitor and
analyze the impact of changes in customer
demand on business/route development,
and reconsider whether the expansion plan
can bring the Company’s expected profit
and customer volume in the original plan
under the condition of changes in customer
demand increase.
RABBFEBEIMD N ETEFREICHER
SHBBERNSE  WEEFEREMNER
T ENZREESIEEALTDATERERET
RPN TESABNEFE -
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Type of risk
[ B R A

Description of risk
L B 4 ot

Internal control measures

A B2l 4 B

Environmental

p

rotection risk

RRER

Natural disasters

(including climate

risks)
BRKE
(BERERR)

80

Canggang Railway Limited e

Any pollutants emission during the
business process, the failure to comply
with the requirements of environmental
protection laws and regulations,
or the activities that endanger the
environment, would increase the risk
on legal liabilities, such as physical
injury to others, property damage,
and punitive damages derived from
violation.

WARBERL RIS E BIZ P HE AR AY )5 1Y)
RERREENERNER  SRBLRE
RIBHES - IR IREEEEENER
B BB ANERASEE - BER
Ko URREBRTAMELZSMLREE -

Natural disasters (such as typhoons,
flooding and earthquakes), epidemics,
acts of war, terrorist attacks, political
unrest and other events, many of which
are beyond our control, may lead to
global or regional economic instability,
which may in turn materially and
adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
BRKE (MR - KERHMZE) ~ RIT
o BFE > RNEE  BURBERHMS
f (S EEERMpreciesl) g8
IR ELBE AR - 1WAl se I HAAI
%E\Mﬁ%ﬁ&@%%%%ﬁik$ﬂ
E’ o

B
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The Company has established “Environmental
and Safety Work Matters”, which has a
number of environmental management
measures related to business.
AABEHE [BRIREZ2TIFSBE] - BF
HAEZHEXBKABNRIRERERR -

The Company uses those fuels that meet
national regulations. Locomotives will also
be regularly repaired and maintained to
ensure that the emissions meet national
regulations.
ARARFFANRRHEFEERRE - RAAT
?E%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%$7uﬁﬁmmﬁéﬂ§
FHE °

Dust removal spray equipment is installed
in the station and warehouses; and the coal
stack area is equipped with thatches to
control dust pollution.
RABERBUNMBEERNREREEZRE
WHHERBRHEFEUIZEFHESREER

The Company has established the “Incident
Management System” and “Emergency
Plan”, and has a complete emergency
system and process to guide various
departments to respond to emergency
accidents and disaster relief work on rainy,
snowy roads and severe cold weather.
ARBEHE [BHREEFNE]| kK [E2F
gl > UREAZENESHENRRE  BE&
HFAEBRERAMTERERREEXRTER
THESSZHMPLTE -

The Company conducts safety drills every
season to strengthen the resilience of
employees.

RARBEYSETREERUMNBE THE
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Environmental Policies and Performance

We are subject to PRC national and local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection, prevention and control of
pollution, and incident reporting. We have obtained all pollutant
discharge permits necessary from the relevant local environmental
protection authority.

We regard environmental protection as an important corporate
responsibility and are dedicated to implementing a comprehensive
environmental protection management system in our daily
operations. Our safety supervision office is responsible for
developing and implementing internal rules and regulations on
environmental protection. We have adopted regulations in respect
of working procedure at various locations including railways and
freight yards to ensure compliance with environmental protection
laws and regulations.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including,
among others, Local Railway Transportation License, Regulations on
Road Transportation, Regulations on Railway Safety Measurement,
Production Safety Law of the PRC, etc, for our industry in PRC.
The Listing Rules also apply to the Company since the Listing
Date. The Group executes control activities and follows the internal
compliance procedures to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those bring significant impact
to the Company. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations will timely be brought to the attention of the relevant
employees and departments.

During the Reporting Period, to the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief on the date of this annual report,
the Company has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

Customers, suppliers, sub-contractors and employees are the key
to our business sustainability and stable growth. We are committed
to establishing a close relationship with our employees, providing
quality services to our customers and enhancing cooperation with
our suppliers and sub-contractors.

Employees

Employees are one of our most important assets. The Group
has been endeavouring to provide our employees with a fair and
harmonious workplace, such that, we maintain a good working
relationship with our employees. The Group grants share options to
those employees to recognise and reward the employees who have
contributed to the Group’s development. We also provide internal
and external training programs to our employees to continuously
improve their skills and knowledge and enhance their understanding
of production safety.
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Customers

We believe that intimating and safety are always the core values
in providing our services to the customers. We are committed
in building strong business relationships with our customers.
We have constructed Special Service Lines owned by such
customers stretching directly into the factories or premises of
these customers from our main railway line, facilitating easier rail
fright transportation. We also offer ancillary services with one-stop
solution in terms of freight transportation to make us more attractive
to new rail freight transportation customers.

Suppliers and subcontractors

We developed a strong working relationship with our suppliers
and subcontractors for our operations. We select suppliers based
on a number of factors, including, among others, history of our
relationship with them, product quality, supply capacity, price
and delivery time. To avoid reliance on any single supplier, we
conduct thorough market research and interview numerous market
participants before actually making any procurement.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of this annual report.

Operating Segment Information

The Group is principally engaged in provision of services. The
information reported to the Group’s management for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment focuses on the
following two reportable segments.

— Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail freight
transportation in the PRC.

— Ancillary services: this segment provides freight loading and
unloading services, road freight transportation and other
services in the PRC.

Final Dividend

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK3.8
cents (equivalent to approximately RMB3.0 cents) per Share for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

As at the date of this report, the Board is not aware of any
arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.
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Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 24(c) to the financial
statements.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, was RMB469,085,000 (2020:
RMB399,638,000).

The AGM will be held on Wednesday, 22 June 2022. A notice
convening the AGM will be published and despatched to the
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules in due course.

For Determining the Eligibility to Attend and Vote at the AGM

To determine the entitlement of the Shareholder to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 17 June 2022 to Wednesday, 22 June 2022 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
all transfer share documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch registrar share in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 16 June 2022.

For Determining the Eligibility to the Proposed Final Dividend
To determine the entitlement of the Shareholder to receive the
proposed final dividend, subject to the Shareholders’ approval on
the proposed final dividend at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will also be closed from Tuesday, 28 June 2022 to
Thursday, 30 June, 2022 (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
receive the proposed final dividend, all transfer share documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 27 June 2022.
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The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Yongliang (Chairman)
Mr. Yi Weiming (CEO)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Zhihua
Mr. Qin Shaobo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Liu Changchun

Mr. Zhao Changsong

Ms. Lyu Qinghua

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term,
or terminated by payment in lieu of notice.

Each of non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the non-executive Director to the Company, or with
immediate effect following the notice in writing served by the
Company to the non-executive Director or if there is any breach by
the non-executive Director that has actual or existing impact on the
Company.

Each of independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by the independent non-executive Director to the
Company, or with immediate effect following the notice in writing
served by the Company to the independent non-executive Director
or if there is any breach by the independent non-executive Director
that has actual or existing impact on the Company.
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In accordance with article 84 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. Any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to article 83(3)
of the Articles of Association shall not be taken into account in
determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors
who are to retire by the rotation. Accordingly Mr. Yi Weiming,
Mr. Qin Shaobo and Ms. Lyu Qinghua shall retire by rotation, and
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as Directors
at the AGM.

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set
out in the circular will be sent to the Shareholders in due course.

No Director, including those proposed for re-election at the AGM,
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which is conditionally approved by a resolution of the
then Shareholders of our Company passed on 16 June 2020. The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive or reward for
the Grantees (as defined below) for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the Eligible
Persons (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal stake
in our Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to our Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
relationships with such Eligible Persons who are significant to and/
or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance,
growth or success of our Group, and additionally in the case of
Executives (as defined below), to enable our Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and/or reward them for
their past contributions.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Eligible Persons include (i)
any executive director of, manager of, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any
member of our Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any
full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the time being
seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of our
Group (“Employee”); (ii) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of our Group;
(iii) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our Group; (iv)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group; (v) a
customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of our Group;
(vi) a person or entity that provides design, research, development
or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other
services to any member of our Group; (vii) an associate of any of
the persons referred to in paragraphs (i) to (vi) above; and (viii) any
person involved in the business affairs of the Company whom our
Board determines to be appropriate to participate in the Share
Option Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other scheme of our Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as the Listing Date (such
10% limit representing 100,000,000 Shares) (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). The Board may think fit seek approval from our
Shareholders to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, save that the
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of our Company shall not exceed 10% of our Shares
in issue as of the date of the Shareholders’ approval.

We may seek separate Shareholders’ approval for granting Options
beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that the Options in
excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible
Person specified by our Company before such approval is obtained.
We shall issue a circular to the Shareholders containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Share Option
Scheme, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of our
Group shall not exceed 30% of our Company’s issued share capital
from time to time. No Options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of our Company
if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
exceeds 1% of our Company’s issued share capital from time to
time.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for acceptance
by the Eligible Person concerned for a period of 28 days from
the offer date. An Option have been granted and accepted by the
Eligible Person when the duplicate offer letter is duly signed by the
grantee together with a remittance of HK$1.00 is received by our
Company on or before the date upon which an offer of an Option
must be accepted by the relevant Eligible Person.

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
at the time of grant of the relevant Option. The subscription price
shall be at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of a Share; (i)
the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; and (iii) the average closing
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the offer
date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the date on which it becomes unconditional on the
Listing Date, i.e. 23 October 2020, after which no further options
will be granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme shall remain in force and effect in all other respects. All
options granted prior to such expiry and not then exercised shall
continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme.

No share options had been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme was 100,000,000, representing 10% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company.

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, at no
time during the Reporting Period was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Besides the Share Option Scheme discussed in the above
paragraphs, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during
the year or subsisting at the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the minimum public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate liabilities insurance to
indemnify the Directors from any liabilities and costs arising from
the business of the Group and the permitted indemnity provision (as
defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company is currently in force.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 27 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements. Save for the related party
transactions, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed in the chapter headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report, there was no change to any of
the information required to be disclosed in relation to any Director
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2021 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 180 of the annual
report.
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Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the
Group are shown in the note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Details of the retirement schemes are set out in note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, there was no contract of significance entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor there was any contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021 or subsisted
as at 31 December 2021.

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals for the Reporting Period is set
out in notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Save as Mr. Qin Shaobo waived his remuneration, no other
Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the Reporting
Period.
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No contract, other than appointment contracts and employment
contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business was
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, none
of the Directors had any interest in a business other than the Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, and required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

The net proceeds from the global offering of the Company were
approximately HK$206.4 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB173.7 million), after deducting the underwriting fees and
commission and other related listing expenses paid and payable
by us, which was intended to be applied in the manner as set out
in the section headed “Future Plan and Use of Proceeds” of the
Prospectus. An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from
the Listing Date up to 31 December 2021 is set out below:

RBEBRR ARRABIT ST EEEERR
AZMREMERLIEBNERRITHELN
(ZERESAREREHKRN) -

RB|ERARBEARE Y SEEEME
B E B EEAEEREE RS BB
FER (RRAKEIN) FEBEMER LA
RIE LR BIES10RAVRE T UAME -

BHNBREMPESREMHNEBHEERANEERE
AR EmSE  REAATERBENH
BREFEHEANE206.45EEBT (HERHNAR
¥173.7THER) - EESHERBRERIK
RETERFERERE | —GMEAATRER -
HEmBAR#EZE2021FE12 831 B IEWIFFERE
FEHBABRITEIMT :

Actual use of

Amount net proceeds Amount
unutilised during the unutilised Expected
asat year ended asat  timeframe
1 January 31 December 31 December for full
Net proceeds 2021 2021 2021™  utilisation®
BZ22021F
12A31H
BE2021% LEER  HE021F
s 18188 FEFEFE 1283188  EEBAN
REFE  ADASE NERAER  ABASE"  REREY
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
ARBEEL AR%EBERT AR%BERT ARYEER
To construct our branch line connecting the BREZEBITEEN 2024
Northern Shandong Industrial Park Y& 67.3 67.3 - 67.3 2024
To construct our branch line connecting the BRERGSELERN 20249
Comprehensive Industrial Park 5T 43.3 433 - 433 202450
To upgrade and renovating infrastructure for our  # KB RBEHER N/A
Canggang Railway Line it 23.2 21.0 21.0 - TR
To purchase one new locomotive BE-Hks 2022
8.6 8.6 - 8.6 20226
To upgrade our communications, signal HEBER - EREBLR N/A
automation, and remote monitoring systems BRERAR 4.4 44 4.4 - TER
To repay our bank loan BERTER N/A
55 - - - @A
To settle amounts payable in connection with ~ ATBE Tt AR 2022
our purchase of land use rights HEEATE 21.4 21.4 - 21.4 20226
Total h 173.7 166.0 25.4 140.6

M As at 31 December 2021, net proceeds not yet utilized were deposited
with certain licensed banks in the PRC.
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The expected timeline for the application of the unutilised net proceeds
is based on the best estimation of the future market conditions made
by the Group. It is subject to uncertainties brought by the international
macro-environment and the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic on
the prevailing and future market conditions and business developments
and in need. In view of the significant effects to the economy
and business environment, we shall update and re-visit our plan
continuously. Save as disclosed in the below, the Company remains
committed to the original allocation of the net proceeds from the global
offering as disclosed in the Prospectus. If there is any further change to
the proposed usage of the net proceeds and/or expected timelines, the
Company will make a further announcement in full compliance with the
Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has unutilised amount of the
net proceeds from the Global Offering of approximately RMB43.3
million, which would be used for the construction of our branch line
connecting the Comprehensive Industrial Park. The Directors confirm
that such usage has not been changed. However, in view of the current
COVID-19 pandemic which has affected the business operation in the
area, in particular the schedule of obtaining administrative approval
from the government, the expected date of full utilisation of such
proceeds will be delayed from 2022 to 2024.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, the “SFQO”)), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or (b) as recorded in the register kept by the Company, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or (c) otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

Interest in the Company (long position)

Name of Director/

Capacity/Nature of

Number of Shares

EEGHRE

@ ERAEAEBAAEIEFENAERREERIR
BASBEHARRTRWREMTIEL  HRF
B 5 2 BUIR 45 % A P R R W9COVID-19& 5 ¥
B S Nk R S E S 3 S
BRENTEME ERNEEREBRAEZIE
REE  BMGBEENRIEIE - BRTX
KEEN  ARREBERBREEZNKES
RBEMSRRFENRED B o HAFHREA
FHENEZARK RBEPEBRHR TS
—S88  AQAKEEERRETRIRER
EHE—SHNE -

® B ZE2021F12A310 - AKEBEHKREANE
REBEMEREFRETHNHARBIIEE
AR ERERGEEXRENTS - ESH

REHBTZHENEBES BRI EIEE
BERIFENKHEE - At - WA BHBAZ
ZPrISFIEM B B 2022 FF B 220244 o

RBERR  EERBESTRAERARQTH
HEMBERLIE (EXREBEMAFET1ER
ZREERM (TE5RBEKRG ) EXVER) B
B HEROREEED  BEQREZS
REBERGIEXVEETRESS BEME AR LD
ARBRXNERRAR (BERERES RS
BRPIBRRXEFRWEREE NWER KX
2) Wb HBERARAREF SR ML RA
EISfFFEMBLCMAMNER RXA » FH(c)
RELTERITAZESETESRZNERESTH
HEARARBRXANEERARBNT !

RARXBWERS (FA)

Percentage of

Chief Executive interest interested shareholding
EE BEETHRAEH®SE B/ ERtE BEESENROEE BERESHL
Mr. Liu Interest in a controlled 657,975,000 65.80%
2%%E corporation®

REELBNERO
Mr. Yi Interest in a controlled 35,775,000 3.58%
KEE corporation®

™

REZEENEZR?

Mr. Liu is the sole shareholder of Jinghai BVl and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jinghai BVI.

Mr. Yi is the sole shareholder of Greenport BVI and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Greenport BVI.

O BIREBRTUEBVINME -RR - BUEEKAZR
SUBBVIS AR R P B ELS -

@  RE4E BGreenport BVIFIHE —IRER - E LR
AR Greenport BVIEF BRI P B ER o
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As at the end of the Reporting Period, so far as is known to any
Directors or chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Set out below is the name of the party whose interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
(pursuant to part XV of the SFO) as at the end of the Reporting
Period as recorded in the register kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Interest in the Company (long position)

Nature of interest

EEME

Name

mE/EB

Beneficial owner

BRERA

Jinghai Group Investment Limited
REKEEREAERLDT

Interest in a controlled
corporation

Mr. Liu Yongliang ™

Blk=RED

China Life Insurance (Group)
Company @

HEASRKRE (E8) AFQ

China Life Insurance Overseas No.8
Single Asset Management Plan ©®

BSEZREMNHRE-—EEETETEO

China Life Insurance Overseas No.7
Single Asset Management Plan®
BSEZRENFE-—EEETETE

Mr. Zhang Chao ®

REB LS
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REZEEENES

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REZLEENES

Others

Hth

Others

Hih

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REZLEENES

Beneficial owner

ERERA

Annual Report 2021

REBEHR  BENESHIELAESTHA
BffA BEESHIAQNAKSTHABRE
RAHEEBREE (EXRFSZRBEMRME
XVED) B0 ~ 1B IR S EREE T+ - HEH(a)
RIEE S R EIRGIEXVEE TR E8 0 F A
ERRARBIANERRAR (BERERE
ZRAERMBEKRIXEFRWRDER NE
@mEXRA) - H(b)RIEE H K K %5 55352
IRZAZA% R IR 2R P 1S B9 B 5C i 7 A9 #B 2 30K
B RCOBRBEEEFIAAS AR A RERA
MERRAR -

TXEINBERRKERQBARD RAAERS
(RIEE S RPEMRGIEXVE) & - EARLRHR
RRABREBEF SR B ERGIEIBIREAFEDN
BREMANERERAENER SR

RARBNER (FR)
Number of Approximate%
Shares of shareholding
R&OBAE BEREN%
657,975,000 65.80%
657,975,000 65.80%
143,618,000 11.21%
56,600,000 5.66%
53,372,000 5.34%
55,472,000 5.55%
4,688,000 0.47%



Name

reE/EE

Ms. Zhang Weihuan ©
RERZLO

Mr. Wu Jinyu ©
ReEFEES

Ms. Zhang Xiaoxia ®
REBEZLO

Mr. Zhang Haijun ®
RBEEES

Ms. Zhou Qiuju @
BAMEZL®

Ms. Zhang Hong ®
RERLEO

Mr. Liu Chaohui ©
BIEE L O

Ms. Zhang Junxia ®
REBEZLTO

Mr. Zhang Libin ®
5% 1 3 S A

Ms. Liu Jiao (19

Bl 2 00
Mr. Zhang Lifeng ®
iR I SE O

Ms. Yang Yunjuan ("
BEEZ 0

Mr. Zhang Ligang ®
SR A ©

Ms. Zhai Junping (2
BEFE L0

Mr. Zhang Lihuan ®

RAOEIELES
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Nature of interest

EEME

Interest of spouse

BB

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REEEZENEDS

Interest of spouse
[t

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REEZENES

Interest of spouse
[t

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REZEEENES

Interest of spouse

BB

Interest in a controlled
corporation
REZELENESR

Interest in a controlled
corporation

RELEZENES

Interest of spouse
[t

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REZEEENES

Interest of spouse

(IR £

Interest in a controlled
corporation
REZELENESR

Interest of spouse

BB

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REEEBENEDS

Number of
Shares
BHEE
60,160,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

REBEBRARAR o

Approximate%
of shareholding
RN %
6.02%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%
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EEGHRE

Name

rEEB

Ms. Yin Yanping "®
FEFL L0

Mr. Zhang Lijie ®
RAOGEFEES

Ms. Liu Lixia ¥
BIEE L+

Mr. Zhang Ning ©
RERLEO

Ms. Huang Li
BEELLM

Mr. Zhang Ruiqiu ®
RIS AEC

Ms. Gao Xiangrong (®

SERZL
Mr. Zhang Xiaogeng ©®
RANESTES

Ms. Sun Shujing
BERZLM

Mr. Zhang Xiaosuo ©
RANHEEC
Ms. Zhang Yanfeng ®
REHIE 22 +0

Mr. Zhang Weiwei ('®
SRAEE A0

Mr. Jia Shusen (19
BERIFZREED

Ms. Zhang Xiaoxia @9
RNE LT

Nature of interest

EEME

Interest of spouse

LB

Interest in a controlled
corporation

RELEEZENES

Interest of spouse
[t

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REEZENES

Interest of spouse
[t

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REEEENES

Interest of spouse

(IR £

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REZEENES

Interest of spouse

BB

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REEEBENEDS

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REEEENES

Interest of spouse

(R £

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REZEEENES

Interest of spouse

BB

M Mr. Liu Yongliang is the sole shareholder of Jinghai Group Investment
Limited and he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held

by Jinghai BVI.
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Number of
Shares
RoEE
53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

53,372,000

56,600,000

53,372,000

Approximate%
of shareholding

BFREN%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%

5.34%
5.34%

5.34%

5.66%

5.34%
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China Life Insurance (Group) Company exercises more than 50% of
voting right at the general meetings of China Life Insurance Asset
Management Company Limited, China Life Insurance Company
Limited and China Life AMP Asset Management Company Limited and
it is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by these
controlled entities.

R R BEEREEEER DT exercises more than 50% of voting right
of Beijing Tianrun Botian Investment Management Co., Ltd. (dt3RXH
BREESEEARALT) (“Beijing Tianrun”). Beijing Tianrun invested in
the Shares of the Company as an asset principal through China Life
Insurance Overseas No.8 Single Asset Management Plan.

Hebei Jichen Enterprise Group Co., Ltd. (ALt EREXEBERH AR
A7) (“Hebei Jichen”), which is 65.44% controlled by Jichen CSH (as
defined below), invested in the Shares of the Company as an asset
principal through China Life Insurance Overseas No.7 Single Asset
Management Plan.

Mr. Zhang Haijun, Ms. Zhang Junxia, Mr. Zhang Xiaogeng, Mr. Zhang
Xiaosuo, Mr. Zhang Ligang, Mr. Wu Jinyu, Mr. Zhang Chao, Mr. Zhang
Lijie, Mr. Zhang Lifeng, Ms. Zhang Yanfeng, Mr. Zhang Libin, Mr. Zhang
Lihuan, Mr. Zhang Ning, Ms. Zhang Hong and Mr. Zhang Ruiqiu
(“Jichen CSH”) are parties acting in concert pursuant to the concert
party confirmation entered into on 12 January 2018. They are therefore
deemed to be interested in the interest of the ordinary shares of the
Company held by Hebei Jichen.

Ms. Zhang Weihuan is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Chao. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Chao is
interested.

Ms. Zhang Xiaoxia is the spouse of Mr. Wu Jinyu. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Wu Jinyu is
interested.

Ms. Zhou Qiuju is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Haijun. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Haijun is
interested.

Mr. Liu Chaohui is the spouse of Ms. Zhang Hong. He is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Ms. Zhang Hong is
interested.

Ms. Liu Jiao is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Libin. She is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Libin is interested.

Ms. Yang Yunjuan is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Lifeng. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Lifeng is
interested.

Ms. Zhai Junping is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Ligang. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Ligang is
interested.

Ms. Yin Yanping is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Lihuan. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Lihuan is
interested.

Ms. Liu Lixia is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Lijie. She is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Lijie is interested.

Ms. Huang Li is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Ning. She is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Ning is interested.

Ms. Gao Xiangrong is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Ruiqiu. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Ruiqiu is
interested.

Ms. Sun Shujing is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Xiaogeng. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Xiaogeng is
interested.

(10)

(a1

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)
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®  Mr. Zhang Weiwei is the spouse of Ms. Zhang Yanfeng. He is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Ms. Zhang Yanfeng is
interested.

1 Mr. Jia Shusen exercises more than 50% of voting power at general
meetings of Beijing Tianrun and dtREXBEXKREEEER AT and
he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by these
companies.

@9 Ms. Zhang Xiaoxia is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Xiaosuo. She is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zhang Xiaosuo is
interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Reporting Period,
no other persons had any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or which would
fall to be disclosed under Part XV of the SFO.

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

The Group established the Remuneration Committee to review
and make recommendation to the Company’'s emolument policy;
review and approve performance based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives; and to determine the terms of
the specific remuneration package of each executive Director and
senior management. Details of the Directors’ emoluments and five
individuals with the highest emoluments are set out in notes 8 and 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme as incentive
to eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above. No share options
had been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 27
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, none of which constitutes
a material connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as required to be disclosed under Rule 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.
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There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

The Controlling Shareholders have given written declarations and
have confirmed, to the Company that they have complied with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
during the Reporting Period. The Controlling Shareholders have
also confirmed in the declarations that they have no interest in any
business apart from the Company which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business during
the Reporting Period.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance with the undertakings by the Controlling Shareholders
and confirmed that they were not aware of any non-compliance
of the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-
Competition, and are satisfied that such undertakings had been duly
enforced and complied with during the Reporting Period.

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implication of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the Share of the Company, they are advised to
consult an expert.

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

On 6 January 2022, Cangzhou Canggang Railway Co., Ltd.* (B/&
BEE AR DT (the “Lessee”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the Sale and Leaseback Agreement
with China Railway Financial Leasing Company Limited* (F & @&
EHERATF) (the “Lessor”), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability whose the ultimate beneficial owner is controlling
more than one-third of its equity interest is the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council (B
HREEEEEBEHEZESS), pursuant to which the Lessee agreed
to sell the Facilities to the Lessor at Sale Price and to lease back
the Facilities from the Lessor for a term of fifty-four (54) months in
accordance with the terms and conditions therein. For more details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6 January
2022. Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used
in the above paragraph shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the aforesaid announcement.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other material
subsequent event after the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report.
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Reference is made to an announcement (the “Announcement”) of
the Company dated 6 January 2022 in relation to the discloseable
transaction under the Sale and Leaseback Agreement. Terms
used herein shall have the same meanings as defined in the
Announcement unless otherwise stated.

The Company would like to provide information of the Lessor and its
ultimate beneficial owner under the Announcement as follows:

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Lessor is a company
established in the PRC with limited liability whose the ultimate
beneficial owner is controlling more than one-third of its equity
interest is State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council (BBEBEEEEEBEEZES
&). The Lessor is headquartered in Lujiazui Financial and Trade
Zone, Pudong, Shanghai. It is mainly engaged in the provision of a
financial services specialising in the railway sector.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Lessor and its ultimate
beneficial owner are Independent Third Parties, and the Lessor
is principally engaged in the business of provision of financial
services.

The Shares were listed on Stock Exchange on 23 October 2020,
and there has been no change in auditors since the Listing Date.
KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at
AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Yongliang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

kPG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Canggang
Railway Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Canggang
Railway Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 105 to 179, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

FHEREERT O REER

BEHES N BRENTARBRFISIEE T HE °

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 131.

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNESFOMEEEHEEE

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards.
BEEENIEXERAZBREEEHRRERAESRE
HEREE N BBEEHBI R -

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
services amounting to RMB260,250,000 and
accounted for 73% of the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2021, are recognised when the
services are rendered and the enforceable rights to
payments are obtained.
RERMEREERBEHKE AR K260,250,0007T
(fh BEEHZE2021F12A31BLFELARENT3%)
R 12 14 BR A I X 15 AT SR B AT A AV RE R R HE R o

We have identified recognition of revenue for rail
freight transportation services as a key audit matter
as revenue is one of the key performance indicators of
the Group which give rise to an inherent risk that the
revenue for rail freight transportation services could be
recorded in the incorrect period or could be subject to
manipulation to meet financial targets or expectations.
EMEXFREREERBNNERIME RERET
=8 REARWESA SEEHEP-BIZHWES X
SRR EERBRBRERABARIZIRIEE
BB ESBENE R R -

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition in
respect of rail freight transportation services included the

following:
ﬁgﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁmWéﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%@%u
T&1E :

Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of the Group’s key internal controls over
recognition of revenue for rail freight transportation
services;

THRFIE EEEERRIAEREERBTWENE
RAMEFHORE BTREFEENIE

Inspecting service agreements signed with
key customers of the Group for rail freight
transportation services, and assessing the
revenue recognition criteria with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

T2 15 880 5% 5 48 AR A B

- XSREAES

BEEEIERFHEITNRE
R H R E WSR2 A

Comparing, on a sample basis, the revenue for
rail freight transportation services with underlying
documentation, which included service agreements
with the customers, sales invoices issued to the
customers, and rail freight delivery notes confirmed
by the customers, to determine whether the related
revenue had been properly recognised;

R EREERTNEHBBE G (BFEER
YR ERE REFHANEERE  URKER
FREANEREERNER)  UEBEEHBERERS
ERWR ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) FEEETSEE(E)

Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

B RS S R A W R

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 131.

FRHGEE I BEREM ZIR BRE131HEHE G BE °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERETSE BMMNEFNNEEERSE
° Obtaining audit confirmations, from the key

customers of the Group in relation to the revenue
of rail freight transportation services recognised
by the Group during the year. For unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative procedures by
comparing details of the transactions with relevant
underlying documentation;

B EEETFRAEIEREERE RGN SKE
TERFIEETHAFZR B ARERENHFZRM
5 AT HMRFHE RS FERE RN ERE

o Assessing, on a sample basis, whether revenue
transactions for rail freight transportation services
recorded around the financial year end had been
recognised in the appropriate financial period
by comparing details of these transactions with
relevant underlying documentation; and
UBRARER  BRHLRYBRELBAERARNE
BEERBRERS NFFEEERAARENMF - 5
FRAXGREREEVBIPBERR R

° Inspecting underlying documentation for journal
entries relating to revenue of rail freight transportation
services which were considered to meet specific
risk-based criteria.

MRS R EEREWSEARL R RAFTSHERR
2RI A9 A BRAC SR A AR BA ST AF -
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Tsz Chung.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB?”))

22021912531 A1 FE
(UARH (AR FT)
2021 2020
202145 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MIEE AR® TR ARETT
Revenue & 4 355,990 361,474
Operating expenses: RERX
Staff costs B I 6(b) (61,554) (53,458)
Outsourcing service charges and MNEREWE R
other labor costs H {ih 25 &) R A (46,704) (45,191)
Cargo logistics EEYR (31,751) (31,986)
Depreciation e 6(c) (36,735) (36,745)
Fuel used Fr AR (24,304) (23,094)
Repairs and maintenance HIERRE (17,577) (20,128)
General and administration expenses —BRITHEX (13,052) (25,671)
Impairment reversal/(loss) on trade g ZREWFERE
receivables BE S (BE) 25(a) 1,541 (3,615)
Other expenses Hipa (9,178) (7,957)
Total operating expenses REF AT (239,314) (247,845)
Other income HAb A 5 11,403 3,186
Operating profit wEER 128,079 116,815
Finance costs R & B AN 6(a) (23,255) (26,043)
Share of loss of associates FE(LERE A A& 1B 14 (55) (1,043)
Profit before taxation BR T A ER A 6 104,769 89,729
Income tax Fris®t 7(a) (27,011) (25,174)
Profit for the year FERHN 77,758 64,555
Attributable to: AT AL -
Equity shareholders of the Company RREERRR 77,394 63,649
Non-controlling interests IR ER 364 906
Profit for the year FERH 77,758 64,555
Earnings per share (RMB) BRERN (AR¥T)
- Basic and diluted —HEARHE 10 0.08 0.08

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
maiEm R EMMEE SR

for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in RMB)

B 220215126316 1L F &
(UAE#FT)
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Profit for the year FEBH 77,758 64,555
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHM2EWKZE
(after tax): (BRBi1E)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HETRKEHFI/ER
profit or loss: BRMWIER :
- Exchange differences on translation into —BRERFEE 2B
presentation currency of the Group EENERELE (2,820) (4,009)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXAWREHE 74,938 60,546
Attributable to: AT FEML -
Equity shareholders of the Company RATERRR 74,574 59,640
Non-controlling interests =R RS 364 906
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXAWREHE 74,938 60,546

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part of these financial E113FE179E MM TH R AT K REH — I
statements. oo
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI R

at 31 December 2021

(Expressed in RMB)

2021128318
(WA R ¥ 7)
2021 2020
20214 20205
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
o ARET T ARET T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - MERZE 11 783,638 766,727
Right-of-use assets FREESE 12 188,919 193,387
Interests in associates RIS N TR 14 10,523 6,459
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 23(b) 5,516 7,421
Prepayments and other receivables FETFE R H A R FRIE 17 2,457 2,734
991,053 976,728

Current assets REEE
Inventories 7E 15 5,585 5,904
Trade and bills receivables EHEWNFER EWREE 16 98,720 96,568
Prepayments and other receivables FESFRIR R H R SR IE 17 25,760 12,583
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEEER 18 160,794 227,143
290,859 342,198
Current liabilities REBEE

Bank and other loans RITREMER 19 160,525 118,051
Trade payables = IV TeE 20 27,757 26,833
Other payables H it B FRIR 21 61,936 55,483
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 2,501 2,524
Current taxation BNHARE 18 23(a) 11,673 9,262
264,392 212,153
Netcurrentassets =~~~ #*B¥E¥&E 26,467 130,045
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERRBERE 1,017,520 1,106,773

Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Bank and other loans IRITRHEMER 19 213,087 337,185
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 213,087 337,185
NET ASSETS EEFE 804,433 769,588

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part
statements.

o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B HE AR O R

at 31 December 2021
(Expressed in RMB)

R20216F12H31H
(UAR#ZF)
2021 2020
20214 20205
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FT AR¥T T ARET T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E 24
Share capital &N 8,607 8,607
Reserves f#1E 766,131 731,650
Total equity attributable to equity RATEZREREN
shareholders of the Company S 774,738 740,257
Non-controlling interests FEfE IR 29,695 29,331
TOTAL EQUITY S 804,433 769,588

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 30 202243830 EHESEHERIBETIE o
March 2022.

Liu Yongliang Yi Weiming
2k= R4 8A
Chairman Director
*E EE

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part of these financial SE113E 1798 Y M} 5 #8 A 4% B 7 3R 3R A9 — 3P
statements. Do
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in RMB)

B F2021412531H IF &
(AN EHS )
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KATEERARE
Safety Non-
Share Share Other Statutory production Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve  fund reserve reserve profits Subtotal interests equity
F2EE
R& RfaE ARE EERE BLHE EXRE REEA Nt FERER £RE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn ARETr  ARETr ARETx ARETx ARETR
Wote24) — ote24d)) — Mote2dfg)fi) — Wote2dlfii) — Note24i@liy) — ote4alfy)
(ae) (W2 (BEely) B  KEe) (B2
At1 January 2021 H0AE1R1A 8,607 180,450 97,830 58,013 - (4,281) 309,638 740,257 29,331 769,568
Changes in equity for the year ~ BZ2021E12R31A L EEN
ended 3t December 2021:  EHEH:
Profit for the year EEiA - - - - - - 77,394 71,394 364 71,758
Other comprehensive income~~~ £42ENE - - - - - (2,820) - (2,820) - 2820)
Total comprehensive income. 2N HE% - - - - (2,820) 11,39 4574 364 74,938
Appropriation to reserves BRzhE - - 147 = (1947) 5
Safety production fund resere 24 EESHE
- Appropriation -B3 - - - - 3018 (3,019) -
- Utlization -8R - - - - (3,018) 3018 -
Dividends declared inrespectof ~ SIAEEE{RE
the current year - (40,093) - - - - (40,093) - (40,093)
At 31 December 2021 H02E128318 8,607 140,357 97,830 65,960 - (7,101) 469,085 114738 29,695 804,433

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in RMB)

B F2021F 12531 H 1L FE
(UAERHBZ7F)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KRAEERREL
Safety Non-
Share Share Other Statutory production Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium Teserve reserve fund reserve reserve profits Subtotal interests equity
FREE
i RiteE HhGE EERE E4EE EXi REEA Mt #BRER 4
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETn ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETR AR¥Tn ARETR
Note2dfe) — (Note24f)) — Mote24@)li) — Mote24iaiiy) — Mote24iai)  (Note24(a)y)
W) W) (WEg) A (R4 (KA
At1 January 2020 A2020£181A ' - 97,830 50914 - (27 343,088 491,560 28425 519,985

Changes in equity for the year ~ BZ2020512631R LEEH
ended 31 December 2020: BE%E.

Proft o the year EERT - - - - - - 63,649 63,649 906 64,555

Other comprehensive income~~~ £42ENE - - - - - (6,009 - (6,009 - (4,009
Total comprehensive income 2N HEH - - - - - (4,009) 63,649 59,640 906 60,546
Capitaisaton issue MNote 246)fi)  ERAE 1 (HE2401i) 6,455 (6,455) - - - - - - - -
Issuance of shares flote 246)f)  ETRB (40 2,152 186,905 - - - - - 189,057 - 189,057
Appropriation to reserves BHzh - - 7099 - - 70%9) - - -
Safety production fund reserve 24 EESHE

- Appropriation -B3 - - - - 30% - (3,039) - -

- Utilization -8 - - - - (3,035 - 3,03 - -
At 31 December 2020 H2020£128318 8,607 180,450 97,830 58,013 - (4.281) 399,638 740,257 29,331 769,588
* Amount less than RMB1,000. * BT EANERMT0007T °

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part of these financial S113F 1795 ¥ K 5 #& B 2 B 75 3R 3% t9 — 20
statements. 7 e
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
GEEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in RMB)

H22021912531 A1 FE
(UARMFIT)
2021 2020
202145 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiaE AR®T ARET T
Operating activities RESES
Profit before taxation BRER AT R A 104,769 89,729
Adjustments for: PMUT BIB/EFE
Depreciation e 6(c) 36,735 36,745
Impairment (reversal)/loss on trade EZRWFCERE (#E)
receivables Vd i (1,541) 3,615
Finance costs Rl E B AR 6(a) 23,255 26,043
Interest income FE U A 5 (2,128) (1,370)
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of HENE  BERZEN
property, plant and equipment (W) BETFE 5 (1,464) 12
Share of loss of associates FEiREEE N B EE 55 1,043
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERY, . (M) 319 (895)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills ESRWRIBRERERE
receivables, prepayments and other FENRIBRHMER
receivables IE (i) R (10,334) 41,072
Decrease in trade payables and other B ZFE{7E R HbfES
payables IR (10,058) (11,139)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHNEERD (23) (106)
Cash generated from operations KEMBES 139,585 184,749
Income tax paid 2 FEH 23(a) (22,695) (23,625)
Net cash generated from operating BETBMEBEESTFE
activities 116,890 161,124
Investing activities REEH
Payments for purchase of property, BEWE BEREZER
plant and equipment and right-of-use FEREEENER
assets (42,003) (19,305)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BMERSEE
plant and equipment FriS§FI8 8,718 1,344
Investment in associates REZBBEQATNRE (4,120) (4,000)
Interest received 2 RFE 2,128 1,370
Net cash used in investing activities REZEFMARESFE (35,277) (20,591)

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GEREeRER
malREn=E

for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in RMB)

B F2021F 125310 1L F &
(UAEHFT)
2021 2020
202145 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE AR®T T ARETT
Financing activities RESEE
Proceeds from new bank and other FIBRITREMERD
loans PR 58 18(b) 42,000 345,000
Repayments of bank and other loans BERTREMER 18(b) (126,972) (450,272)
Proceeds from issuance of shares by BERBERABBERTT
initial public offering, net of share % 17 B9 P 1§ 7R 18
issuance expenses (MR R ARTHEE) - 189,057
Borrowing costs paid [EERREEIDZ 18(b) (23,582) (26,866)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders  BfARQAEZRERE
of the Company 18(b) (39,191) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from mEEE (FFA) B
_financing activites ReF® (147,745) 56,919
Net (decrease)/increase in cash fﬁ,ﬁ&fﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁ
and cash equivalents W) R (66,132) 197,452
Cash and cash equivalents MB1ENEER
at 1 January HE&ZEEER 227,143 33,866
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXSEBNTE
changes (217) (4,175)
Cash and cash equivalents at M12B31EHNEER
31 December ReLEER 18(a) 160,794 227,143

The notes on pages 113 to 179 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Canggang Railway Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 19 October 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 23 October 2020. The Company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of rail freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) and
the Group’s interests in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost (see Note 2(f)).

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

BEEHEARAT ([A27]) BK2018
F10R 19 RIEFHEFE R A A FE202E
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AR D MR2020F 10238 EEBEHE X
SHERLTE ([BEXAr]) EMET - A2
AREMBARNEEE£KEEBAEDE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(c)

114 Canggang Railway Limited e

(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs, issued by the IASB to these financial statements for
the current accounting period:

e  Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark reform - phase 2

e Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent
concessions beyond 30 June 2021

None of these developments have had a material effect
on the Group’s financial performance and financial
position for current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealized
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(i)(ii)).

(d)

ABEEERAT o 2021FFH
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(e) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see Note 2(i)(ii)).

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the investees, except
where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
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(f)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognized/
derecognized on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction
costs are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see Note 25(e). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.

(i)  Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(s)(ii)).

—  fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss
of expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognized, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.

(f)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(f)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

(i)  Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrecoverable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value
are recognized in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognized in
profit or loss as other income when the equity holder’s
right to receive payment is established.

(g) Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The following items of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)):

- items of property, plant and equipment; and
— interests in leasehold land held for own use.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labor, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(u)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment or right-of-use
assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and
are recognized in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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(9)

(h)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight
line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term
of lease.

— The Group’s interests in buildings and other
properties situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
the buildings and other properties’ estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of

completion.

—  Tracks, bridges and other railway 30-95 years
assets

— Locomotives and rolling stock 16 years

- Motor vehicles 5-8 years

— Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset (see note 2(g)) and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease- by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalized are recognized as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is
initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(g)
and 2(i)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable
to investments in debt securities carried at amortised
cost (see Note 2(f)(i)). Any difference between the
initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made
and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in “Right-
of-use assets” and presents lease liabilities within
bank and other loans in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets
measured at amortized cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables and amounts due from related parties) and
contract assets.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(i)

122 Canggang Railway Limited e

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and bills
receivables, other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognizes a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realizing security (if any is held). The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with Note
2(s)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
such as a default or

- a breach of contract,
delinquency in payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
or

— significant changes in the market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on
the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognized no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
—  right-of-use assets;
- interests in an associate; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (for example, head
office building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can be done
on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(i)

)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognized in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favorable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognized.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are stated at cost and are recognized as

expenses in the year in which the consumption occurs.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k) Contract assets and contract liabilities

U]

A contract asset is recognized when the Group recognizes
revenue (see Note 2(s)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(i)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 2(l)).

A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognizes the related
revenue (see Note 2(s)). A contract liability would also
be recognized if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognized (see Note 2(1)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 2(s)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognized before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset (see Note 2(k)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortized
cost, using the effective interest method and including an
allowance for credit losses (see Note 2(i)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

(o)

(p)

128 Canggang Railway Limited

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(i)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognized in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(u)).

The Group entered into the arrangements with the
financial leasing institutions in which the Group sold
certain equipment to these institutions and then leased
back with scheduled lease payments. The Group has
an option to buy back these equipment at a token price
at the end of the lease term, i.e. the bargain purchase
option. Considering that the bargain purchase option is
set at a token price, it is almost certain that the Group
would exercise such option. Such arrangements do not, in
substance, involve a lease under IFRS 16. The substance
of these arrangements are interest-bearing borrowings,
secured by the underlying assets and repayable in
installments over the lease term. The information of the
underlying assets and the secured loans are disclosed in
Notes 11 and 19.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.
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(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to business combinations, items recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized, are recognized.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilized.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(a)

130 Canggang Railway Limited e

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realize the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realize and
settle simultaneously.
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(r)

(s)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognized for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognized when control over a service is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognized under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in IFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Company’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

132 Canggang Railway Limited

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services are recognized when the
services are rendered and the enforceable rights to
payments are obtained.

If the services rendered are a partial fulfillment of a
contract covering other services, then the amount of
revenue recognized is an appropriate proportion of the
total transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the services promised under the contract
on a relative stand-alone selling prices basis.

Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial assets to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortized cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortized cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see Note

2(i)(1)).-
Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognized as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognized in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.
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(u)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Group
initially recognizes such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB,
the Group’s reporting currency, at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(B Z BB

(v)

134 Canggang Railway Limited e

HUAR#IFR)

Related parties

(@)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(i)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of services, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Note 25 contains information about the assumptions and their
risk factors relating to fair value of financial instruments. Other
key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Impairment of long-lived assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset may not be recoverable, the asset may
be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may
be recognized in accordance with accounting policy for
impairment of long-lived assets as described in Note 2(i)
(ii). These assets are tested for impairment periodically
or whenever the events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In determining the
value in use, expected future cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is
a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. Changes in these estimates
could have a significant impact on the recoverable amount
of the assets and could result in additional impairment
charge or reversal of impairment in future periods, where
applicable.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(b)

(c)

136 Canggang Railway Limited e

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual values, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives and residual values, if any, of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The
determination of useful lives and residual values, if any,
are based on the historical experience with similar assets
and taking into account anticipated changes on how such
assets are to be deployed. The depreciation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

The credit loss allowance for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about the expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the profit or loss.
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(b)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards. All of the
revenue of the Group is recognized over time. Further
details regarding the Group’s principal activities are
disclosed in Note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(@) Wz

AEENEIEXBREBLELEED
BN S AE S RAEREER A
BB ARTE o A B HY PR U 20 BB s
B  BRAKEEIRERNE-—D
FHERMEE4(b) T -

BEXIERBREINREETFE

—_
=

customers by major service lines is as follows: N2 WBDIFWOT -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥EF T
Revenue from contracts with REEFEHZWE
customers
Disaggregated by major service REERBRDHF
lines:
- Rail freight transportation —#HREE 260,250 260,585
- Ancillary services — EBh AR 7%
- Loading and unloading — 58,512 59,814
- Road freight transportation —EREE 15,833 30,305
- Construction, maintenance and — R REREE
repair 14,207 5,358
- Others —HAth 7,188 5,412
Subtotal /NEE 95,740 100,889
355,990 361,474

(i) For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the Group’s customers with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue in the
respective years are set out below:

(i) MAEZE2021F K%2020F 12831
HLEFE  HBXZSHEMEE
EHEFERZB10%HARE

EEFHEHMNOT :
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETT

Customer A =ZEA
Customer B =ZFB
Customer C ZFEC
Customer D ZFED

47,190 41,152
40,903 51,166
40,835 *

* 63,122

*

Transactions with these customers did not exceed 10%
of the Group’s revenue in the respective years.

- HZEEFPETHRETE
BASEREREFEREN
10% °
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(a) Revenue (continued)

(iii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The aggregated amounts of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows, which
represent revenue expected to be recognised in the
future from maintenance and repair contracts entered
into by the customers with the Group.

(a) Wz ()

(i) FEEERBERBRRLENRERER
HEENEFAENEENEER

A20215 K2020F12A31H -
PTEREAEERESNGBRTEY
EXENRZEREBENT (Hi5
FEHERBEARRLREETFHE
REEFLNRERBEBEHN
Wzs) o

2021 2020
20214 20205

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®T T

Within 1 year —FR 1,100 2,030
Over 1 year —FBE 7,308 8,408
8,408 10,438

Details of concentration of credit risks of the Group
are set out in Note 25(a).

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by provision of
services. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

138 Canggang Railway Limited e

Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail
freight transportation in the PRC.

Ancillary services: this segment provides freight

loading and unloading services, road freight
transportation and other services in the PRC.
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(b)
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H N HIFE25(a) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated
by those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments. The measure used for reporting
segment result is “adjusted operating profit”. To
arrive at adjusted operating profit, the Group’s
operating profit is adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as general and
administration expenses and other income. No inter-
segment revenue has occurred during the year ended
31 December 2021 and 2020. Assistance provided by
one segment to another, including sharing of assets
and technical know-how, is not measured.

The Group’s other income, finance costs and assets
and liabilities are not measured under individual
segments. Accordingly, neither information on
segment assets and liabilities nor information
concerning capital expenditure, interest income and
interest expenses is presented.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is
set out below.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(b) &

()

(BZEEZHI  BARKEST)

B E (&)

7 a/JZ%éE

ARG HREREIH 2B
BER  AEESRTHRERE
BUTEEERE 2R D BE
HHEAE

WERFEXISREZEDIE
iE’JHﬁZi‘:&&Eﬁi o ELE A 2 3
DEB o 2RO IEEFTEAME
;7‘5&3%%* BACESEF ] o
AEHEARKERA » ANEH
HIAR BRI E 7k B TE SR B ME
B0 ERHyE B /EH AR - Hlin—
MEITHESZUAREMUEA o #
H £20215 %2020FE12H831H
IEFEEWEHRB S IBEUE - —
B2 ERmE % — @2 SRR Ay 7 B
(BEAEZEERFEMAR) &
FErE o

REBREMUA - BERA L
&ﬁ?%ﬂﬁﬁi#ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂ“* &t
B EUHBEZINIMEENE
BERFEERFER - FEWA
RANERAXBENES -

A& E2021F K2020F12 531
AEFE BomERRFED
BREMOAEBRSITHEE
BiRENAEET2HI BER
YT o

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®T T

Revenue from external customers R E MR FE RN E
- Rail freight transportation —#REE 260,250 260,585
— Ancillary services —?ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ% 95,740 100,889
355,990 361,474

Segment result DEBEE

- Rail freight transportation —#KE 122,167 132,392
- Ancillary services —EBhERK 6,020 10,523
128,187 142,915

ABEEERAT o 2021FFH

139



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)  Reconciliation of segment results

(b)

i)

okt

B3R & (

il

)
(i) 7 EBEAEL R

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

Segment result DERELE 128,187 142,915
General and administration expenses —#& & 17 BB X (13,052) (25,671)
Impairment reversal/(loss) on trade ¥ 3 EWFIERE

receivables Bme o (BE) 1,541 (3,615)
Other income HA A 11,403 3,186
Finance costs AL B AN (23,255) (26,043)
Share of loss of associates P EEE A B REE (55) (1,043)
Consolidated profit before taxation #R& BB AT 104,769 89,729

(iii) Geographic information

The Group’s revenue is substantially generated
from provision of rail freight transportation and
related ancillary services in the PRC. The Group’s
operating assets are substantially situated in the
PRC. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on
geographical locations of the customers and assets is

provided.

(ifi) HEEH

AEENRGETERBRFEIR
HEREE K ERE RS o A
EENEEEETEMRTHE -
Hit i B EREFREERE
HEITH D EB AT ©

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®T T

Government grants BUF B 7,093 1,432

Interest income FEWA 2,128 1,370
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of HEME - BERZEN

property, plant and equipment Wi, (F518) T4 1,464 (12)

Others H 718 396

11,403 3,186
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Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a)

(b)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

BREBLAER T EMBRUT B IREBH -

Finance costs: (a) MERA :
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
Total interest expense on bank and RITRHEMERHN
other loans F BB 4858 23,255 26,043
Staff costs: (b) EIRA:
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR®T T
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHMER 54,343 52,764
Contributions to defined contribution 6] E R FGRNET B
retirement plans 7,211 694
61,554 53,458

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) participate
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed
by the local government authorities. Employees of these
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated
based on a percentage of the defined salaries level in the
PRC (other than Hong Kong), from the above mentioned
retirement plans at their normal retirement age.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
scheme which is registered under a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond the above
contributions.

AEBERE (FBERIN BB
BARNES 2 HEAM S BAHNPE
BEHEBHRAERNTE - ZEH
BLANEERETEEERMKFR
REEZEA LHURAGTEIAVRIKER
(R E (FBRI) REFHFEKTH
R-—BOWFAHE) -

AEERSERBEEBAGEARES
HEMRBIR LA B RN BEEAES
B ((BESFE ) ETHREM

T E -

BR BN ANEEAER A
H AR K48 R B9 H Al 5 AR -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 6 BRBAIGEF (&)

(c) Other items: (c) HMER :
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Depreciation weE
- property, plant and equipment - BERRKE
(Note 11) (F1EE11) 32,267 32,277
- right-of-use assets (Note 12) —fERREE (Mat12) 4,468 4,468
36,735 36,745
Short-term lease charges with remaining & T T BiB 1218 A 1Y
lease term of not more than 12 months EHIEEE A 404 323
Auditors’ remuneration BZEREH 2
- annual audit services - FEZE RS 1,360 1,260
— services in connection with the initial —HEAQATRHE R LT
listing of the Company’s shares EBENRE - 1,432
Cost of inventories (Note 15(b)) FERA (H2150)) 20,791 25,093
7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 ZEEEERANVAEH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) HEBEZRAMNBIIELR
represents:
2021 2020
20214 202045
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥F T
Current tax (Note 23(a)) BNERiIE (Ait23(a))
Provision for the year FREE 25,106 24,386
Deferred tax (Note 23(b)) BELEBIE (F17223(b))
Origination and reversal of temporary ~ R ZFEES KR EE
differences 1,905 788
27,011 25,174
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(b) Reconciliations between tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(b) BEMXEREABRIFENS R

F B BR -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARBTT

Profit before taxation BREL AR R 104,769 89,729
Expected tax on profit before taxation, ZFRAEREE A AR EE AN EF

calculated at the rates applicable to B R E R RE RS R

profits in the jurisdictions concerned OB ERE A

(Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) (BEE() ~ (i) B (i) 26,495 24,027
Tax effect of share of loss of associates FE{LEE N A EIBNHR K E 14 261
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A~ A[H1%i 5 X HIFH 75 52 & 341 438
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERBEEREEEN

recognised as deferred tax assets REABBEBEENBEEE 161 448
Actual tax expense BERHIERX 27,011 25,174
Notes: KiaE -

U]

(i)

(iii)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Company and the
Group’s BVI subsidiaries are not subject to income tax in
those jurisdictions.

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020:16.5%). These companies
did not have assessable profits which are subject to Hong
Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB Nil).

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries (excluding Hong Kong) are
subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 25%
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 25%).

) WRENSHSKABELZHEE(HBE
LEE ) WROINER  ARRRAEH
WRBELESHEARRZEREREE
BABMAEH

iy XLOTAREBIMRINKEDIRE
Z£2021F12A31B L EE E#16.5%
(2020%F : 16.5% ) W BB ME B F 5
B REBE2021F12831BLEE - &
ZRANEABMEBRNESHNEREE
F (2020%F : ARBZ L)

iy AEENFER(FEEEB)HBEATR
B E2021F 128318 L FEA#E25%
(z%zoi 125%) MBI R M R B B EFR
BH -
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

RIEE B D A HI2383(1) R A = (K
BESARER) A 28R E W EEH

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of 20T :
Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2021
20214
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in-kind bonuses contributions Total
6 20T o )
EShe BWEH BiERL  BIGTEMN @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET
Executive directors 9TES
Mr. Liu Yongliang xRRE 60 91 - - 151
Mr. Yi Weiming TERLE 60 55 23 - 138
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua ey e 50 23 - 81
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBRE - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BYFHTES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARFRE 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhao Changsong BRMEE 100 - - - 100
Ms. Lyu Qinghua REELt 100 - - - 100
470 154 46 - 670
2020
2020
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees . in-kind bonuses  contributions Total
O FeoEER o )
¥ 0k EMER MERL  BIGTEMRT H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT
Executive directors H4TES
Mr. Liu Yongliang xREE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Yi Weiming RERLEE 15 110 21 - 146
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua fhEELE 13 54 21 - 88
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBEE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARFAE 25 - - - 25
Mr. Zhao Changsong BRMEE 25 - - - 25
Ms. Lyu Qinghua REELt 25 - - - 25
118 164 42 - 324
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2020:
one) is the director of the Company whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the remaining four (2020: four) individuals are as
follows:

REZBESHMNALTH » Hdh—%K (2020
F:—R)EERQATNES  HMS R
SIWE - B TR (2020F : MR) AW

FHINAZEMT
2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARBTT

Salaries and other emoluments HekEMiNe 995 1,191
Discretionary bonuses B TE AL 104 80
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRET B 38 20

1,137 1,291

The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors and
who are amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group
are within the following band:

BRASELERESHFMATELEFRRE
ENATHHEMN FUTEHE :

2021 2020
20215 20204
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AE
Hong Kong dollars (HK$) Nil to ZF#E 121,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,000 4 4

RBEEARQF

2021FEFHR 145



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share (a) BEREXREF
The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 BZE2021F12B31BLEFENESRE
December 2021 is calculated based on the profit RERTIERAR D TR IR EESE
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of F A R#77,394,0007C (20205 : AR
RMB77,394,000 (2020: RMB63,649,000) and the weighted #63,649,000T) R FACBITERRK
average of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares in issue during INAESE¥3241,000,000,0008% (20204 :
the year (2020: 797,814,000 ordinary shares in issue during FRC#TEEMR797,814,0008%) 5t
the year), calculated as follows: BT :
2021 2020
20214 20204
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January MB1ENEETEER 1,000,000,000 10,000
Effect of capitalisation issue on the TERBERARBERET
completion of the initial public offering BEAR{bLIITH L
(Note 24(c)(iii) (Bt zt24(c)(iii)) - 749,990,000
Effect of shares issued by initial public ERE X AR ERTRNG
offering (Note 24(c)(ii) VB (BtaE24(c)(i) - 47,814,000
Weighted average number of ordinary  ®R12A31 B WE @R
shares at 31 December InRESE 9 & 1,000,000,000 797,814,000
Diluted earnings per share (b) ERBHEAZRA
There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during R E 220215 k2020F12H31H 1E
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. FEMEBERTENMNBERER®D -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)
Tracks,
bridges and Buildings  Locomotives Machinery
other railway and other ~ and rolling Motor and  Construction
assets  properties stock vehicles  equipment in progress Total
HE - BRR BER BER
HftERERE Eft% HEEH RE HERER HEIR o
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR AREBTR AR¥TR ARET:R
Cost: A
At 1 January 2020 M20208151R 527,231 183,674 34,444 52,449 121,884 1,011 920,693
Additions HE - - 3,682 527 1,512 3,760 9,481
Transfer in/(out) g)/ (&4) 1,032 - - - 437 (1,469) -
Disposals HE - - - (38) (85) - (123)
At 31 December 2020 20205127318 528,263 183,674 38,126 52,938 123,748 3,302 930,051
Additions ME - - 2,187 7,090 6,187 40,470 55,934
Disposals e (4,490) - - (13,239) (301) - (18,030)
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12331A 523,773 183,674 40,313 46,789 129,634 43,172 967,955
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZiHTER
and impairment losses: REERE:
At 1 January 2020 R2020F1 718 (29,915) (23,280) (13,141) (20,583) (44,204) - (131,123)
Charge for the year ER¥ (6,774) (6,033) (2,918) (5,506) (11,046) - (32,217)
Written back on disposals ~ HERE - - - 14 62 - 76
At 31 December 2020 202051231 (36,689) (29,313) (16,059) (26,075) (55,188) - (163,324)
Charge for the year FER¥ (7,070) (6,039) (3,500) (5,311) (10,347) - (32,267)
Written back on disposals ~ HEEE 960 - - 10,028 286 - 1,274

_ At 31 December 2021 WOAF12A3A (42709 (36%2)  (1%9) Q1Y (@629 - (184817

Carrying amount: REE:

At 31 December 2021 2021127318 480,974 148,322 20,754 25,431 64,385 43,772 783,638
At 31 December 2020 12020512831 491,574 154,361 22,067 26,863 68,560 3,302 766,727

Notes: KiaF -

(i)  The Group’s property, plant and equipment are all located in the iy AEBNYE BERZHEHVRPE -
PRC.

(i) At 31 December 2021, property certificates of certain items of (i) 20215128310 AEBX A EKEE
the Group’s properties with carrying amounts of RMB62,859,000 {E%AE’%GZ,BSQ,OOOE 2020%F 1 AR
(2020: RMB66,855,000), were not obtained. The directors of the #:66,855,0007T) M T2 1E B BUEY
Company consider that there is no legal restriction for the Group (£FE A PAEBRALTEBRTEEAR
to access and use such properties and it should not lead to any Eﬁﬁ;ﬁ:%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ&ﬂi&ﬁﬁ%ﬂ B
significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group. EraHrEENEREEEREMER

FRFE -

(i) At 31 December 2021, certain amount of the Group’s bank (i) HM2021F12A310 » AEEHE FHRIT
loans (see Note 19) were secured by buildings of the Group with EXREE (RHE19) UAEBEREE
carrying amount of RMB7,938,000 (2020: RMB8,261,000). A AR #7,938,000T (2020%F : AR ¥

REBEBRARAR o

8,261,0007T) E’ﬂ%?fﬂﬁ& °
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

Notes: (continued) et : (4E)
(iv) Certain amount of the Group’s other loans (see Note 19) were (ivy XEEMNETEMER (RHEF19) I
secured by following assets of the Group: rEE E’JMTﬁET’ETEHEF
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥T T
Carrying amount: FRMEE :
Tracks, bridges and other railway assets BE - BRREMEREE 96,157 97,307
Buildings and other properties BFERH ﬂﬂ%% 12,180 13,096
Locomotives and rolling stock %E&ﬁ’t& B E I 443 9,522
Motor vehicles BE - 15,498
Machinery and equipment %nuﬁﬁﬁﬁ 228 2,913
109,008 138,336
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Cost: A
At 1 January and 31 December M1B1BR12831H 223,651 223,651
Accumulated depreciation: R2EHE
At 1 January M1B1H 30,264 25,796
Charge for the year FAXH 4,468 4,468
__At31December M2t 34,732 30,264
Carrying amount: REME :
At 31 December M12831H 188,919 193,387
Notes: W -

(U]

(i)

(iii)

148

Right-of-use assets represents lump sum considerations paid or
payable by the Group to acquire leasehold lands located in the
PRC. These leasehold lands are with lease periods of 48-50 years
and there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land leases.

At 31 December 2021, certain amount of the Group’s bank
loans (see Note 19) were secured by the Group’s interests in
leasehold land with carrying amount of RMB117,466,000 (2020:
RMB119,327,000). At 31 December 2021, one of the Group’s
other loans was secured by the Group’s interests in leasehold land
with carrying amount of RMB6,966,000 (2020: RMB7,128,000).

At 31 December 2021, land use right certificate of certain pieces
of land of the Group with carrying amount of RMB31,865,000
(2020: RMB32,530,000), were yet to be obtained. The directors
of the Company consider that there is no legal restriction for the
Group to access and use such land and it should not lead to any
significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

Percentage of ownership interest

BRER
Place and date Particulars of The Group's
of establishment/ registered/issued effective  Held by the  Held by the  Principal
Company name incorporation and paid-in capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries activities
R/ it/ BRAR AREN  mARE  AWELR
AL WERAH BaELHE ERER 2 KB IEXR
Puji Global Limited (“Puji Global’)  The BVI 1 share of United States 100% 100% - Investment holding
BERKERAT)™ 18 October 2018 Dollars (US$") 1 each
EERNERAA ([EERR]) ~ ZWRLEE 1REREEIXT REZR
2018%10A18H (%)) BEkb
Canggang Railway International The BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited 29 October 2018
(BEERERERLR)™
RRERERERAE ARRLEE 1REREE1ZRHRG REER
201810529
Canggang Gompany The PRC RMB347,884,681 100% - 100%  Provision of rail freight
(EMERERERAR) 22 October 2009 transportation and related
ancillary services by
operating freight railway
and railway yards
EMRBERERAR! e AEH347,884,681 7 BRGLERARNERIES
20095108228 RUBREERRREYRY
Hebei Jinghai International Logistics  The PRC RMB60,000,000 51% - 51%  Provision of logistics agency
Development Company Limited 20 July 2017 services
("Jinghai International”)
(IR BERRERAR)
AL REERDAERLT ] AE#60,000,0007C REDRAERS
([mEER!) " 017578208
Canggang Railway (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited 5 December 2018
(BRER (B8)ERAT)™
BRER (F8) RO~ &R 187 REER
2018%12R5H
Puji Railway Global Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BERRERERAF)™ 28 December 2018
EERRERERA G Bk 1#7 REZR
20184127284
Cangzhou Railway Logistics The PRC HK$10,000,000 and HKSNil 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Services Company Limited 14 February 2019
(“Cangzhou Logistics”)
(RNEEARERAR)"
ENEBIRERAE el 10,000,008 R B RERR
(MRl ) 2019525148
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Notes:

*

The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English

translations are for identification purpose only. These companies
are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

*k

The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English

translation is for identification purpose only. This company is
registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC

Law.

outside of the PRC or in Hong Kong.

These companies are limited liability companies incorporated

The following table lists out the information relating to Jinghai
International, the subsidiary of the Group which has a material
non-controlling interest (“NCI”). The summarized financial
information presented below represents the amounts before

any inter-company elimination.

et -

MNBEREMELT -

%%E%E@Eﬁ%ﬁ%qﬂi%ﬁ =3

EHEABZA - ZEARNBRPEML

o ZEBENEXEBADPIXEM  HXES
EHEBR 2 - Z AR B REFEERS

MU EBERE -

o ZERFRBRPBERMSEFBEMA L

BREMEQA -

TREINEASEBENER - Z2AH
REEEEEARFERES ((FERE
m]) B E - THMBERBERE

EALBEEE A EEE -

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR®BT T

NCI percentage FERERE ST 49% 49%
Non-current assets ERBEE 65,092 66,243
Current assets RBEE 4,991 4,178
Current liabilities RENEE (9,481) (10,561)
Net assets EEFE 60,602 59,860
Carrying amount of NCI FERERKREE 29,695 29,331
2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®BT T

Revenue Y = 4,661 6,470
Profit for the year FE&A 742 1,850
Profit for the year attributable to NCI IR R AL F R A 364 906
Cash flows from operating activities KRETHMBRERE 1,287 2,018
Cash flows from investing activities RETHAMBHREERE (1,396) (2,620)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBAMBRERE (285) (121)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Details of the Group’s interest in associates, which are
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

BEASERBEQNRNES RAER
ERGREUBHRBRAAR)FHAOT ¢

Proportion of ownership interest

ERERELA
Place and date of Group’s
establishment and Particulars of issued effective ~ Held by the Held by a
Name of associate business and paid-in capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
RIRE% REGIE
NG BERAH BARf ARENEREE BALAKE HMEATRE IERR
Cangzhou Bohai New Area Huanghua  The PRC RMB13,000,000 and 40% - 40%  Provision of railway
Port Railway Logistics GCompany 16 January 2013 RMB10,300,000 logistics services
Limited (‘Huanghua Port Railway")*
(RN DEREEEEERNRERLT)
ENHENEERREARIRERAR T8 AE%13,000,0007 R RUERIRRE
([E5RER]) 201315168 AE#10,300,000%
Cangzhou City Shangcheng Business  The PRC RMB30,000,000 and 40% - 40%  Trading of construction
Trading Co., Ltd. (“Shangcheng”)* 24 April 2020 RMB20,000,000 materials
(BN HEERRAR)
ENTHBEERRAR il AR#%30,000,000R BENBES
(i) ) * 2020F4A24H AE#20,000,0007C

* The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English
translation names are for identification purpose only.

Huanghua Port Railway is a strategic partner for the Group
in expanding railway logistics services in Hebei Province and
Shandong Province of the PRC.

Shangcheng is a strategic partner for the Group in developing
the market for construction materials logistics in Cangzhou.

*

ZEEENEXBBBPXEM » BIGE
EEHRERZA -

EHBHRAAEEAEPERTLEERILR
BRERERVARRBOEESERHF -

EHAAEEFABAMNTRM AT S Z
BB SEBHF -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Summarized financial information of the associates, adjusted ZEBENTINMBEERHBE (et
for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the BENEMZE/FEHARE  FELESITHE
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are BEANVRAEETHR)RENT -
disclosed below:
Huanghua Port Railway Shangcheng
2021 2020 2021 2020
20216 20205 20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARB T AR¥TR AR®T
Gross amounts of the BENRUTEE
associates’ A s
Non-current assets FRBEE 5,415 5,783 10 8
Current assets REEE 592 880 25,827 9,709
Current liabilities REAE (96) (24) (5,439) (210)
Equity s 5,911 6,639 20,398 9,507
Reconciled to the Group’s EEAREEREZ QT
interests in associates P M ETBR
Gross amounts of net FEELE
assets 5,911 6,639 20,398 9,507
The Group’s effective FEENERER
interest 40% 40% 40% 40%

The Group’s share of FREUBEMRRER
net assets and the NWAEBELEE
carrying amount in the FEREKEE
consolidated statements

of financial position 2,364 2,656 8,159 3,803
Huanghua Port Railway Shangcheng
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 20204 20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T AR¥TR ARBETR
Gross amounts of the BENTUT
associates’ BIRMHEE
Revenue Wz - - 18,254 4,138
(Loss)/profit and other (BB) ARk
comprehensive income  Hh 2 EUE (1,028) (2,115) 891 (493)
Reconciled to the Group’s EEAREEREZ N T
interests in associates REm AR
Gross amounts of (loss)/ (EE?E /el
profit and other {ﬂl el 6
comprehensive income Jr%%E (1,028) (2,115) 891 (493)
The Group’s effective ZK%E’JE‘[‘?HE%E
interest 40% 40% 40% 40%
The Group’s share of B PE(L B
(loss)/profit of associates A FM (FE)
iyl (411) (846) 356 (197)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 INVENTORIES

(a)

(b)

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

15 &

(a)

REMBRRRANEFERSE

2021 2020

20214 2020%

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Fuel R 1,725 1,971

Materials and consumables MR R FEA 3,860 3,933

5,585 5,904

The analysis of the amounts of inventories recognized (b) ERZABIWFTABENTFESHE
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as a1 N

follows:

2021 2020

202145 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

Carrying amount of inventories used EEAFENRAE

29,791 25,093

16 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

16 EZ BRI RERERRE

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE 55,569 50,364
Bills receivables (Notes (ii) and (iii)) BRI (KR (i) 43,151 46,204
98,720 96,568

Notes:

(U]

(i)

(ifi)

All of the trade and bills receivables, net of loss allowance, are
expected to be recovered within one year.

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of the Group’s bills
receivables that have been endorsed to the Group’s suppliers and
other creditors for the settlement of the Group’s trade and other
payables but have not been derecognized in the consolidated
financial statements were RMB15,500,000 (2020: RMB9,903,000).

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of the Group’s bills
receivables that have been factored to banks but have not been
derecognized in the consolidated financial statements were
RMB2,000,000 (2020: RMB5,000,000).

Biat -

U]

(i)

(iii)

FAEESEWRIARERREE IRER
BE)EFBR-FARE -

MN2021F128318  AEBFEEEF R
EEMEEREMEREALNEEREEN
ESRHEMEFRBENRNREGESHHER
RELBIANEREENRABEAARYE
15,500,0007T (20204 : A R #9,903,000
JT) °

M2021512A310 » AEECSHRE TR
TEERREEMERKARILBINE
W R B K REES A K%2,000,0007T
(2020% : AR#5,000,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Aging analysis BRER AT

RBERR  ERBREAHRENREBE
BEERNEZRUFRRERINAOT

At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

2021 2020

20215 20205

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Within 1 month 1ER A 32,637 26,858
1-6 months 1Z6{EH 18,373 15,722
6-12 months 621218 A 4,142 2,873
more than 12 months 128 B Lk 417 4,911
55,569 50,364

Trade receivables are mainly due within 30 days from the date
of billing. Bills receivables are with maturity of 180 to 360
days. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit

ESERFEFTENME ABEFS0RRA
B2HY - EWEEEHIH B180E 360K °
ERAEEGEERRELRRESERARIER

risk arising from trade and bills receivables are set out in Note EWEEmMELACERENE —SHER
25(a). R HsE25(a) °

2021 2020

20215 20205

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F ARBTFT

Receivables relating to disposal of property, E2HEYZE « FE KRG

plant and equipment BB ERRIE 9,644 10,142
Receivables relating to government grants E2 B fiF % B 5 B Y FE UK FE 2,000 -
Financial assets measured at amortized  RBER AT ENSRHEE

cost 11,644 10,142
Value-added tax recoverable AT Y [E] S E R 2,350 1,830
Deposits for loans BERRES 3,675 -
Deposits for other purpose HittRBENZES 1,998 1,179
Prepayments for purchase of inventories & RBENRERENEX

and prepaid expenses 8,550 2,166

28,217 15,317
Less: Non-current portion A JEENERER o
— Receivables relating to disposal of —HEHENE - BER
property, plant and equipment RiBEEENEWRIE (2,457) (2,734)
Current portion of prepayments and other &I 5/18 K H b fE UL 718
receivables By BN EA R o 25,760 12,583
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

17 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 17 A RIE R H ftb JE I K I8
RECEIVABLES (continued) (48)
Note: Kta -
Except for the non-current portion of receivables relating to disposal MREHEYE BERREEBNWEKRTER
of property, plant and equipment, which are expected to be recovered SEENERE o (FEHERAS M2 E3F R E ) 4h » HAth
in 2-3 years, other prepayments and other receivables, net of loss JEMEIER S EWEIE (KBNBREERE)E
allowance, are expected to be recovered or recognized as expenses HER—FRREREIERAX -
within one year.
18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 B4 RESEEEH
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise (a) RERRELZEEEEHE
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Bank deposits IRITER 160,794 227,115
Cash on hand FHEAS - 28
Cash at bank and on hand in the FREBERRERAMN

consolidated statement of financial RITRFHEBESUR

position and cash and cash equivalents #HABEERERAN

in the consolidated cash flow HeNESEEER

statement 160,794 227,143
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(b) Reconciliations of assets and liabilities arising from (b) REZHFELAEEREBNYHE
financing activities
The tables below detail changes in the Group’s assets THRIFNAEFEREZTHEENE
and liabilities from financing activities, including both cash ENEENEE (BIFRESNIIERS
and non-cash changes. Assets and liabilities arising from SE) BEINEANEERER
financing activities are assets and liabilities for which cash BHESHKRERNAKBERENAE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the B4eBeRarknesEREsE
Group’s consolidated cash flow statements as cash flows AREMETENIRERENEER
from financing activities. a1
Liabilities
afE
Bank and
other loans
BITR
Hi & X
RMB’000
ARBT T
(Note 19)
(KraE19)
At 1 January 2021 2021F1 818 455,236
Changes from financing cash flows: AMERSREEZ .
Proceeds from new bank and other loans FTIGIR 1T R M E RN B RRIE 42,000
Repayments of bank and other loans BERITREMER (126,972)
Borrowing costs paid [EERREENR R (23,582)
Total changes from financing RMERSRES AT
cash flows (108,554)
Other changes: Eﬁﬂ“@]
Interest expenses on bank and other loans ThREMERFEMX
(Note 6(a)) ( Kizt6(a)) 23,255
Deposits for loans BRRES 3,675
Totalotherchanges  At#®m&& 00000000 AR |
At 31 December 2021 7"2021F12A31H 373,612
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 RERFAELZEHER (HA)
(continued)
(b) Reconciliations of assets and liabilities arising from (b) BMETBFMELEEEREBNYHER
financing activities (continued) (#)
Liabilities
=N
Bank and
other loans
RITR
Hth &R
RMB’000
AREF T
(Note 19)
(H1aE19)
At 1 January 2020 7202051 81H 561,331
Changes from financing cash flows: MERESREEE !
Proceeds from new bank and other loans FIZRTREMERVERIE 345,000
Repayments of bank and other loans BEERITREMER (450,272)
Borrowing costs paid [SESREE D (26,866)
Total changes from financing cash flows RMERERELERLLE (132,138)
Other changes: Hith& s :
Interest expenses on bank and other loans  $R{TR HME A S5 %
(Note 6(a)) (#1:6(a) 26,043
Total otherchanges  Ht#s#s 0000000000 26,043
At 31 December 2020 7A2020%F12H31H 455,236
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESRLARE
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement HAGABESRERNEESSCHEBE
for leases comprise the following: LT %18 :
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T AREBTT

Within operating cash flows: ERERERENA ¢
- Lease rental paid -EffHEHRS (401) (293)
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS

(@) The Group’s bank and other loans comprise:

19 RITREMERK
() AEBHBTREMLERESR

2021 2020
20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T

Bank loans: RITE -
— Secured —BKH 360,025 369,086
- Unsecured — EIK R - 30,045
360,025 399,131

Other loans: HMER :
- Secured —BIEH 11,107 37,028
- Unsecured — KR 2,480 19,077
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 13,587 56,105
373,612 455,236

All of the bank and other loans are carried at amortized

costs.

(b) The bank and other loans were repayable as follows:

FrBERITRAMERZHEKATT

(b) RTREMEREHEEBMNT :

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AR®T T

Within 1 year or on demand —FERHZER 160,525 118,051
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWNER 175,087 163,085
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBBRAFER 38,000 174,100
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 213,087 337,185
373,612 455,236
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(c)

(d)

(e)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s secured bank loans of
RMB360,025,000 (2020: RMB369,086,000) were secured
by the following assets of the Group:

(c)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

MA2021F128318  XEBAE A
F&#360,025,0007T (20204 : AR
369,086,0007T) B IKHIRITERD

IR EE R T & EER R
2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Carrying amount: BRMEIE :

Right-of-use assets (Note 12(ii) EREERE (Mat12(i) 117,466 119,327

Property, plant and equipment ME - BMEREE
(Note 11(iii) (HFaE11(iii)) 7,938 8,261
Bills receivables (Note 16(iij) FEWEE (HaE16(i) 2,000 5,000
127,404 132,588

Included in the Group’s secured bank loans as at 31
December 2021, RMB75,104,000 were also guaranteed by
Cangzhou Logistics (2020: RMB85,115,000).

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s secured other loans of
RMB11,107,000 (2020: RMB37,028,000) were secured by
the following assets of the Group:

(d)

REBEM2021F12A31 8 1Y A K 7
RITERY » BB ARKYT5,104,000
THEETHAEMNYRIEHER
(2020% : AR #¥85,115,0007T) °

A2021F128318 - ZEBAE A
FE#11,107,0007T (20205 : AR
37,028,0007t) WE KB EMERTD
LUAREBH Tl EEERKE

2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Carrying amount: BRMEE :

Property, plant and equipment ME - BMERERE
(Note 11(iv)) (B1EE11(v)) 109,008 138,336
Right-of-use assets (Note 12(ii) EREERE (MaF12(i) 6,966 7,128
115,974 145,464

Included in the Group’s secured other loans as at 31
December 2021, RMB Nil (2020: RMB16,563,000) were
also guaranteed by Cangzhou Logistics and secured by
equity interests of Canggang Company held by Cangzhou
Logistics.

Included in the Group’s unsecured other loans as at 31
December 2021, RMB2,480,000 (2020: RMB2,551,000)
are unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.75% per annum.
The remaining other loans as at 31 December 2020 are
unsecured, interest-bearing at 1% per annum.

(e)

REBEBRARAR o

REBEMN2021FE12831 BN EERFR
ERFH  BEAREZ T (2020%F :
AR#16,563,00070) K& BTN A M
MIRBHERRLCAMNYRISTERNEA
BRI RAESEIRIT o

RNEBEMN20215F12 8318 #y E 3K 7
HiERD  BEAKY2,480,000
70 (20204 : AR #2,551,0007t) B9
SHEABERFREZFERNFELT75%5T
B o JA2020F 12831 MR T E b
BRI AEIKFERIZERNE1%EE °
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

All of the trade payables are expected to be settled within one
year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of

FMAESENRBEMER - FREER

AREREE -

RI|BERR - AREEZBARERERE

the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as ZHHEIWERERSMAOT -
follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T ARBT T
Within 1 month 1E R A 12,773 8,851
1 to 3 months 12318 B 6,837 6,254
3 to 6 months 3Z6{EA 4,486 4,454
6 to 12 months 6ZE 1218 A 1,233 3,367
Over 12 months 12 B k& 2,428 3,907
27,757 26,833
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AR®T T
Payables for acquisitions of property, WEEYE  BERREN
plant and equipment B FRIE 21,196 7,265
Payables for acquisitions of right-of-use YR B&{F FAHEE & M B 718
assets 29,484 29,484
Payables for staff costs BT RAEMARIE 5,253 12,636
Payables for other labor costs Hun 258 h AN ESFRIE 1,923 1,634
Payables for expenditures incurred in BARBRMPEXRLT
connection with the initial listing of the EENEMEX
Company’s shares - 400
Dividends payable EARE 889 -
Others Hith 3,191 4,064
Financial liabilities measured REBHERATENESREE
at amortized cost 61,936 55,483

All of the other payables are expected to be settled within one

year or are repayable on deman
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®T T
Prepayments received from customers for BEFWRHEKEER
rail freight transportation and related HE B B IR B TR A R IE
ancillary services 2,501 2,524

The Group receives prepayments from certain customers on
acceptance of the orders. The prepayments are recognized
as contract liabilities until the Group recognized the related
revenue.

REBEMFTER  AEBE@EETEF R
BENSE - ENRELRIBRESNEE
EEAEERIAMBAWRERL -

Movements in contract liabilities EHEEET
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Balance at 1 January 1 BA1B4SER 2,524 2,630
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of EFERERZNEDNTTA
recognizing revenue during the year that BHEBENRETER
was included in the contract liabilities HEHNaERD
at the beginning of the year (2,524) (2,630)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BERRBARIKARE
billing in advance of performance at the  FrEKA N E BN
end of the year 2,501 2,524
Balance at 31 December H12 831 H W&k 2,501 2,524

No contract liabilities are expected to be recognized as revenue
after more than one year.

(@) Movements of current taxation in the consolidated

VESNEERBENBE - FRERR

(@) #RE AR TR A B HA B IR A B B 2

statement of financial position are as follows: L
2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T
Income tax payable at 1 January M1A1ENERFREH 9,262 8,501
Provision for the year (Note 7(a)) FREBE (BiE7(@) 25,106 24,386
Income tax paid EfEH (22,695) (23,625)
Income tax payable at 31 December MK12831 BB FEH 11,673 9,262

REBEBRARAR o

2021 FE F 1]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(b) Deferred tax assets recognized (b) ERRELEBIEEE
The deferred tax assets recognized in the consolidated FARARGEPFER I REZNELER
statement of financial position and the movements during HEENRESHNT :
the year are as follows:
Depreciation Credit loss
of property, Impairment of ~ Depreciation allowance
EEHEEER plantand property, plant  of right-of-use on trade Accrued
Deferred tax assets arising from: UTREEE: equipment - and equipment assets  receivables expenses Others Total
0% BER 9% EER ERENAA
REHE REHE RREEERE GEFERE  EHEX Hff it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  AR®Tn  ARETR
At 1 January 2020 142020518 1H 2,613 606 9 446 2,783 982 8,209
(Charged)/credited to proft or loss (HBR)/5tABE (56) (141) 168 904 (963) (700) (788)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021  H2020612831A K
21E1A1R 2,557 465 U 1,350 1820 282 7421
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss itA/ (ke B 30 (136) 168 (385) (1,820) (2) (1,905)
At 31 December 2021 R2021E128318 2,867 329 1,115 965 - 240 5516
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized (c) AERNWELEHEBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note RIBH 22BN EFTHE A&
2(q), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets B3 T AR2021FE 128318 €8 A
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB4,531,000 at AR#¥4,531,0007T (20205 : AR
31 December 2021 (2020: RMB3,669,000), as it is not 3,669,0007T) #Y R BiH B BT IE
probable that future taxable profits against which the EHREESE  FEEHBEWE AR
losses can be utilised will be available to the relevant KA BER AR K FERFL A LUK 85 7] {1
subsidiaries. The tax losses expire within the next five BACHEEE HEEBENRELER
years from it incurred. EFERNEHE -
(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognized (d) KXBERAWELHEEE

At 31 December 2021, taxable temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong)
amounted to RMB473,315,000 (2020: RMB402,841,000),
where deferred tax liabilities in respect of the PRC
Withholding Tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these profits, have not been recognized as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it
has been determined that it is probable that such profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balance of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(a) EHEAKIMINES

FAEBGREER AR D NFDE

FREHNHRANGAEDZED
E

2> BB B #E 55 4R R D 0 T A ) B2 AR

components of equity between the beginning and the end RINBEEBTHRN T -
of the period are set out below.
Share Share Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
kA& ki aE Bk ZiHER ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%BTr ARETrn ARETr ARETR
(Note 24(c)  (Note 24(d)fi)) (Note 24(a)(v))
(Hit24c)  (Hz224(0)i) (Bit24(a)y)
At 1 January 2020 202051 81A - - ) (443) (448)
Changes in equity for the year ended  EZ2020F12731H
31 December 2020: LEENERES
Loss for the year FEFR - - - (6,118) (6,118)
Other comprehensive income Htt2EkE - - (3,611) - (3,611)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2 A4 - - (3,611) (6,118) (9,729)
Capitalisation issue (Note 24(c)|ii)) BB (Wt240)i) 6,455 (6,455) - - -
Issuance of shares by initial public offering BB & X AR RERT
(Note2d)fi) B (Hz24)fy) 2152 18695 R - 189057
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January ~ R2020F12A318
2021 20211718 8,607 180,450 (3,616) (6,561) 178,880
Changes in equity for the year ended 5220215128318
31 December 2021: LEENERES
Loss for the year FERR - - - (997) (997)
Other comprehensive income At 2E kA - - (4,491) - (4,491)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HWE 2 - - (4,491) (997) (5,488)
Dividends declared in respect of the PAEEERRE
current year - (40,093) - - (40,093)
At 31 December 2021 R2021%512A31H 8,607 140,357 (8,107) (7,558) 133,299

* Amounts less than RMB1,000.

* SHET 2 AKME1,0007T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS/
DISTRIBUTIONS (continued)

(b) Dividends

(i)

(i)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

24 BX - RBERRE DK

(%)

b) RE

() FRAENELAEZRRIKE

2021 2020
20214 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Interim dividend declared of ERFHEHERESR

HK4.83 cents per ordinary share ZiERR4.8381L

(2020 Nil) (2020% : #) 40,093 -
Final dividend proposed after the  3REFIRBEZMRERE

end of the reporting period of FREBR3.80E1l

HK3.80 cents per ordinary share (20204 : )

(2020 Nil) 30,000 -

70,093 -

The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability
at the end of the reporting period.

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous year

The directors of the Company have not approved or
paid dividends in respect of the previous year during
the year ended 31 December 2021(2020: Nil).

HEHRREZNARYRENEK
EHRLERIAREE -

(i) & —E KR R
BE

MRE E2021F128318 LE&F
B ARREETERLE-—FE
BRI E (20205 : &) o

(c) Share capital (c) BA&
2021 2020
20214 20204
No. of shares No. of shares
MR8 E RHE R
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$ 000
TR THET TR FiEx
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of BRO.01BTHNZER
HK$0.01 each (Note(i)) (Biz3)) 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000

164 Canggang Railway Limited e Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c) Share capital (continued)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

(c) B& (&)

2021 2020
202145 20204

No. of shares No. of shares

RAHE REE
’000 RMB’000 000 RMB’000
TR AR¥TR T AR¥ETT

Ordinary shares, issued ERTRHBEEER
and fully paid

At 1 January M1A1H 1,000,000 8,607 10 -
Capitalisation issue (Note (iii) & 2L B 1T (#t72(iii)) - - 749,990 6,455
Issuance of shares (Note (ii) 247 B3 (H7aL(i) - - 250,000 2,152
1,000,000 8,607 1,000,000 8,607

(i)

(i)

Amounts less than RMB1,000.

Authorised share capital

* ST E ARY1,0007T ©

(i) ZEERIEK

On 16 June 2020, the Company passed resolutions to
increase the authorized share capital of the Company
from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares
of HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided into

10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

Issue of shares

120206 H16
BRBEEARD
380,0005& Jt (2 A3

BRERKREEIEBTHR
#5101 £100,000,0003%8 T
#10,000,000,0000 & IR @

H
8] &
V]

)

=
~ggHd
oD S @

0.01BTHIRM) °

(i)

On 23 October 2020, 250,000,000 ordinary shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each were issued at a
price of HK$0.95 each by initial public offering.
The proceeds of HK$2,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2,152,000), representing the
par value, were credited to the Company’s share
capital. The remaining proceeds, net of share
issuance expenses, of approximately HK$217,580,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB186,905,000) were

credited to the share premium account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(c) Share capital (continued)

(iii)

Capitalisation issue

Pursuant to the resolutions of the equity shareholders
of the Company passed on 16 June 2020, the
Company allotted and issued a total of 749,990,000
shares credited as fully to the equity shareholders
whose names appeared on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on 16
June 2020 by way of capitalisation of the sum
of HK$7,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB6,455,000) standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

166 Canggang Railway Limited e

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

Other reserve

The balances of other reserve at 31 December 2021
and 2020 represent the capital reserve of Canggang
Company and Puji Global.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Company’s subsidiaries established
and operated in Mainland China are required to
transfer 10% of their net profit to the statutory
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the respective registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distributions to
equity holders. This reserve can be utilized in setting
off accumulated losses or increase capital of the
subsidiaries and is non-distributable other than in
liquidation.

Annual Report 2021

(c) B& (&)

(iii)

BARMLEIT

RIE A D B R 5% R R A20205F
6H16HEBAIRER AL T
ERERLATRMDEERTEHR
7,500,000/ 8 T (HER VAR
#£6,455,0007C) HYE BRZE ¥ &
B [BA20205E6 8160 & 2%
BEERGFBRIARQIATBRRSE
MR RO ERETEH
749,990,0008% A BRFI/EEZE R
B AR ©

(d) RENEERAR

()

(ii)

(iii)

B 17w 1E

BHRERNERASHERS
NEEE22F (1961F 5355 7%
5l BERERIEE])EE o

Attt

20214 K 2020%F12HA318 #Y
HihHEERIEREBATREE
RN ERGFHRE -

EEWRE

RIBPEMEBEER AR » AQ
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(e)

(iv) Safety production fund reserve

The Group is engaged in freight transportation
business. In accordance with the regulations issued
by Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Work Safety of the PRC, the Group is required to
establish a special reserve namely safety production
fund reserve, which is calculated at 1% of the regular
freight transportation revenue and 1.5% of the
dangerous goods freight transportation revenue of the
previous year.

The safety production fund reserve is mainly used for
the acquisitions and maintenance of safety equipment
and facilities. For the purpose of financial statements,
such reserve is established through an appropriation
from retained earnings based on the aforementioned
method and is utilized when the related expenditures
are incurred.

(v) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
difference arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the companies comprising the Group
into the Group’s presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in Note 2(1).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(d) REHEERAR (E)

(e)

REBEBRARAR o

(iv) Z2EERLMHE

FEFEREEEXR - REPE
BHEBREARLZE2LEEEEE
BERREMNBRE  FAREZAR
VEERE(NZ2EEESHE
%) BERELNRE—(EFE
—REEWRENINKkeEanE
EWEM1.5%E -

ZREEESRBIZANBE
RUEE L 2RERRNE - BT
WEMS - AERELZR LSS
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THEEEBERXKEA -

() [EZ#E

ERREEEREEAKEET A
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SBREE -

EXERE

FEBEEEANIEZER/RESR
EEBEKSEEBNED  FHAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the

normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

AEEAEABEBBRETEHEE  RD
BERFRER -
AEEfESNZERBEAKRERNLE
BEZZ RN S REREEBRNES &
AN o

(@ FERR

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by the management of the Group, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 5%
(2020:2%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and 19% (2020:28%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the five largest customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables at

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(a) FERR(H)
EBEZREWNIE (&)

TREHRBEAEERSHEH R
HNEERRKE S REFERBIE

the end of each reporting period: EFENER:
2021
20214

Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHEEE AEREE EBRES
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®T ARBTT
Current and less than 6 months past due  BNEi R EIHI T 2618 B 1.10% 51,578 (568)
6 - 12 months past due 6= 1218 A 15.59% 4,907 (765)
Over 12 months past due BEER121EA 30.79%-100.00% 2,948 (2,531)
59,433 (3,864)

2020

2020%F
Expected Gross carrying

loss rate amount  Loss allowance
BHEER BIREE BERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBT AR®F T
Current and less than 6 months past due BN R EIHI T 2618 B 1.05% 43,236 (454)
6 - 12 months past due mH6ZE12M8 A 24.82% 4,399 (1,092)
Over 12 months past due BEEB12EA 31.78%-100.00% 8,134 (3,859)
55,769 (5,405)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the year
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions

RAEERDERNBE=FNERES
BERGESH - S RCFHAR
LU BR U SR R 52 BUE F B A9 AR AR
W B ATAR I B R [ PR W SRR TR
SEHAEERRNE LR ZBENE

over the expected lives of the receivables. Ho
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

(a) FERR(H)
BEZRWIE (&)

(b)

170 Canggang Railway Limited e

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables are as follows:

BZEWRERBEEERERNED
L1

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT

At the beginning of the year REH 5,405 1,790

Impairment loss (reversed)/recognized & & (@) H#:R

during the year R EE B (1,541) 3,615

At the end of the year RER 3,864 5,405
Liquidity risk (b) REE SRR

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the respective
reporting period) and the earliest dates the Group can be
required to pay:

Annual Report 2021

FEENBRAEHEERDESE
REBFRHEZHNER - LUEER
EEESFTHNBESRERREEIES
BEEBIEREARHERERE  UE
FHEEPRRPRBESER -

TRERAEEFTESHEENS
BEBROREBSOZHAMRR - T3
REBECTHARBRRESRE (BER
R ARRFTE AR SR - Sfied BUF
B8 ARZFMEEREHRNED
MERFE) RAEEAX I REN &K
FRHEE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

25 TRIEMEERSMIA
D E (F)

(b) REBESEE ()

2021
20216
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRERA LR
More than
Within1 More than1 2 years but
year or on year but less less than Carrying
demand than 2 years 5 years Total amount
—FR BE-F BBEmEF
FREX  EORWE  BIREF act RAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMTr ARETr ARETr ARETR
Bank and other loans RITREMER 178,130 179,800 39,656 397,586 373,612
Trade payables measured at REBHHRTER
amortized cost ESEMATE 21,757 - - 21,757 21,757
Other payables measured at REEHATEN
amortized cost At FIR 61,936 - - 61,936 61,936
267,823 179,800 39,656 487,279 463,305
2020
20206
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHABRRASR
More than
Morethan1 2 years but
Within 1 year  year but less less than Carrying
oron demand  than 2 years 5 years Total amount
—ER BE-F BEmE
FRER  EORWE  BIRDE b REE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETx
Bank and other loans RTREMER 136,122 183,326 176,777 496,225 455,236
Trade payables measured at RBHEHATEN
amortized cost ERRANE 26,833 - - 26,833 26,833
Other payables measured at REHEHATTEN
amortized cost HitEfTRIE 55,483 - - 55,483 55,483
218,438 183,326 176,777 578,541 537,552
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-
bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates
and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively.

(c)

FEER

A5 2 B 1 R 2 L M R B R4
2o WTHAEREENERRNM
RSALEDREH RS REREE
BRRATFEMEER -

() Interest rate profile () FIFEHAE
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRINGAEBREHREPHRLY
the Group’s borrowings at the end of each reporting ERFREEFHE
period:
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ERF= BERFIE
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% AR%T R % AR®ETR
Fixed rate borrowings EEREER
Bank loans RITEM 1.60% - 5.94% 360,025 3.00% - 6.18% 399,131
Other loans Ht &R 4.75% 2,480 1.00% - 4.75% 19,077
362,505 418,208
Variable rate borrowings FHREER
Other loans Ht & 6.01% 11,107 6.01% - 6.92% 37,028
Total borrowings BRBE 373,612 455,236
Fixed rate borrowings as a B E R E M
percentage of total borrowings EEEN LY
B 97% 92%
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BUREZH
At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general A2021F128318 » i1k Fl
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest EE g EF T R100MEE B
rates, with all other variables held constant, would L_EET ; Fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ% T
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after & HT@EKAK%E"J@*RQM
MRREBAED, EMY A

tax and retained profits by approximately RMB83,000
(2020: RMB278,000).

The sensitivity analyses above indicate the Group’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at 31 December 2021. The impact on
the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) is
estimated as an impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2020.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Currency risk (d)

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily HKS$.

The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies
at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,
translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

EXER

AEBAEEHNEREREZRE L
S (BNERZHEEEBN R
USNE ) SHE R B FOIE ~ B
RERREER - SIBULERARNE
WEERBIT-

REEFERIBB R EE L BVHE =
BEAREHIINSUBREHREE
W TS F R R IR AT EZ R K

oo

() FERIHEEERE

TREIARERIRE AR FE
HELAEERNEERIUIE
WHHENCHIAEESEEM
EENEREAR - B2HE WM
= rHERERNSEUIRFS
EHAHERRENARED
N °

Exposure to foreign
currencies
(expressed in RMB)
SIS [ B
(MARMESIR)
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®BT T

Cash and cash equivalents BHeNESEEER 7,416 184,540
Prepayment and other receivables FEATFRIE R H A UL FRIE 17 42
Other payables Hth I 5018 (1,002) (54)
Exposure arising from recognised assets HEBREER AR

and liabilities EAERER 6,431 184,528
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(d)

(e)

174

Currency risk (continued)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

(d)

ERRER (8)
(i) BUEE DT

TREREBEBRREEN (R
REER) EAEERREHR
AZE KRR RAERNZARE
B (BRRAA A EERE
EESTE)NBERTUEER
BVENBS 2 o

2021 2020

20214 2020%F
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/  (decrease) in Increase/ (decrease)in
(decrease) profit after tax (decrease)  profit after tax
in foreign and retained in foreign and retained
exchange rates profits  exchange rates profits
BB ER BB R
Ext#/ RRBET EXtH/ RRERR
B,/ (hD) (FB) %/ (8)
RMB’000 % RMB’000
AR¥TR % AR¥TR
HKS$ B 322 5% 9,226
(322) (5%) (9,226)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and
retained profits measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2020.

Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortized cost are not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and
2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of each reporting
period not provided for in the financial statements were as
follows:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

REIREHAR R AE RN B IHE
SHRBEHNEARRENT

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Commitments in respect of property, EBME - - BMERSEE
plant and equipment: HYZEHE -
- Contracted for -Bi8

7,242 7,702

The material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year and the balances with related parties at
the end of each reporting period are set out below.

(@) Names and relationships of the related parties that had
material transactions with the Group during the year:

Name of related party

REL &S

FEBRFRNTUNERBEL RS RR
BEREHRBEAES 2B AR5 0
—[t o

(a) FREFAEEETEARZNEES
MEBRER

Relationship

S

Cangzhou Chengyu Railway Company Limited
(“Chengyu Company”)*

CREMMERFHEERAREMEAA)

ENTREFEREREELR ((BRFEAR D

Cangzhou City Shangcheng Business Trading Co., Ltd.
("Shangcheng")* (/& M i = 5 75 B B IR 2 7))
BMmEHBERRAAE (=)

*

The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The
English translation names are for identification purpose only.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

A company controlled by
the controlling shareholder

22 IR AR SR 49 22 B
An associate of the Group
AEBHNEE AR

Y RESEBNEABBATNEN  WIGE
EEMRERZA -

b) FEEBEASEHMH

FEBTEEBAENHMH (BFES
AR BESZRFKIE (WM FE8FTIK
B RENETHRSHFMESNTE
(MNP EQFTIRER) ) T -

2021 2020
20214 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBTT

Short-term employee benefits ZHEE R A

1,251 1,069

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see Note
6(b)).

FHRETATEIRAI(RHEE6(D)) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

27 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY W ERBEAIRZRER (E)
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(continued)

(c) Transactions with related parties during the year (c) FRNEBEEFETHRS
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Provision of rail freight transportation 1238 & & & HH A& B R 1%

and related ancillary services

- Shangcheng — 5 5 224 446
Short-term lease charges EHEEWRE
- Chengyu Company —-BFNE 10 10
(d) Balances with related parties (d) EEBAE S HVAEER

The Group’s balances with related parties at the end of AREEREHREHRERBEL 2B

each reporting period are as follows: HERANT ©
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Payables for short-term leases EHEE RN RIE

- Chengyu Company —BFAE 6 1

(e) Other related party transactions (e) HMBEEIRS

On 12 August 2019, Chengyu Company has granted the M2019F8A 128 » BF A A EAE
Group a gratuitous right to use its leasehold land for EREEEEANAFERAEAE LK
operating the Group’s railway and rail yards for a period of EAEENERREEAEES  AH
20 years. No rental was charged during the year ended 31 205 o A E £20214F 20205128
December 2021 and 2020. BHLFETERBEMEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

2021 2020
20214 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MizE ARET T AR¥T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries* REB AT NRE" 13 - =
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables FEARIEREM
FEW SR IE 17 17
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UK R /B A B FRIE 96,931 =
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEE£EEEH 42,576 184,527
139,524 184,544
Current liabilities nEBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS MY B BIFRIB 5,221 5,664
Other payables H fth FE S FRIB 1,004 -
6,225 5,664
Netcurrentassets =~ #B%E¥E =~ 0 133,209 178,880
NET ASSETS BEFE 133,299 178,880
Capital and reserves EXRRHE 24
Share capital [N 8,607 8,607
Reserves e 124,692 170,273
TOTAL EQUITY ERAE 133,299 178,880

* Amounts less than RMB1,000

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

30 March 2022.

Liu Yongliang
B8Ik5=
Chairman

EY

* ST E ARY1,0007T
2022330 R ESESH EREET

éé o
Yi Weiming
K4
Director
EE
RBEHEERAT o 2021FF#H
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(a)

(b)

(c)

178 Canggang Railway Limited e

The impact of COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 outbreak since early 2020 has significantly
affected entities and economic activities globally and
brought additional uncertainty to the Group’s operating.
The Group had been closely monitoring the impact on the
developments on the Group’s businesses and had put in
place contingency measures, which includes assessing
the impact on customers and liaising with key customers,
and developing more sales channels. Up to the date of this
report, management has not identified any areas that could
have a material impact on the financial performance or
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021.

Nevertheless, as COVID-19 continues to evolve, it is
challenging at this moment to predict the full extent and
duration of its impact to the business and the economy.
The Group will continue to take measures, including but
not limited to, controlling its operating costs, monitoring
its cash flows, paying close attention to the development
of the COVID-19 to its operations and continuously
assessing its impact to the Group’s financial statements,
adequately adjusting its business plans, to protect the
Group’s benefits and interests in this challenging business
environment and be well prepared for the business
opportunities.

Dividends

After the end of the reporting period the directors
proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in
note 24(b).

Sale and Leaseback Agreement

On 6 January 2022, Canggang Company (the "Lessee”),
entered into the Sale and Leaseback Agreement with China
Railway Financial Leasing Company Limited (the “Lessor”),
a company established in the PRC with limited liability
whose the ultimate beneficial owner is controlling more
than one-third of its equity interest is the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council, pursuant to which the Lessee agreed to
sell the facilities to the Lessor at Sale Price of RMB99.50
million (equivalent to approximately HK$121.39 million),
and to lease back the facilities from the Lessor for a term
of fifty-four (54) months in accordance with the terms and
conditions therein. Upon the Lessee having paid all the
lease payments and other payables (if any) to the Lessor in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Sale and
Leaseback Agreement, the Lessee shall have the option
to repurchase the facilities at a nominal consideration of
RMB9,950 (equivalent to HK$12,139).

Annual Report 2021

(a)

(b)

(c)

COVID-19%& B &
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EROA R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and the ultimate controlling party of the Company at 31
December 2021 to be Jinghai Group Investment Limited
(“Jinghai Group”) and Mr. Liu, respectively. Jinghai Group does
not produce financial statements available for public use.

Up to the date of issue of the financial statements, the IASB
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2021 and which have not been adopted in these
consolidated financial statements.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

AANTRESRERN2021FE12831 8 IR
NAEERSRARARGRERA D ARE
EEREERLIT ([FEEE]) RE %
E;@ﬁi@%j&%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@ﬂ HY B 75
%& o

BEUKHEERTIZAH  BEREELE
EECHEMSZENRE E2021F12831H
LEFEEHNARENBETERGESTHBRRR
MEVIEET ~ SR EAI R 2R -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUT BN 2 &S
NETTHEER

Amendments to IFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

B PR B A R 5 2E R SR 3SR VB BT [ LR AEZE #9427
Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
et R E 1655 VIEET
(Y% - BERRE - (EEE H2FTH TS50 7E ]
Amendments to |IAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
BB E T ERIEITHRMIER] [BEEH —ETEHHIEEA ]
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
B B B 7 R 5 2E B 2018 5 £ 2020F A BV 5F E BUE
Amendments to |IAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current
BB E T ERIE1SENIER] [P BEES B IETE ]
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of accounting policies

SE RS RERYBEREENEE X E2RNER] [ S HENHKE

Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates

BB E 5T ERIE8SRMIEE] B 1A HIEZ

Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single transaction

BREHERE12RNER] [HE-XSFELWNEER B EHBHELFIE ]

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards and
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of these
amendments, new standards and interpretations are unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

1 January 2022
2022%F1H1H
1 January 2022

2022%1H1H
1 January 2022

2022%F1H1H
1 January 2022
2022%1H1H
1 January 2023

2023%F1H1H
1 January 2023

2023%F1H1H
1 January 2023
2023F1A1H
1 January 2023

20231818

AREBIEEFEZEERT - Al LA RR
BREAEAYENERSE 258
Ik HRBEWZSEET - T EAIRE
BIARAUESHGEMBBRREREAY
g
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBERE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLFE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 2020%F 2019%F 20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%MTRT AR®BTRT AR%®TR AR®TR

Revenue Uk = 355,990 361,474 376,904 386,889 354,343
Operating profit TR 128,079 116,815 119,088 131,351 131,569
Profit before taxation R F54 A & F 104,769 89,729 94,251 109,298 107,589
Income tax expense FriS BB (27,011) (25,174) (24,755) (27,791) (27,228)
Profit and total FEBAREZE

comprehensive Wi 2 28

income for the year 77,758 64,555 69,496 81,507 80,361

As at 31 December
M12831H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20204 20194 20184 20175
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Total assets mEE 1,281,912 1,318,926 1,195,892 1,339,483 1,188,216
Total liabilities memd 477,479 549,338 675,907 539,614 474,754
Total equity S BE 804,433 769,588 579,985 799,869 713,462

1. The results and assets and liabilities of the Group for 2017 and 1. ZANEBER2017ER2018EWEEREE
2018 are extracted from the Company’s Prospectus. MEBENHEE AR A NBRER -

2. The summary above does not form part of the audited 2. LM ETFERSCEXESTBIREN
consolidated financial statements. — D e
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